

# ΕΘΝΙΚΟ ΚΑΙ ΚΑΠΟΔΙΣΤΡΙΑΚΟ ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΟ ΑΘΗΝΩΝ

# ΙΑΤΡΙΚΗ ΣΧΟΛΗ

# ΘΕΡΑΠΕΥΤΙΚΗ ΚΛΙΝΙΚΗ ΝΟΣ. ΑΛΕΞΑΝΔΡΑ

# ΠΡΟΓΡΑΜΜΑ ΜΕΤΑΠΤΥΧΙΑΚΩΝ ΣΠΟΥΔΩΝ

# <<<κλινικές μελετές: σχελιάσμος και εκτελές Η>>

# MSc: "Clinical Trials: Design and Conduct"

Διευθυντής Ευάγγελος Τέρπος, Καθηγητής Ιατρικής Σχολής ΕΚΠΑ

Tίτλος  $\Delta u \pi \lambda \omega \mu \alpha \tau u \kappa \dot{\eta} \varsigma$  Εργασίας: The value of lymph node ratio as a prognostic factor affecting survival, in mixed cohorts of node-positive and node-negative patients with oral squamous cell carcinom a: A systematic review and meta-analysis.

Ονοματεπώνυμο Φοιτήτριας: Άρτεμις Κυριακοπούλου

Αριθμός Μητρώου: 20190063

Φαρμακοποιός

Επιβλέπων ΜΔΕ: Θεόδωρος Σεργεντάνης MD, PhD Επιδημιολόγος

Επίκουρος Καθηγητής Επιδημιολογίας – Μεθοδολογίας της Έρευνας, Τμήμα Πολιτικών Δημόσιας Υγείας, Πανεπιστήμιο Δυτικής Αττικής

# AOHNA 2022





### ΕΘΝΙΚΟ ΚΑΙ ΚΑΠΟΔΙΣΤΡΙΑΚΟ ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΟ ΑΘΗΝΩΝ

# **ΙΑΤΡΙΚΗ ΣΧΟΛΗ**

### ΘΕΡΑΠΕΥΤΙΚΗ ΚΛΙΝΙΚΗ ΝΟΣ. ΑΛΕΞΑΝΔΡΑ

# ΠΡΟΓΡΑΜΜΑ ΜΕΤΑΠΤΥΧΙΑΚΩΝ ΣΠΟΥΔΩΝ

#### $<\!\!<\!\!\mathsf{KAINIKF\Sigma}\ \mathsf{MEAETF\Sigma}\colon\!\mathsf{\Sigma}\mathsf{XFAIA\Sigma}\mathsf{MO\Sigma}\ \mathsf{KAI}\ \mathsf{EKTFAF\Sigma}\ \!\mathsf{H}\!\!>\!\!>$

### MSc: "Clinical Trials: Design and Conduct"

### Διευθυντής Ευάγγελος Τέρπος, Καθηγητής Ιατρικής Σχολής ΕΚΠΑ

**Τίτλος Διπλωματικής Εργασίας:** The value of lymph node ratio as a prognostic factor affecting survival, in mixed cohorts of node-positive and node-negative patients with oral squamous cell carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis.

Ονοματεπώνυμο Φοιτήτριας: Άρτεμις Κυριακοπούλου

Αριθμός Μητρώου: 20190063

Φαρμακοποιός

Επιβλέπων ΜΔΕ: Θεόδωρος Σεργεντάνης MD, PhD Επιδημιολόγος

Επίκουρος Καθηγητής Επιδημιολογίας – Μεθοδολογίας της Έρευνας, Τμήμα Πολιτικών Δημόσιας Υγείας, Πανεπιστήμιο Δυτικής Αττικής

Μέλος: Θεοδώρα Ψαλτοπούλου, MD, PhD

Παθολόγος, Καθηγήτρια Θεραπευτικής-Επιδημιολογίας-Προληπτικής Ιατρικής, Θεραπευτική Κλινική, Νοσοκομείο «Αλεξάνδρα», Ιατρική Σχολή ΕΚΠΑ

**Μέλος:** Ευάγγελος Τέρπος, Καθηγητής Ιατρικής Σχολής ΕΚΠΑ, Διευθυντής του ΠΜΣ: «Κλινικές Μελέτες: Σχεδιασμός και Εκτέλεση» της Ιατρικής Σχολής ΕΚΠΑ

# AOHNA 2022

### **Fore word**

This thesis is a systematic review and meta-analysis of studies engaged in the fields of Oncology and Surgery. It is expected to contribute significantly to future research aiming at a more precise risk stratification of patients suffering from oral cancer, leading to establishment of effective patient-oriented treatment guidelines, that will guarantee longer and better survival. An intricate research requiring around 18 months to be properly designed and conducted in the Therapeutic Clinic of Alexandra Hospital, with no funding received, currently awaiting peer-review. Despite its complexity, it was the most interesting and rewarding journey, that would have never been feasible without the enthusiastic support and constant guidance from my supervisor, Assistant Professor Theodoros Sergentanis, whose scientific wealth and kind, inspiring nature motivated me to expand my knowledge, deepening into the field of systematic research. I would also like to express my gratitude to my dear friend and partner in this project, postgraduate student Zoi Gartagani, MD, for our excellent collaboration and mutual respect where contribution of independent researchers was necessary. Of course nothing would have been achieved without the valuable help and guidance provided by Professors Evangelos Terpos and Theodora Psaltopoulou, members of the selection board, from the very beginning. Chrysanthi Kotampasi, secretary at our postgraduate program, deserves special thanks for her never ending efforts to address any issues and support the whole educational process, under unprecedented difficulties the COVID-19 pandemic brought. Last but not least, I would like to thank my family, to whom my thesis is dedicated, for their psychological support and encouragement all this time.

# Table of Contents

Section	Pages
ADSUFACE 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Squamous call careinomas of the head	2-23
and packy definitions, sites affected and	2-3
and neck, definitions, siles affected and	
1.2. Causal factors and anidamialogy	4 12
1.2. Causal factors and epidemiology	4-15
1.4. The ALCC TNIM Stearing Classification	14
1.4. The AJCC TINKI Staging Classification	15
1.5 Treatment strategies	15 01
1.5.1 Concerct swide lines	15-21
1.5.1. General guidelines	15-10
1.5.2. Neck dissection surgery	16-17
1.5.3. Principles of radiotherapy	18-19
1.5.4. Principles of systemic therapy	19-20
1.5.5. Principles of supportive care	20-21
1.6. Lymph node ratio (LNR) and scope of	22-23
study	
2. Materials and Methods	23-26
2.1. Study protocol and eligibility of	23
individual studies	
2.2. Search strategy	24
2.3. Data abstraction and effect estimates	24-25
2.4. Statistical analyses	25
2.5. Assessment of within-study quality and	26
publication bias	
3. Results	26-42
3.1. Description of study selection process	26-29
3.2. Characteristics of the eligible studies	29, 63-78
3.3. Meta-analysis	30-35
3.4. Meta-regression analysis	35-37
3.5. LNR as an independent prognostic factor	37-40
3.6. Evaluation of quality of studies and risk	40-41, 79-80
of bias	,
4. Discussion	42-44
4.1. Analysis of results	42-44
4.2. Limitations	44
4.3. Conclusions and future research	44
directions	
5. References	45-58
Appendix	59-80
Appendix	39-80

# **Figures and Tables Index**

riguies
---------

# Pages

8

10

Figure 1. Anatomical sites of squamous cell 3 carcinoma of the head and neck and typical histologic features (inset). Figure 2. Temporal trends in lip and oral 6 cavity cancers estimated annual percentage change (EAPC) from 1990 to 2017 in women (red) and men (blue) for three age groups (15-49 y, 50-69 y and 70+ y). Figure 3. Estimated annual percentage 6 change (EAPC) of lip and oral cavity cancers from 1990 to 2017 for 21 geographical regions in women (red) and men (blue). 7 Figure 4. Estimated annual percentage change (EAPC) of lip and oral cavity cancers from 1990 to 2017 for 5 sociode mographic index (SDI) regions in women (red) and men (blue). Figure 5. Incidence rate and mortality of oral 7 cavity and pharynx cancers in the USA from 1975 to 2019. Figure 6. 5-year relative survival rate of 8 patients with oral cavity and pharynx cancers in the USA, according to data from 2011 to 2018.

Figure 7. Percent of cancer cases by stage and 5-year stage-specific relative survival rate of patients with oral cavity and pharynx cancers in the USA, according to data from 2011 to 2018.

Figure 8. Estimates of new cancer cases and 9 deaths for 2021 by the American Cancer Society (ACS), based on earlier reported data.

Figure 9. Number of new cancer cases in year 2020 globally, for both sexes and all ages.

Figure 10. Incidence, mortality and 5-year 10 prevalence of lip and oral cavity cancers globally, for both sexes.

Figure 11. Age-standardized world incidence 11 rates of lip and oral cavity cancers, for women (purple) and men (blue).

Figure 12. Estimated number of new lip and 12 oral cavity cancer cases from year 2020 to 2040, for both sexes and all ages.

Figure 13. Estimated number of deaths from 13

lip and oral cavity cancers from year 2020 to 2040, for both sexes and all ages. Figure 14. Lymph node levels of the neck. 17 Figure 15. PRISMA Flow Diagram. 27 Figure 16. Forest plot describing the 31 association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and overall survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cut-off values are presented. Figure 17. Forest plot describing the 32 association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and disease-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cutoff values are presented. Figure 18. Forest plot describing the 33 association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and disease-specific survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cutoff values are presented. Figure 19. Forest plot describing the 34 association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and locoregional disease-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cut-off values are presented. Figure 20. Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and distant metastasis-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cut-off values are presented. Figure 21. Plot depicting the modifying effect mediated by percentage of tumors affecting the tongue upon the association between high lymph node ratio (LNR) values and overall survival. The circle sizes represent the inverse of each within-study variance. Figure 22. Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and overall survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented. Figure 23. Forest plot describing the 38 association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and disease-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented. Figure 24. Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and disease-specific survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of

34

37

38

39

adjustment are presented.

Figure 25. Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and distant metastasis-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented. Figure 26. Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and locoregional disease-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented. Figure 27. Funnel plot of the meta-analysis on overall survival without obvious asymmetry, i.e. no evidence of publication bias.

# Tables

**Table 1.** Excluded studies, with reasons.**Table 2.** Results of the meta-analysesexamining the association between lymphnode ratio (LNR) and survival outcomes;subgroup analyses by LNR cut-off values arepresented. Bold cells denote statisticallysignificant associations.**Table 3.** Meta-regression analysis examining

the role of potential modifiers in the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and survival outcomes.

39

40

41

27-29

35

36

### Abstract

Oral cavity cancer was the 16th most common type of cancer globally in year 2020, with an incidence rate of 377,713 new cases. Oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) is the most usual type, with main predisposing factors tobacco exposure and alcohol consumption and nodal metastasis associated with poor prognosis. Lymph node ratio (LNR), representing the ratio of positive lymph nodes extracted during a neck dissection to the total nodal yield, is a well established prognostic factor for colorectal and breast cancer. During the last years, research has also proven the clinical implication of LNR in OSCC prognosis, aiming at a more precise disease classification. The main purpose of this study is to prove that LNR, as a dichotomous categorical variable, is an independent prognostic factor for OSCC. A systematic search was conducted in the following databases to result in 32 studies published between 2009 and 2020; PubMed, EMBASE, Cochrane library and ClinicalTrials.gov. Pooled relative risk/hazard ratio was calculated, along with 95% confidence intervals for the following endpoints: overall survival (OS), disease-free survival (DFS), disease-specific survival (DSS), distant metastasis-free survival (DMFS) and locoregional disease-free survival (LRDFS), according to random-effects models, including subgroup and metaregression analyses. 20 cohort studies, including node-negative patients, were eligible for meta-analysis. Patients with high LNR versus those with low LNR, had shorter OS (RR: 2.38, 95% CI: 1.99- 2.85), DFS (RR: 2.04, 95% CI: 1.48- 2.81) and DSS (RR: 2.90, 95% CI: 2.35-3.57). LNR seems to be a significant, independent prognostic factor concerning OSCC patients, very likely to be incorporated in future classification systems for better risk stratification.

# 1. Introduction

### 1.1. Squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck; definitions, sites affected and symptoms

A cancerous tumor is a mass formed by the sudden, uncontrollable differentiation and growth of healthy cells. Its ability to grow and spread to distant areas of the body makes it malignant. Malignant tumors affecting the mouth, throat, larynx, nose and sinuses, are generally described as "head and neck cancers". The majority of these are squamous cell carcinomas detected in the epithelium, a thin layer of tissue on the surface of structures in the head and neck consisting of flat squamous cells. If a malignancy affects the squamous layer only, then it is characterized as a carcinoma *in situ*. Sometimes cancer invades the layer of mucosa underneath the epithelium [1]. Other forms of head and neck cancer, more rarely observed, affect the salivary glands, sinuses or muscles and nerves. The salivary gland tumor is usually classified as adenocarcinoma, adenoid cystic carcinoma, or mucoepidermoid carcinoma [2].

According to Laura Q.M. Chow (2020), squamous cell carcinomas can form in the following subsites of the head and neck, depicted in Figure 1 [2]:

- The **oral cavity**, which includes the lips, buccal mucosa, anterior tongue, floor of mouth, hard palate, upper and lower gingiva, and retromolar trigone.
- The **pharynx**, which includes the nasopharynx, oropharynx and hypopharynx.
- The **larynx**, which includes the supraglottic larynx, glottic larynx and subglottic larynx.
- The nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses (maxillary, ethmoid, frontal and sphenoid).



Figure 1. Anatomical sites of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck and typical histologic features (inset) [2].

Quite often, this type of carcinoma metastasizes to the lymph nodes in the neck and in some cases, the original primary tumor may be that small in size, that cancerous cells are firstly traced in the lymph nodes of the upper neck. Thus, the carcinoma is characterized as metastatic with unknown (occult) primary [2].

In general, common head and neck cancer symptoms may include a lump in the neck or a sore in the mouth or throat that does not heal, may be painful, a sore throat that does not go away, difficulty in swallowing, and a change or hoarseness of the voice. The National Cancer Institute [3] provides a list of area-specific symptoms that may alarm a person to visit their doctor.

### 1.2. Causal factors and epidemiology

Tobacco use and alcohol are the two most important risk factors for head and neck cancer. 254 reports on cigarette smoking and cancer, published between 1961 and 2003, were included in the 2004 International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) Monograph on *Tobacco Smoke and Involuntary Smoking*. Gandini S. et al. [4] conducted in 2007 a systematic meta-analysis of these observational studies, and defined current smoking status as a significant risk factor for cancers of the oral cavity (RR: 3.43; 95% CI: 2.37-4.94, p=0.001). The correlation between former smoking status and risk of oral cancer development was not statistically significant (RR: 1.40; 95% CI: 0.99-2.00, p=0.098). Smoking and alcohol consumption seem to be independently associated with the risk of head and neck cancer [5]. A pooled individual data analysis of 15 case-control studies showed that among never drinkers, cigarette smoking was associated with an increased risk of head and neck cancer. Stratification by cancer site did not reveal any statistically significant correlations regarding oral cancer, for either hypothesis. Association between secondhand smoke exposure and risk of oral cancer has been proven as well [6]. The duration of exposure of more than 10 or 15 years increases the risk of oral cancer.

The use of smokeless tobacco products, major source of carcinogenic nitrosamines, has been common in many countries for centuries, especially in Asia, North America and northern Europe [7]. Their consumption proposes an overall raised risk of oral cancer (RR: 1.8; 95% CI: 1.1-2.9, p<0.001) in the USA and northern Europe. In USA alone, relative risk equals to 2.6 (95% CI: 1.3-5.2, p<0.001), whereas in Nordic countries (Sweden and Norway) the association is not statistically supported (RR: 1.0; 95% CI: 0.7-1.3, p=0.4). A possible explanation lies in the different composition of the tobacco products historically consumed in the USA and the northern Europe, since those consumed in the USA were richer in nitrosamines. 6.6%, 52.5% and 68.2% of oral cancer cases in men in the USA, India and Sudan, respectively, are attributed to smokeless tobacco products.

Areca., or betel nut, is the conical fruit of the oriental palm tree (Areca catechu) and forms the basis of a variety of widely chewed products consumed by an estimated 200 to 400 million people of all ages, predominantly of low socioeconomic classes, mainly for its stimulant properties. Betel quid, also known as paan, is made by adding ingredients including slices of areca nut, slaked lime (calcium hydroxide), tobacco and spices (cardamom, saffron, and coconut), then folded into a triangular package and chewed or even swallowed. Areca nut contains alkaloids that produce carcinogenic nitrosamines [8]. Leukoplakia is a premalignancy that may evolve to a squamous cell carcinoma. A 10-year follow-up study concerning Indian villagers, where paan is a common habit, found the incidence of leukoplakia equal to 2.5 per 1,000 people [9]. There is evidence supporting that Areca nut alone is capable enough to lead to oral cancer, as proved by studies on populations who prefer not to add tobacco. The relative risk for oral cancer among those who chew Areca only in the Taiwanese population is 58.4 (95% CI: 7.6-447.6) [10]. In a Pakistani cohort studied between July 1996 and March 1998, risk of oral cancer was 9.9 times greater in users of tobacco-free paan than in non-users [11]. In another study from South Africa, 68% of cheek cancer cases and 84% of tongue cancer cases were attributed to Areca chewing [12].

The leaves of Khat (*Catha edulis*), contain cathinone, a natural amphetamine, that induces stimulant effects and feeling of euphoria. They are chewed by a large proportion of the African and Middle Eastern population [13]. Oral mucosal keratosis, a precancerous

lesion, has been reported in 50% of Khat users [14]. A 2-year follow-up study on head and neck cancer incidence in Saudi Arabia followed 28 non-smoking patients, 10 of whom presented with a history of having chewed Khat over a period of 25 years or longer. Since eight were diagnosed with oral cancer, a correlation was built between Khat chewing and the development of oral cancer [15]. Mate' is a tea-like beverage brewed from the dried leaves and stemlets of the perennial tree *Ilex paraguariensis*. Compounds contained in Mate' may act as cancer promoters [16].

Another risk factor for oropharyngeal cancers, that mostly involve the tonsils or the base of the tongue, is infection with cancer-causing types of human papillomavirus (HPV), especially HPV type 16. While HPV-negative squamous cell carcinomas are strongly associated with tobacco and alcohol use, HPV-positive ones have risk factors related to sexual behavior and are most commonly diagnosed in younger individuals (<60 years old). These particularities probably explain the better survival profile of the HPV-positive cancer patients [17]. Oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma cases tend to increase in the USA after the 1980s, despite the positive effect of campaigns against smoking, something that led research to investigate patients' HPV exposure. HPV status in the USA was determined for 271 cases of oropharyngeal cancer dating from 1984 to 2004, collected by three population-based cancer registries (Hawaii, Iowa and Los Angeles) participating in the Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) Residual Tissue Repositories Program. HPV prevalence increased from 16.3% during 1984 to 1989 to 72.7% during 2000 to 2004, more than four times, perhaps due to increasing oral HPV exposure over calendar time. Radiotherapy also demonstrated a protective effect concerning duration of survival (HR: 0.23; 95% CI: 0.09-0.59) [18]. Assuming full HPV vaccine coverage of the population and 100% vaccine efficacy, an estimated 24,858 (63.4%) HPV-associated cancers in the United States could be prevented annually with the 16/18 vaccines, with around 3,944 (10.1%) additional cancers preventable through the 9-valent vaccine. Oropharyngeal cancers could be prevented by 60.2% [19].

A variety of other causal factors concerning mainly nasopharyngeal carcinomas and cancer of the larynx has also been investigated. Some of these arise from occupational exposure [20]. Cancer of the salivary glands can also be provoked by radiation of the head and neck as treatment strategy for other malignant or non-malignant conditions [21]. The role of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection as a risk factor for nasopharyngeal cancer has also been studied [22].

A clinical review published in 2019 investigated the incidence trends of lip, oral and pharyngeal cancers (LOPCs) from 1990 to 2017, using the latest Global Burden of Disease (GBD) study data, taken from population cancer registries in 195 countries [23]. Incidence trends were mapped and comparisons were made according to sex, age groups, regions, and countries. The calculated variable of interest was the estimated annual percentage change (EAPC), as the average change of age-standardized incidence rate per year. A negative EAPC describes a decreasing trend, while a positive EAPC describes an increasing trend. Variables were considered statistically significant when the 95% confidence interval excluded 0.

Globally, researchers estimated that the absolute number of incident lip and oral cavity cancers increased from around 186,000 in 1990 to 389,800 in 2017 (109% increase), with an EAPC value of 0.26 (95% CI: 0.16–0.37). The increasing incidence of lip and oral cavity cancers may be attributed to population growth and aging, hence an increased need for access to medical services such as screening tests that trace previously undiagnosed population. The

younger age groups were found to make the largest contribution to the overall worldwide increase perhaps due to their increasing oral HPV exposure in the course of time.

Among women, considerable increases in lip and oral cavity cancers and other pharyngeal cancers were found. This phenomenon is probably explained by the increasing trend of early introduction of women to smoking habits, in developing countries [24]. Comparisons by sex are graphically represented in the following box plot (Figure 2) [23].



**Figure 2.** Temporal trends in lip and oral cavity cancers estimated annual percentage change (EAPC) from 1990 to 2017 in women (red) and men (blue) for three age groups (15-49 y, 50-69 y and 70+ y) [23].

Increasing trends for lip and oral cavity cancers were found in all sociodemographic index (SDI) levels (Figures 3,4) [23]. Inadequate prevention programs (e.g., HPV vaccination) may explain the more rapid increase in low and middle SDI regions [25].



**Figure 3.** Estimated annual percentage change (EAPC) of lip and oral cavity cancers from 1990 to 2017 for 21 geographical regions in women (red) and men (blue) [23].



**Figure 4.** Estimated annual percentage change (EAPC) of lip and oral cavity cancers from 1990 to 2017 for 5 sociode mographic index (SDI) regions in women (red) and men (blue) [23].

Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results Program is supported by the Surveillance Research Program (SRP) in NCI's Division of Cancer Control and Population Sciences (DCCPS) [26]. A graphical depiction of the incidence rate and mortality of oral cavity and pharynx cancers in the USA from 1975 to 2019 is provided, as well as a calculation of the 5-year survival rate, according to data from 2011 to 2018 (Figures 5,6) [26].



New cases come from SEER 9. Deaths come from U.S. Mortality.

Modeled trend lines were calculated from the underlying rates using the Joinpoint Trend Analysis Software.

Figure 5. Incidence rate and mortality of oral cavity and pharynx cancers in the USA from 1975 to 2019 [26].

All Races, Both Sexes. Rates are Age-Adjusted.



Figure 6. 5-year relative survival rate of patients with oral cavity and pharynx cancers in the USA, according to data from 2011 to 2018 [26].

The earlier oral cavity and pharynx cancer is detected, the better chance a person has of surviving five years after being diagnosed (Figure 7) [26].



SEER 18 2011-2017, All Races, Both Sexes by SEER Summary Stage 2000

**Figure 7.** Percent of cancer cases by stage and 5-year stage-specific relative survival rate of patients with oral cavity and pharynx cancers in the USA, according to data from 2011 to 2018 [26].

Estimates of new cases and deaths for 2021 are projections made by the American Cancer Society (ACS), based on earlier reported data. In 2021, it was estimated that there would be 54,010 new cases of oral cavity and pharynx cancer and an estimated 10,850 people would die of this disease (Figure 8) [27].

	Common Types of Cancer	Estimated New Cases 2021	Estimated Deaths 2021	Oral cavity and pharynx car represents 2.8% of all new ca cases in the U.S.
1.	Breast Cancer (Female)	281,550	43,600	
2.	Prostate Cancer	248,530	34,130	
3.	Lung and Bronchus Cancer	235,760	131,880	
4.	Colorectal Cancer	149,500	52,980	2.8%
5.	Melanoma of the Skin	106,110	7,180	
6.	Bladder Cancer	83,730	17,200	
7.	Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma	81,560	20,720	
8.	Kidney and Renal Pelvis Cancer	76,080	13,780	
9.	Uterine Cancer	66,570	12,940	
10.	Leukemia	61,090	23,660	
	-	-	-	
	Oral Cavity and Pharynx Cancer	54,010	10,850	

**Figure 8.** Estimates of new cancer cases and deaths for 2021 by the American Cancer Society (ACS), based on earlier reported data [26].

The Global Cancer Observatory (GCO) is an interactive web-based platform presenting global cancer statistics to inform cancer control and cancer research [28]. CANCER TODAY enables a comprehensive assessment of the cancer burden worldwide in 2020, based on the GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence, mortality and prevalence for year 2020 in 185 countries or territories for 36 cancer types by sex and age group [29]. Lip and oral cavity cancer is the 16th most common type of cancer globally across all age groups of both sexes, with 377,713 new cases recorded in 2020 (Figure 9). 65.8% of the new cases are located in Asia, followed by Europe (17.3%), as seen in Figure 10. Over the last 5 years, 959,248 patients have been diagnosed with lip and oral cavity cancer, 60.9% of those living in Asia (Figure 10). Age-standardized world incidence rates are higher in men comparing to women (Figure 11).



Figure 9. Number of new cancer cases in year 2020 globally, for both sexes and all ages [29].



Figure 10. Incidence, mortality and 5-year prevalence of lip and oral cavity cancers globally, for both sexes [29].



Figure 11. Age-standardized world incidence rates of lip and oral cavity cancers, for women (purple) and men (blue) [29].

CANCER TOMORROW provides a suite of data visualization tools to predict the future incidence and mortality for a given country or region up until 2040 [30]. In the following bar charts showing the predicted percentage change of lip and oral cavity cancer incidence and mortality from year 2020 to 2040 across all continents, Europe seems to present the slightest increase, followed by North America (Figures 12,13). The COVID-19 pandemic effect on population screening for the diagnosis of early-stage cancer remains to be researched in the years to come. It will be interesting to see how this effect will be numerically reflected in the differences between the observed rates and the tendencies predicted by the model.



Estimated number of new cases from 2020 to 2040, Both sexes, age [0-85+] Lip, oral cavity

International Agency for Research on Cancer Cogenitation

**Figure 12.** Estimated number of new lip and oral cavity cancer cases from year 2020 to 2040, for both sexes and all ages.



**Figure 13.** Estimated number of deaths from lip and oral cavity cancers from year 2020 to 2040, for both sexes and all ages.

### 1.3. Diagnostic process

The diagnostic process usually begins with physical examination. Through palpation, any lumps around the head and neck area are easy to detect. In some cases, endoscopy may be required. Biopsy and laboratory tests are run to determine the nature of the tumor and identify specific biomarkers or causal factors, such as an HPV infection [31].

Initial imaging of the primary site to evaluate the malignancy is done with computed tomography (CT) of the soft tissues of the neck, or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the neck. Unless contraindicated, the use of a contrast medium is required for both techniques. To ensure complete evaluation of the primary and detection of any nodal disease, imaging should be expanding from the skull base to the thoracic inlet. MRI is generally preferred over CT in patients with cranial nerve involvement or tumors that encroach upon the skull base, and oral cavity cancer patients with bone involvement, where it contributes to the evaluation of bone marrow invasion. CT on the other hand, is complementary to MRI in cases where evaluation of bony erosion or cartilage invasion exist [32]. Panoramic X-rays are part of the pre-radiation dental evaluation, assessing the health of the affected dentition and determining the necessity of pre-treatment dental procedures or extractions, in OSCC tumors with adjuvant radiotherapy planned.

Both CT and MRI are valuable techniques for the evaluation of nodal metastases, but FDG positron emission tomography (PET/CT scan) achieves the greatest acccuracy [32]. For tumors approaching the midline, the higher sensitivity of FDG PET/CT helps determine the contralateral neck dissection procedure. FDG PET/CT is also more sensitive to nodal involvement, especially in cases of locoregional or distant metastases. A meta-analysis of 18 studies, showed that the positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) of FDG PET/CT for detection of cervical lymph node involvement, in patients with clinically node-negative squamous cell carcinoma, was 0.62 (95% CI: 0.55 -0.69) and 0.83 (95% CI, 0.79–0.86), respectively, based on a patient-based analysis [33]. Its usage in evaluating distant disease and metastases for patients with locoregionally advanced cancer (e.g. T3–T4 primary or  $\geq$ N1 nodal staging) is conclusively established. If there is concern about metastasis to a specific anatomic area, then directed CT or MRI may also be done.

The American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC)/International Union Against Cancer (UICC) staging system is the simplest and most widely accepted system, introduced in 1987. It is based on tumor characteristics (T), nodal spread (N) and distant metastasis (M) and stages cancer prior treatment (cTNM), after surgery (pTNM) and at recurrence (rTNM). It helps clinicians stratify patients into prognostic groups, select the appropriate treatment strategy and evaluate the results of the treatment [34].

The 8th Edition of the AJCC Staging Manual, Head and Neck Section has been implemented since 2017, with changes targeting improved predictability. First of all, lip has been divided into cutaneous and mucosal and only mucosal lip is included in the oral cavity [34]. Changes in the oral cavity cancer staging lie in the T- and N- categories. For the T-stage of oral cancer, tumor size used to be the most important characteristic associated with worse survival as a predictor of neck recurrence. Depth of invasion (DOI), is a pathologic term defined as the distance from an adjacent normal mucosal line to the deepest point of cancer cells invasion [35], newly introduced into the T-category of the staging system as a better predictor of risk of nodal metastases, due to its ability of separating superficial tumors from smaller, deeply invasive ones with a worse prognostic profile. Extranodal extension (ENE), or extracapsular spread (ECS), defined as the lymph node metastasis which is extended beyond the capsule, infiltrating the surrounding stromal tissue with or without stromal reaction [36], was embodied into the N-category for its prognostic value [34,37].

The TNM Staging Classification for the Oral Cavity according to the 8th edition is followed in the international literature. Nonepithelial tumors such as those of lymphoid tissue, soft tissue, bone and cartilage, mucosal melanoma, and cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma of the vermilion lip are not included [38].

#### 1.5. Treatment strategies

#### 1.5.1. General guidelines

The management of patients with head and neck cancers is complex and multidisciplinary. Due to the nature of the disease and the plethora of therapeutic options, which more than often need to be combined, the collaboration of medical practitioners expertised in various areas is required [39]. Histological examinations need to be evaluated by a pathologist who reports to the head and neck surgeon and the radiation/medical oncologist. The major surgery is likely to be followed by a plastic/reconstructive surgery. For the management and prevention of complications after surgery, radiotherapy and systemic therapy (e.g. pain, lymphedema, xerostomia, dysphagia, severe weight loss, speech and swallowing problems, depression) the presence of professionals familiar with the disease is vital [40,41]. Dental care to prevent and treat radiotherapy effects should be offered, as well as fertility/reproductive counseling for the younger patients. The patient is taken under the care of dentists, nurses and dietitians, physiotherapists, speech and swallowing therapists and

psychiatrists to help control potential stress and depressive disorders, particularly during the process of smoking and alcohol cessation in case of history [42–46].

Symptoms affecting the most basic physiologic functions (breathing, chewing, swallowing etc.) as well as the external appearance, are expected to stand as an obstacle in the patient's struggle to maintain a good quality of life. Patients should always be asked to evaluate their health status, ability to function daily, and the effect such symptoms have on their psychological state [44,47]. All these factors should be considered thoroughly after diagnosis and during the course of treatment. Patients should be kept well-informed of the risks, benefits, and potential outcomes of treatment options and should be actively participating in the shared decision- making process [42].

All patients should be evaluated by a head and neck surgical oncologist prior treatment, to ensure that the biopsy material is adequate, to review staging and imaging to determine the extent of disease, to exclude the presence of a synchronous primary tumor, to assess current functional status and evaluate for surgical options available. Pre-treatment evaluation should always include consultations with a medical oncologist, radiation oncologist, dental oncologist, speech/language therapist, and reconstructive surgeon. This multidisciplinary team is obliged to discuss treatment options with the goal of maximizing survival. A prospective surveillance plan including adequate dental, nutritional, health behavioral evaluation and intervention, is necessary [39]. Combined modality therapy is generally recommended for approximately 60% of patients presented with locally or regionally advanced disease at diagnosis [39].

#### 1.5.2. Neck dissection surgery

The resection of advanced tumors of the oral cavity, oropharynx, hypopharynx, larynx, or paranasal sinus will vary in extent depending on the structures involved. Resection should be planned based on the extent of the primary tumor [32].

Cervical (i.e. neck) lymph node dissections are classified as radical or modified radical procedures, with the less radical procedures preserving the sternocleidomastoid muscle, jugular vein, spinal accessory nerve, or selective lymph node levels. A radical neck dissection usually requires removal of 31 to 42 nodes, while a modified radical 6 to 13 less [48,49]. Nowadays, the surgical procedures are alternatively named *comprehensive* or selective respectively [50]. A comprehensive neck dissection is one that removes all lymph node groups that would be included in a radical neck dissection, justifying its recommendation as a therapeutic option for N3 disease, regardless of the preservation of the sternocleidomastoid muscle, jugular vein, or spinal accessory nerve. Selective neck dissections have been designed based on the head and neck tumors metastasis pattern to regional nodes, often recommended for N0 disease depending on the site [51,52]. A selective neck dissection that includes the nodes found above the omohyoid muscle (levels I-III and sometimes superior parts of level IV), is recommended when the nodal metastases are attributed to primary tumors of the oral cavity (Figure 14) [2], [50,53]. Average nodal yield from level I to level V has been reported to be 6, 11, 12, 10, 12, respectively [48]. Squamous cell carcinoma without clinical nodal involvement, rarely presents with nodal metastasis beyond the confines of an appropriate selective neck dissection (<10% of the time) [54].



Figure 14. Lymph node levels of the neck [2].

When tumor burden is low, for instance in patients with N1 to N2 disease, selective neck dissection may prevent morbidity as opposed to comprehensive neck dissection and considered a treatment option [55–57]. Patients with cervical node metastases who undergo therapeutic surgery, are generally treated with cervical lymphadenectomy to remove all clinically positive nodes, other levels of the neck that may be at high risk for harboring metastasis, and non-lymphatic structures that are directly involved with cancer [58]. Patients undergoing surgery for resection of the primary tumor will most probably undergo dissection of the ipsilateral side of the neck bearing serious risk for metastases. Tumor sites that frequently have bilateral lymphatic drainage (e.g. base of tongue, palate, supraglottic larynx, hypopharynx, nasopharynx) often should have both sides of the neck dissected. For patients with tumors approaching the midline, both sides of the neck are at risk for metastases, and bilateral neck dissections should be performed as well. Patients with advanced lesions involving the anterior tongue, floor of the mouth, or alveolus that approximate or cross the midline, should undergo contralateral selective/modified neck dissection to achieve adequate tumor resection [59].

The type of neck dissection (comprehensive or selective) is determined according to preoperative clinical staging (N0, N1, N2a-c, N3). Oncologic surgery aims at complete tumor resection with histologic verification of tumor-free margins, crucial for diminishing risk for local tumor recurrence [60].

### 1.5.3. Principles of radiotherapy

Radiation, either as primary or adjuvant treatment, despite its complexity, is a therapeutic approach often demanded by the disease profile. Modern techniques such as intensity-modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) or intensity-modulated proton therapy (IMPT) are constantly gaining the clinicians' appreciation for their precision.

Optimal radiation dose is dependent on the primary tumor, neck node size and clinical circumstances, e.g. potential use of concurrent systemic therapy. The dose may need to be decreased in areas putting adjacent organs at risk (e.g. brain, cochlea, optic chiasm and nerves, spinal cord). In these cases, precise target definition is vital, and on-treatment imaging should be used to ensure accurate radiation delivery. Anatomical changes (e.g. rapidly shrinking tumors, changes in air cavities, significant weight loss) may require repeated imaging and changes in the course of treatment [61].

Postoperative irradiation is recommended according to tumor features (e.g. stage, histology, and surgical-pathologic findings) for risk factors such as advanced T-stage, depth of invasion, multiple positive nodes, or perineural/lymphatic/vascular invasion. High doses of postoperative radiotherapy (e.g. 66 Gy) with or without addition of systemic therapy are generally recommended for high-risk features such as extranodal extension and positive margins, with a maximum time lapse between surgery and beginning of postoperative radiotherapy of 6 weeks. Postoperative radiation fractionation is usually set to 60–66 Gy at 2 Gy per fraction whether or not systemic therapy is added in the scheme [62–64].

However, no single fractionation schedule shows the same effectiveness on each tumor type. Squamous cell carcinoma can develop its own mechanisms of compensating for radiation-induced cell loss, promoting accelerated repopulation [65,66], requiring dosing of at least 1,000 cGy per week [67,68]. Conventionally fractionated radiation combined with concurrent systemic therapies is the most common treatment strategy followed. Most published studies have used conventional fractionation (at 2.0 Gy/fraction to a typical dose of 70 Gy in 7 weeks) with single-agent high-dose cisplatin (given every 3 weeks at 100 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) [69]. Compared to radiation alone, addition of systemic therapy increases acute toxicity. The issue of long-term toxicity increase beyond that caused by radiotherapy alone is still under research [70–72]. Toxicity may be further increased by altered fractionation and/or multiagent systemic therapy. Chemoradiation should be performed by an experienced team providing every form of supportive care [73], keeping an accurate schedule of administration of a specific chemotherapy agent with a strictly defined dosage.

There is a need of modulating the intensity of the radiation beam in order to decrease doses received by normal structures, without compromising the doses targeted to the tumor site, addressed by modern technology using contemporary computer-based planning and radiation delivery [74,75]. Over the last 15 years, IMRT, a highly advanced form of CRT permitting more precise cancer targeting while reducing dose to normal tissues, has displaced older techniques in the treatment of most head and neck malignancies [76,77]. Overall survival may be similar between patients treated with IMRT and those receiving conventional 3D-RT [76], but both are superior to older 2D techniques, as shown by a prospective Korean study for survival outcomes. IMRT was associated with improved survival in multivariate analysis, particularly in T3–T4 tumors [78].

Another benefit from the use of IMRT stems from its long-term toxicity reducing properties. Xerostomia is a common long-term side effect of RT, which can be diminished with use of IMRT, drug therapy (e.g. pilocarpine, cevimeline), salivary substitutes, and other novel approaches (e.g. surgical relocation of submandibular gland) [79–82]. IMRT also reduces other long-term toxicities due to decreased radiation doses sent to structures such as pharyngeal constrictors, larynx, temporal lobes, mandible, auditory structures (including cochlea), and optic structures [83–86]. Patients who received IMRT had a shorter duration of feeding tube placement, compared to those who received 3D-RT (p = 0.03) [87].

Proton therapy has been also used in challenging conditions for which other radiotherapy options were not considered safe or beneficial enough [88,89], currently established as the number one particle therapy under research in the United States.

Data considering proton beam therapy (PBT) comes mainly from non-randomized institutional reports and a small number of systematic reviews [90,91]. However, occasional fatal outcomes have been reported with proton therapy from time to time, including a number of deaths occurring after episodes of brainstem injury [92,93]. Without high-quality prospective comparative data and controlled randomized clinical trials with large sample sizes, it is premature to underline the PBT's superiority to other modern radiation techniques such as IMRT.

For patients whose cancer has been treated with radiotherapy of any kind, the recommended follow-up should include assessment of thyroid function, physical examination, symptom assessment and supportive care, and/or imaging. Thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels should be determined every 6–12 months. Changes in TSH may be an indicator of thyroid gland dysfunction, or hypopituitarism, if the skull base was irradiated [94–96].

### 1.5.4. Principles of systemic therapy

Treatment that includes systemic therapy is recommended for locoregionally advanced and metastatic disease of the head and neck. Randomized trials and meta-analyses have shown significantly improved overall survival, disease free survival and locoregional control when a systemic therapy and radiotherapy regimen (concomitant or sequential) is compared to radiotherapy alone, in cases of locally advanced disease.

A combination of high-dose cisplatin plus radiotherapy, with conventional fractionation at 2.0 Gy per fraction to 70 Gy, administered over 7 weeks with concurrent cisplatin 100 mg/m<sup>2</sup> given every three weeks for up to 3 doses, is the most studied effective scheme [64,97]. Low-dose once-a-week administration of cisplatin has been studied, because in this way toxicity levels are kept low. A randomized phase III trial, with locoregional control as the primary outcome, compared adjuvant treatment of cisplatin 30 mg/m<sup>2</sup> given once weekly, to high-dose cisplatin, with concurrent radiotherapy, to patients with locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. The 2-year locoregional control rate was 58.5% in the weekly cisplatin arm and 73.1% in the high-dose cisplatin arm (p = 0.014). Acute toxicities of grade 3 or greater were less common in the weekly arm compared to the high-dose cisplatin arm (71.6% vs. 84.6%, p = 0.006) [98].

Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) overexpression, as in many malignancies, is a common feature of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, and a causal factor of poor prognosis [99]. EGFR inhibitors have been evaluated [100].

Induction chemotherapy, administration of chemotherapy prior definitive surgery or radiotherapy, has gained interest regarding the management of locally advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck, for various reasons. Induction chemotherapy permits greater drug delivery to fight distant metastases, a major cause of treatment failure [101], and in contrary to concurrent systemic therapy/radiotherapy, the long-term safety profile seems to be better [102]. Docetaxel, a taxane, with cisplatin/5-FU is a category one preferred recommendation for induction chemotherapy [103]. Other induction chemotherapy regimens have been evaluated as well, mainly in phase II trials, without encouraging results [104], [105]. Induction chemotherapy with subsequent radiotherapy could provide an alternative against morbid surgery, preserving organs and patients' quality of life. The Veterans Affairs (VA) Laryngeal Cancer Study Group trial [106] in advanced larynx cancer, established the role of induction cisplatin/5-FU followed by definitive radiotherapy in responding patients as an alternative treatment to total laryngectomy and postoperative radiotherapy.

However, research continues to highlight concurrent systemic therapy/radiotherapy (mainly high-dose cisplatin), as the gold standard, by offering superior locoregional control and overall survival compared to radiotherapy alone and shorter duration of therapy compared to induction therapy followed by radiation. The Intergroup 91-11 trial compared three treatment arms (radiotherapy alone, concurrent cisplatin/radiotherapy, and induction cisplatin/5-FU followed by radiotherapy) in patients operated for locally relapsed/refractory laryngeal cancer. The concurrent cisplatin/radiotherapy arm had the highest larynx preservation rate [107]. Long-term follow-up of this trial confirmed that concomitant systemic therapy/radiotherapy improved the larynx preservation rate and induction chemotherapy was not superior to radiotherapy alone. Overall survival remained similar among the three treatment arms [108]. Conclusions are expected to be further established after more and larger clinical trials are conducted.

#### 1.5.5. Principles of supportive care

Nutritional management is vital to improve outcomes and to minimize significant treatment-related complications in head and neck cancer patients [109]. All patients should receive nutritional evaluation before and after treatment to assess the need for interventions, such as enteral support via feeding nasogastric (NG) tubes, percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) tubes, or intravenous nutrition support [110]. High-risk patients are expected to benefit significantly from prophylactic tube placement [110,111]. Reactive feeding tube placement, in which patients are first given oral nutrition supplements followed by enteral feeding, should be considered for patients with a weight loss of 5% or more in 1 month, for those with severe dysphagia (grade 3+) and those older than 60 years of age [112,113]. All patients should receive dietary counseling with the initiation of treatment and regular follow-up should continue until nutritional stability is achieved [109].

Oral mucositis is an inflammation common in patients treated with radiotherapy or concurrent systemic therapy/radiotherapy. It negatively affects quality of life by causing pain in the mouth while eating or drinking and during swallowing, also associated with absence from treatment schedules, as well as hospitalization [114]. As clinically indicated, the administration of doxepin, diphenhydramine-lidocaine-antacid mouthwash, or gabapentin is recommended for pain related to oral mucositis [115].

Treatment and disease progression often cause deterioration in speaking and swallowing, justifying the necessity of a formal speech and swallowing evaluation at baseline, including assessment for any changes in speech and communication, taste, assessment for xerostomia, pain and trismus. Patients with ongoing abnormal function should be seen regularly by speech-language pathologists and follow-up should continue at least until the patient has achieved a stable baseline following treatment [116–118].

Head and neck cancer patients are at risk of oral and dental complications after surgery or radiotherapy, because of treatment-induced xerostomia and salivary gland dysfunction [114,119]. Radiotherapy to the salivary and oral soft tissues is also associated with bone demineralization and trismus of the masticatory muscles. IMRT, dose limitation to the salivary glands and oral cavity, are measures associated with gradual recovery of salivary function over time and with reduced risk for dental caries [120,121]. Dental and oral evaluation can help decrease dental caries and arising problems such as dentoalveolar infection and osteoradionecrosis [114,121].

Dental and oral evaluation, including a complete oral and head and neck examination, considering past dental history, existing periodontal and dental conditions, with radiographs of all teeth, is a prerequisite for the beginning of radiotherapy. Patients should be informed regarding complications of radiotherapy upon teeth and the oral cavity and be motivated to comply with preventive protocols [122]. The plan that needs to be implemented before radiotherapy should include: 1) eliminating potential sources of infection; 2) if performing dental extractions, allowing adequate time (at least 2 weeks) for healing before treatment [123]; 3) treating active dental caries and periodontal disease; 4) treating oral candidiasis with antifungal agents; and 5) if patients have metal restorations, the use of silicone guards to minimize radiation backscatter is mandatory [124].

Some of the general strategies to decrease oral and dental complications include: 1) decrease dry mouth by increasing hydration, avoiding ingestion of caffeinated products, using salivary substitutes (e.g. gels containing lysozyme, peroxidase), stimulating saliva production by administering xylitol chewing gum/lozenges or cholinergic agonists (e.g. pilocarpine, cevimeline) when indicated [125,126]; 2) reduce risk of dental caries with diet counseling, recommendation for a meticulous oral hygiene (e.g. brushing teeth twice daily, using interdental cleaner, alcohol-free mouthwash and high potency topical fluoride) [127,128]; 3) decrease dentoalveolar infection with frequent evaluations; 4) prevent and address osteoradionecrosis; 5) prevent and control candidiasis with topical or systemic antifungal therapy [124]; 6) decrease trismus of the masticatory muscles (e.g. by using custom mouthopening devices to maintain range of motion) [129,130]; and 7) have patient undergo evaluations during and after treatment to help minimize complications [131].

Research has shown that during clinical examination, almost half of OSCC patients are diagnosed with nodal metastasis [132,133]. Lymph node metastasis is the strongest prognostic factor in oral cancer, since neck involvement is typically associated with drastically reduced survival. The size, number and distribution of metastatic nodes have been reasonably incorporated in the AJCC Staging System [38].

The probability of identifying metastases though, relies on the expertise of surgeons and pathologists, since identification itself is based on the quality of neck dissection and sampling procedure. The total number of lymph nodes retrieved from a neck dissection surgery, important for staging and disease eradication, is referred as lymph node yield (LNY), which grossly depends on the adequacy of the neck dissection [132]. LNY is higher in cases of modified radical or radical dissections, where mostly LNY is greater than 30 [134]. However, there is no consensus on the actual threshold of nodal yield for each type of neck dissection and among institutions, practice can vary [135]. There are also cases, mainly concerning patients with N3 status, where during pathological examination of the surgical specimens, sometimes it can't be precisely specified if there is one large infiltered lymph node or multiple lymph nodes involved [133]. The number of positive nodes identified reflects the extent and burden of disease spread. Since pathological nodal involvement derives from total nodal yield, and as a consequence depends on the surgical procedure, a low value of positive nodes, especially after a selective neck dissection, might give a false estimation of the actual extent of disease and the likelihood of residual micrometastases increases [136]. Determination of the size of metastatic nodes and presence of extranodal extension rely on the quality of pathological specimens procession.

The factors mentioned above probably explain why N-stage was not a significant predictor of disease progression in a number of studies, including an international, multicenter one [132]. The need to improve the current staging system by proposing integration of alternative prognostic factors, set researchers' attention on lymph node ratio (LNR), or lymph node density (LND), an already well described prognostic factor for colorectal [137,138] and breast cancer [139]. This factor equals the ratio of positive lymph nodes to the total number of nodes excised [133] and thus takes into account the parameters of both disease regional spread and surgical procedure, eliminating the risk of bias introduced by sampling method.

This ratio is of interest when investigated as a dichotomous categorical variable, according to a cut-off value determined through ROC-curve analysis or calculated from individual patient data measurements [135]. The purpose is to stratify patients into high and low risk groups based on the distance of individual LNR values from the specified cut-off and design the appropriate treatment scheme accordingly. Numerous LNR cut-offs have been investigated for their association with survival outcomes. A study combining data from 11 centers worldwide [132] proposed a cut-off point of 0.07, meaning that 14 nodes would have to be retrieved from a patient for one node to be pathologically confirmed as positive. Multivariate analysis showed that patients with LNR values exceeding 0.07 were faced with a 70% greater risk of worse overall survival compared to patients with lower values. Furthermore, in multivariate analysis LNR was proven a more potent prognostic factor than the conventional N-staging system, for all survival outcomes.

The present study is a systematic review of the literature researching the impact of lymph node ratio on the survival of node-positive and node-negative oral squamous cell

carcinoma patients, and a statistical synthesis of the results for meta-analysis. The scope is to help establish LNR as an independent prognostic factor, eliminating any confounding relationships, for its future incorporation into staging systems. Hopefully, patients' risk stratification will gain more accuracy and a proposed cut-off will effectively guide surgical and adjuvant treatment plans to ensure a better survival.

### 2. Materials and Methods

### 2.1. Study protocol and eligibility of individual studies

The present systematic review and meta-analysis was performed following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines [140]. The PRISMA Statement consists of a 27-item checklist, presented in Supplementary Table 1, that includes items essential for transparent reporting of a systematic review. The objectives and methods were prespecified in a study protocol, that was discussed and agreed upon in advance by all authors, to eliminate the likelihood of biased *post hoc* decisions. The study protocol was designed and agreed upon from all authors and submitted to PROSPERO International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews.

To ensure that studies are selected in a systematic and unbiased manner, study eligibility criteria including the populations, interventions, comparators, outcomes, and study designs of interest (PICOS) were formulated a priori, in the protocol. The chosen population consisted of patients with oral cancer who had undergone neck dissection. Neck dissection, either selective, modified radical, radical or bilateral, was the intervention. The comparison of interest was high versus low lymph node ratio, and the outcome the survival of patients (overall survival, disease-specific survival, disease-free survival, recurrence-free survival, locoregional disease-free survival, local recurrence-free survival, distant metastasis-free survival). Research was focused on observational studies (cohort, retrospective cohort, casecontrol) and experimental studies (RCTs, non RCTs). Case reports, case series, reviews and meta-analyses were excluded. All studies should report that the entire patient cohort has oral cancer and a neck dissection surgery is performed and the survival data should be presented by measurements of the lymph node ratio as a dichotomous categorical variable. No evidence of pre-operative radiation or chemotherapy administered should be found. In case of overlapping study populations, only the larger study was included. The selection of studies was performed by two reviewers (ZG, AK), working independently, and any disagreements were resolved following consultation with a senior author (TNS) and team consensus.

### 2.2. Search strategy

A systematic search was conducted in PubMed, Google Scholar, Cochrane, EMBASE and ClinicalTrials.gov for identification of potentially missing studies, and other sources (OpenGrey) for the tracing of unpublished material (unpublished dissertations, conference presentations). As far as publication language is concerned, no restriction was implemented. End-of-search date was the 20th of December 2020. The search strategy of eligible studies in PubMed, without any language restriction, included the following keywords:

((node OR nodal) AND (ratio OR density)) AND oral AND (carcinoma OR carcinomas OR cancer OR cancers OR neoplasm OR neoplasms OR malignant OR malignancy) AND (Prognosis OR Prognostic OR Outcome OR fatal OR OS OR mortality OR fatality OR death OR survival OR PFS OR DFS OR DSS OR progression OR TTP OR EFS OR recurrence OR LRF)

There were no limits applied to the search. The search algorithm was rather broad, so as to maximize the number of articles to be scrutinized, aiming to uncover any hidden (i.e. not apparent in the abstract) information in the full text and tables of articles.

# 2.3. Data abstraction and effect estimates

The abstraction of data included general information (first author's name, study year, PMID), study characteristics (study design, time period, geographical region, median followup period, cohort size), categorization of exposure (oral cancer subsite and LNR cut-off determination) and intervention (type of neck dissection), characteristics of participants [age of participants (mean, range), ethnicity, percentage of males, percentage of patients under each TNM-classification (metastasis was defined as a binary categorical variable under yes or no), classification into treatment groups (surgery alone, surgery plus radiotherapy and surgery plus chemoradiotherapy)], definition of endpoints as well as adjusting factors regarding multivariate analyses. If the required data for the meta-analysis was not readily available in the published article, the corresponding authors were to be contacted twice (a reminder e-mail following the first one after seven days). It was necessary to contact the authors in one case [141], where the number of patients with high and low LNR values was required and not provided in the published article. Unfortunately, no response was received and the study was excluded from the analysis. Data was extracted, analyzed and recorded in duplicate in a predeveloped data extraction sheet by two independent reviewers (ZG and AK), using Excel software. Disagreements were resolved and final decision was reached after consultation with a senior author (TNS) and team consensus. If multiple publications by the same authors existed, the articles were checked for overlapping patient pools among studies to avoid introduction of bias by multiple data entry. In such cases, the largest sample size was chosen.

The maximally adjusted types of effect estimate, hazard ratios (HRs) with their 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs), were extracted from each cohort study by category of lymph node ratio (high versus low LNR). If the 95% CI did not overlap the value 1, a HR of >1 would indicate a worse prognosis. When more than two LNR cut-off categories were present, the lowest cut-off was chosen for that study. When the adjusted hazard ratio was not available, by provision of the number of patients under each LNR category and survival data,

crude effect estimates, relative risks (RRs) and 95% CIs were calculated by means of 2x2 tables.

#### 2.4. Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses included pooling of studies as well as a priori meta-regression. Separate analyses were performed based on type of survival outcome and statistical synthesis was performed in case of two or more eligible study arms. A priori subgroup analyses according to the different LNR cut-offs used, were also performed. The category of high lymph node ratio was compared with the one corresponding to the low lymph node ratio, node-negative patients not excluded. Random-effects (DerSimonian-Laird approach) models were appropriately used to calculate pooled effect estimates and the corresponding 95% CIs. The random-effects model assumes that there is no common treatment effect for all included studies but rather that the variation of the effects across studies follows a particular distribution. It is believed that the included studies represent a random sample from a larger population of studies addressing the question of interest [140]. Heterogeneity is expected due to differences between subgroups of studies, as definition of endpoints vary and different LNR cut-offs are used. Between-study heterogeneity was assessed by estimating  $I^2$ , that represents the percentage of the total variation in estimated effects across studies that is due to heterogeneity rather than to chance, and the *p*-value from the Mantel-Haenszel O-test [140]. A value of  $I^2$  greater than 50% and a *p*-value <0.05 point out significant heterogeneity.

Meta-regression examines the quantitative influence of study characteristics on the effect size and allows authors to examine the contribution of different variables to the heterogeneity in study findings [140]. Meta-regression analysis was performed in cases of 10 or more pooled study arms and aimed to assess whether gender (expressed as a 10% increase of percentage of males in the individual studies), age (expressed as a 10-year increase of the mean age in the individual studies), percentage of each cancer subsite (expressed as a 10% increase in the individual studies), percentage of radical dissection (expressed as a 10% increase in the individual studies), percentage of extracapsular spread (expressed as a 10% increase in the individual studies), percentage of positive margins (expressed as a 10% increase in the individual studies), percentage of administered radiotherapy (expressed as a 10% increase in the individual studies), percentage of administered chemotherapy (expressed as a 10% increase in the individual studies), median number of nodes removed (expressed as 1 node increase in the individual studies), median number of positive nodes removed (expressed as 1 positive node increase in the individual studies) and publication year (expressed as 1-year increase in the individual studies) modified the association between higher lymph node ratio values and worse prognosis.

To determine whether LNR can be characterized as an independent prognostic factor, subanalyses by degree of adjustment (multivariate versus univariate analysis) under each survival outcome were also performed. Statistical analysis and meta-regression analysis were performed using STATA/SE version 13 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA).

#### 2.5. Assessment of within-study quality and publication bias

As far as the risk of bias is concerned, the Newcastle-Ottawa Quality scale was used to evaluate the quality of the included non-randomized studies [142]. Regarding the items assessing the completeness (adequacy) of follow-up of cohorts and whether the follow-up period was long enough for outcomes to occur, the cut-off values were set *a priori* at 90% response rate and 2 years, respectively. Study quality was considered "low" when the Newcastle-Ottawa score (NOS) ranged between 1-3, "intermediate" for studies with NOS between 4-6 and "high" for those with a score between 7-9. Two independently working reviewers (ZG, AK) rated the studies and, in case of disagreement, final decision was reached after consultation with a senior author (TNS) and team consensus.

Publication bias was evaluated in the analyses that included 10 or more study arms. Egger's statistical test was implemented as well as a visual inspection of the funnel plot for asymmetry, which can result from the non-publication of small studies with negative results or small studies that tend to show larger estimates of the effects of the intervention [140]. For the interpretation of Egger's test to see if the effect decreased with increasing sample size, statistical significance was defined as p<0.1. The evaluation of publication bias was performed using STATA/SE version 13 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA).

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Description of study selection process

A total of 2,155 records were identified (806 from Pubmed, 74 from EMBASE, 185 from Cochrane Library and 90 from ClinicalTrials.gov), using the search algorithm, with the first 1,000 hits of Google Scholar also screened. No records of unpublished literature were identified through OpenGrey. After duplicates were removed, out of 1,081 records, 796 titles were considered irrelevant and finally 285 abstracts were screened. Reference lists of reviews and eligible articles were also systematically searched for relevant articles in a "snowball" procedure. 233 were excluded as irrelevant to the topic or because of absence of full-text. 52 full-text articles were retrieved and assessed for eligibility, with the justified exclusion, after critical appraisal of the full-text publications, of 20 articles for not meeting the eligibility criteria, data overlap or missing data and insufficient analysis. The studies excluded are analytically presented alongside with the reasons for exclusion in Table 1. 32 studies were finally included in the qualitative synthesis, with the 20 of those analyzing both node-positive and node-negative oral cancer patients eligible for meta-analysis. The whole study selection process is graphically presented in the flow chart (Figure 15).



Figure 15. PRISMA Flow Diagram.

Author	Year	PMID	Reasons for exclusion
Adel et al. [143]	2016	27057838	Data overlap with
			analysis from ICOP
			database (Patel et al
			2013)
Amar et al. [144]	2012	22714852	Insufficient data
			analysis with no hazard
			ratios (HRs) provided
			as effect estimate
Chen et al. [145]	2015	26302761	No separate analysis
			for oral cancer
Faisal et al. [146]	2020	33236214	Insufficient data,
			multivariate analysis
			with LNR=0 as
			reference and the
			number of patients
			under each LINK
			categoly was not
Eang at al [147]	2017	28751700	No sonomto on alveia
relig et al. [147]	2017	20/31/09	for oral capacity
			ior oral cancer

 Table 1. Excluded studies, with reasons (continued).

[148]       with instificient survival data and no HRs         Iocca et al. [149]       2020       32380357       Oral cancer as reference group in multivariate analysis and no association investigated between LNR and survival         Kim KY et al. [150]       2012       22193423       Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)         Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR of as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to medicing similar analysis into HRs         Masciti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis into PSS CLS provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meior curves for LNR         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meior curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger colont investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)	Hingsammer et al.	2019	30738712	Multivariate analysis
Surverial data and no HBs       locca et al. [149]     2020     32380357     Oral cancer as reference group in multivariate analysis and no association investigated between LNR and survival       Kim KY et al. [150]     2012     22193423     Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)       Kim KY et al. [141]     2017     27588367     Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts       Liao et al. [151]     2012     22104249     Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels       Mascitti et al. [152]     2018     30217459     Insufficient data analysis with no HSs and 95% CIS provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR       Roberts et al. [154]     2016     26969807     No sepanate analysis for oral cancer       Safi et al. [155]     2017     28981183     Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated arout the same time (Safi et al., 2017)	[148]			with insufficient
Iocca et al. [149]     2020     32380357     Oral cancer as reference group in multivariate analysis and no association investigated between LNR and survival       Kim KY et al. [150]     2012     22193423     Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)       Kim KY et al. [141]     2017     27588367     Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts to contact the authors       Liao et al. [151]     2012     22104249     Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR eut-off points according to neck dissection levels       Mascitti et al. [152]     2018     30217459     Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR       Roberts et al. [154]     2016     26969807     No sepante analysis for oral cancer       Safi et al. [155]     2017     28981183     Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated analysis				survival data and no HRs
Kim KY et al. [150]       2012       22193423       Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)         Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with DR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No sepante analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort in vestigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)	Iocca et al. [149]	2020	32380357	Oral cancer as
Mascitti et al. [150]       2012       22193423       Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)         Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with no fRs and ysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multivariate analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multipate LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis and spisy with no fRs and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for cord in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort in vestigated around the same time (Safi et al. 2017)		_0_0	02000007	reference group in
and no association investigated between LNR and survival         Kim KY et al. [150]       2012       22193423       Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)         Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levek         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No sepante analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al. 2017)				multivariate analysis
Kim KY et al. [150]       2012       22193423       Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)         Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRS and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No sepante analysis for LNR - Meier curves for LNR         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al. 2017)				and no association
Kim KY et al. [150]       2012       22193423       Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)         Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccess ful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2017) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis for LNR         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for contact analysis for contact analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a alarger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				investigated between
Kim KY et al. [150]       2012       22193423       Data overlap with more recent paper by the same author (2017)         Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccess ful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with gaper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis for ICOR analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No sepante analysis for larger cohort in vestigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort in vestigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				LNR and survival
Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unstucess ful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levek         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No sepante analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)	Kim KY et al. [150]	2012	22193423	Data overlap with more
Kim KY et al. [141]       2017       27588367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				recent paper by the
Kink Y et al. [141]       2017       27388367       Insufficient data, multivariate analysis with LNR=0 as reference and the number of patients under each LNR category was not provided - Unsuccessful attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs analysis with no HSs analysis with no 95% Cls provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for ILNR - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)	Vim VV at al [141]	2017	07500267	same author (2017)
Mascitti et al. [152] Noble et al. [153] Noble et al. [153] Noble et al. [154] Noble et al. [155] Noble et al. [156] Noble et al. [156] Noble et al. [157] Noble et al. [157] Nob	KIIIK Y et al. [141]	2017	27388307	multivorioto en alveis
Image: Second				with I NR-0 as
Noble et al. [152]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis for ICNR         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis for ILNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				reference and the
under each LNR         category was not         provided -         Unsuccessful attempts         to contact the authons         Liao et al. [151]       2012         22104249       Data overlap with         paper including similar         analysis from ICOR         database (Patel et al.,         2013       30217459         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018         Mascitti et al. [153]       2016         26851040       Insufficient data         analysis with no HRs       analysis with no S%         CIs provided in the       multivariate analysis         multivariate analysis       2016         26969807       No separate analysis         ror oral cancer       Safi et al. [155]         2017       28981183         Patient data included in         a larger cohort         investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				number of patients
Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis for cordinate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for cordinate analysis for cord cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in esame time (Safi et al., 2017)				under each LNR
provided -       Unsuccess fil attempts to contact the authors         Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				category was not
Liao et al. [151]201222104249Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levelsMascitti et al. [152]201830217459Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs providedNoble et al. [153]201626851040Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNRRoberts et al. [154]201626969807No separate analysis for oral cancerSafi et al. [155]201728981183Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				provided -
Liao et al. [151]201222104249Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levelsMascitti et al. [152]201830217459Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs providedNoble et al. [153]201626851040Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNRRoberts et al. [154]201626969807No separate analysis for oral cancerSafi et al. [155]201728981183Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				Unsuccess ful attempts
Liao et al. [151]       2012       22104249       Data overlap with paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)		2012	2210.12.10	to contact the authors
paper including similar analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levelsMascitti et al. [152]201830217459Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs providedNoble et al. [153]201626851040Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNRRoberts et al. [154]201626969807No separate analysis for oral cancerSafi et al. [155]201728981183Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)Safi et al. [156]201728529103Patient data included in cohort	Liao et al. [151]	2012	22104249	Data overlap with
analysis infinition         database (Patel et al., 2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				analysis from ICOP
2013) and use of multiple LNR cut-off points according to neck dissection levels         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				database (Patel et al
Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				2013) and use of
points according to neck dissection levek         Mascitti et al. [152]       2018       30217459       Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				multiple LNR cut-off
neck dissection levelsMascitti et al. [152]201830217459Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs providedNoble et al. [153]201626851040Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNRRoberts et al. [154]201626969807No separate analysis for oral cancerSafi et al. [155]201728981183Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)Safi et al. [156]201728529103Patient data included in some time (Safi et al., 2017)				points according to
Mascitti et al. [152]201830217459Insufficient data analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs providedNoble et al. [153]201626851040Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNRRoberts et al. [154]201626969807No separate analysis for oral cancerSafi et al. [155]201728981183Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				neck dissection levels
analysis with no HRs and 95% CIs provided         Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)	Mascitti et al. [152]	2018	30217459	Insufficient data
Noble et al. [153]201626851040Insufficient data analysis with no 95% CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNRRoberts et al. [154]201626969807No separate analysis for oral cancerSafi et al. [155]201728981183Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)Safi et al. [156]201728529103Patient data included in classical et al., 2017)				analysis with no HRs
Noble et al. [153]       2016       26851040       Insufficient data analysis with no 95%         CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)         Safi et al. [156]       2017       28529103       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)		201 6	0 50 51 0 10	and 95% Cls provided
analysis with 10 95%         CIs provided in the multivariate analysis and absence of Kaplan - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)         Safi et al. [156]       2017       28529103       Patient data included in larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)	Noble et al. [153]	2016	26851040	Insufficient data
Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)         Safi et al. [156]       2017       28529103       Patient data included in the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				Cls provided in the
Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)         Safi et al. [156]       2017       28529103       Patient data included in a larger data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				multivariate analysis
And absence of Flaphan         - Meier curves for LNR         Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)         Safi et al. [156]       2017       28529103       Patient data included in				and absence of Kaplan
Roberts et al. [154]       2016       26969807       No separate analysis for oral cancer         Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)         Safi et al. [156]       2017       28529103       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				- Meier curves for LNR
for oral cancer       Safi et al. [155]     2017     28981183     Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)       Safi et al. [156]     2017     28529103     Patient data included in	Roberts et al. [154]	2016	26969807	No separate analysis
Safi et al. [155]       2017       28981183       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)         Safi et al. [156]       2017       28529103       Patient data included in a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017)				for oral cancer
a larger cohort investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017) Safi et al. [156] 2017 28529103 Patient data included in	Safi et al. [155]	2017	28981183	Patient data included in
investigated around the same time (Safi et al., 2017) Safi et al. [156] 2017 28529103 Patient data included in				a larger cohort
Safi et al. [156] 2017 28529103 Patient data included in				investigated around the
Safi et al [156] 2017 28520103 Patient data included in				same time (Safi et al., 2017)
	Safiet al [156]	2017	28529103	Patient data included in
a larger cohort	Surf et un [196]	2017	20327103	a larger cohort
investigated around the				investigated around the
same time (Safi et al.,				same time (Safi et al.,
2017)				2017)
Safi et al. [157]201829709331Patient data included in	Safi et al. [157]	2018	29709331	Patient data included in
a larger cohort				a larger cohort
investigated around the				investigated around the
same time (Safi et al., 2017)				same time (sam et al., $2017$ )
Saved et al. [158] 2013 23893514 Data overlap with	Saved et al. [158]	2013	23893514	Data overlap with
paper including similar				paper including similar

			analysis from ICOR database (Patel et al.,
			2013)
Shrime et al. [159]	2009	19340867	Includes patients who
			received preoperative
			radiation
Troeltzsch et al. [160]	2018	30098956	LNR is investigated as a continuous variable
Zirk et al. [161]	2018	29249633	Data overlap with study investigating a larger cohort (Safi et al., 2017)

#### 3.2. Characteristics of the eligible studies

The abstraction of data is presented in Supplementary Tables 2 and 3. Data concerning more general information about the included studies is shown in Supplementary Table 2, while treatment-, tumor- and LNR-related information is presented in Supplementary Table 3. Studies in bold analyzed both node-positive and node-negative patients and were eligible for meta-analysis.

The included articles were published between 2009 and 2020. Most studies followed the retrospective cohort design, with the exception of three prospective ones [162–164]. There was only one multicontinental study, with 11 centers worldwide, conducted by Patel et al. [132]. 17 studies took place in Asia and the rest in Europe, USA or Canada and Australia. The patients' pool ranged between 35 and 4,254, with a total patient pool of 20,994. The mean age ranged between 47 and 70 years and more than half of the sample size of each study consisted of male patients. A median follow-up of around 2 years or greater, long enough for outcomes to occur, was seen in every study. The most frequent outcome measured was overall survival (OS), followed by disease-specific survival (DSS), disease-free survival (DFS), locoregional disease-free survival (LRDFS), distant metastasis-free survival (DMFS), local recurrence-free survival (LRFS) and recurrence-free survival (RFS).

The majority included tumors from all sites of OSCC, with tongue being the most common subsite. Four studies focused solely on tongue [162,165–167] and one on buccal mucosa [168]. The LNR cut-off points used in the studies ranged from 0.012 to 0.2 and the values were mainly determined via ROC-curve analysis or according to previously published literature. The median total lymph node yield ranged from 19 to 42.5 and the median number of positive nodes from 0 to 3.4 (Supplementary Table 4). Extracapsular spread and close or involved margins were reported in the majority of studies (Supplementary Table 4).
#### 3.3. Meta-analysis

Since the prognostic value of LNR was to be investigated in patients with and without nodal involvement, 12 out of the 32 studies comprising the qualitative synthesis that limited their analyses to node-positive patient pools [132,133,136,162,164,166,168–173], were excluded from meta-analysis. Research focused on comparing the survival of a group of patients with LNR values greater than the specified cut-off (high LNR group) versus a group formed by the sum of patients with LNR values lower than the specified cut-off and those with LNR=0 (low LNR group) in each study. The effect estimate was preferred to be reported as adjusted hazard ratio (HR) with 95% confidence interval (95% CI), resulting from multivariate analysis. In several studies [167,174–181] the results of the multivariate analysis referred to a comparison of high- and low-LNR patients versus node-negative ones (LNR=0). In such cases, when the number of patients under each category was provided, data was synthesized to form the groups of interest. Time-specific survival data resulting from univariate analysis helped define the surviving and non-surviving populations of the high- and low-LNR groups at the time-point given. Data was organized in 2x2 tables and crude effect estimates, relative risks (RRs) with 95% CIs, were calculated.

Overall, 20 studies were eligible for meta-analysis, with a total of 11,701 patients [163,165,167,174–190]. The identified endpoints were overall survival (OS), disease-free survival (DFS), disease-specific survival (DSS), locoregional disease-free survival (LRDFS), distant metastasis-free survival (DMFS), local recurrence-free survival (LRFS) and recurrence-free survival (RFS). Distant failure (DF), referred by Hosni et al. [176], was considered a nominal variation of DMFS, by the definition provided by the authors (Table). Similarly, locoregional recurrence (LRR) referred by Safi et al. [187], is of the same clinical interpretation as LRDFS (Table). LRFS was reported by a single study only, Zhao et al. (HR<sub>high vs low</sub>: 2.02; 95% CI: 1.4-2.92) [190]. As a result, it was excluded from the quantitative synthesis. RFS, reported by Son et al. (HR<sub>high vs low</sub>: 5.79; 95% CI: 3.11-10.79) [163], was excluded too for the same reason. Both studies pointed out the increased risk of patients with higher LNR values, with statistical significance.

18 studies were included in the statistical synthesis for the outcome of overall survival (Figure 16). Patients with high LNR values have double likelihood of worse prognosis compared to patients with low LNR values (Table 2), with statistical significance (pooled RR:2.38; 95% CI: 1.99-2.85). Considerable heterogeneity existed among the studies for OS (I<sup>2</sup> : 82.6%, p<0.001).

RR/HR (S	95% CI)	% Weigt
0.012 (2020) , p = .) 3.33 (1.74 3.33 (1.74)	5, 6.32) 5, 6.32)	4.00 4.00
<=0.024 (2020) , p = .) 2.21 (1.4: 2.21 (1.4: 2.21 (1.4:	3, 3.42) 3, 3.42)	5.49 5.49
(=0.025 (2011) (, p = .) 2.65 (1.8) 2.65 (1.8)	3, 3.83) 3, 3.83)	6.04 6.04
2.89 (1.02 , p = .)	3, 8.09) 3, 8.09)	2.23 2.23
ivs.<0.05 (2018) , p = .) 2.22 (1.74 2.22 (1.74	8, 2.77) 8, 2.77)	7.19 7.19
(2017) , p = .) 5.45 (2.89 5.45 (2.89	5, 10.42) 5, 10.42)	) 3.96 ) 3.96
2009) 6 (2017) ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	2, 3.57) 8, 2.97) 2, 3.51) 0, 2.68)	4.42 6.22 4.79 15.42
0.07 (2018) 7 vs <0.07 (2019) 3%, p = 0.545) ↓ 1.60 (1.22 1.65 (1.22)	5, 3.73) 2, 2.10) 9, 2.12)	4.05 6.82 10.87
s <=0.076 (2020) , p = .) 2.32 (1.50 2.32 (1.50 2.32 (1.50	8, 3.41) 8, 3.41)	5.89 5.89
.08 (2020) 2.90 (1.8: , p = .) 2.90 (1.8:	3, 4.59) 3, 4.59)	5.31 5.31
7) > 0.1 vs <=0.1 (2019) (<=0.1 (2019) > 0.1 vs <=0.1 (2019) > 0.1 vs <=0.1 (2019) 3.42 (28.5 3.22 (28.5 3.22 (28.5) 2.33 (1.1)	7, 1.39) 1, 4.16) 5, 4.07) 3, 4.84)	7.46 7.36 7.10 21.93
vs <=0.2 (2017) 2.40 (2.1 .2 (2015) 2.71 (1.3 05, p = 0.725) 2.41 (2.1	4, 2.69) 9, 5.29) 5, 2.70)	7.81 3.84 11.65
3%, p = 0.000) 2.38 (1.99	9, 2.85)	100.0
random effects analysis		
random effects analysis I I I I .096 1 10.4		

**Figure 16.** Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and overall survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cut-off values are presented.

Pooling of 7 studies (Figure 17) also exhibited a burdening effect of higher LNR values on disease-free survival (Table 2), again achieving statistical significance (pooled RR:2.04; 95% CI: 1.48-2.81). Heterogeneity was considerable in this case as well ( $I^2$ : 93.2%, p<0.001).

ID	RR/HR (95	6 CI) We
>0.012 vs <=0.012		
lftikhar DFS >0.012 vs <=0.012 (2020)	· · · → 3.24 (1.82,	5.77) 10.6
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	3.24 (1.82,	5.77) 10.6
>=0.05 vs <0.05	1	
Chang 5-year DFS >=0.05 vs.<0.05 (2018)		2.27) 15.
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	1.93 (1.64,	2.27) 15.
>=0.06 vs <0.06		
Xu DFS >=0.06 vs <0.06 (2017)	1.57 (1.18,	2.09) 14.3
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	1.57 (1.18,	2.09) 14.3
>0.076 vs <=0.076		
Zhao 5-year DFS >0.076 vs <=0.076 (2020)	2.00 (1.39,	2.87) 13.3
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	2.00 (1.39,	, 2.87) 13.3
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	T T	
>0.1 vs <=0.1		
Ding 5-year DFS (in n=127) >0.1 vs <=0.1 (2019)	1.12 (0.97,	1.29) 15.6
Lee H. 5-year DFS >0.1 vs <=0.1 (2019)	3.50 (2.80,	4.37) 15.0
Subramaniam 5-year DFS >0.1 vs <=0.1 (2019)	2.20 (1.85,	2.61) 15.4
Subtotal (I-squared = 97.6%, p = 0.000)	2.04 (1.07,	3.91) 46. <sup>-</sup>
Overall (I-squared = 93.2%, p = 0.000)	2.04 (1.48,	2.81) 100
NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis		
I 173	1 577	

**Figure 17.** Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and disease-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cut-off values are presented.

Pooled analysis of 8 studies (Figure 18) on disease-specific survival indicated a relative risk of 2.90 (95% CI: 2.35-3.57) when comparing patients with high LNR values to those under the low LNR category (Table 2), with substantial heterogeneity ( $I^2$  : 61.2%, p=0.012).

D	RR/HR (95% CI)	Weigh
>0.025 vs <=0.025		
Ebrahimi DSS >0.025 vs <=0.025 (2011)	3.36 (2.08, 5.42)	10.75
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	3.36 (2.08, 5.42)	10.75
>0.05 vs <=0.05		
Son DSS >0.05 vs <=0.05 (2017)	6.11 (3.15, 11.86	) 7.10
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	6.11 (3.15, 11.86	) 7.10
- >=0.06 vs <0.06		
Xu DSS >=0.06 vs <0.06 (2017)	1.96 (1.31, 2.93)	12.87
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	1.96 (1.31, 2.93)	12.87
- >0.06 vs <=0.06		
Gil DSS >0.06 vs <=0.06 (2009)	2.30 (1.11, 4.75)	6.22
Ong 5-year DSS >0.06 vs <=0.06 (2016)	2.07 (1.22, 3.51)	9.62
Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.818)	2.15 (1.40, 3.29)	15.83
- >0.076 vs <=0.076		
Zhao 5-year DSS >0.076 vs <=0.076 (2020)	2.44 (1.61, 3.70)	12.46
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	2.44 (1.61, 3.70)	12.46
>0.1 vs <=0.1		
Lee H. 5-year DSS >0.1 vs <=0.1 (2019)	3.92 (3.10, 4.96)	18.74
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	3.92 (3.10, 4.96)	18.74
- >0.2 vs <=0.2		
Lee C.C. 5-year DSS >0.2 vs <=0.2 (2017)	2.80 (2.45, 3.20)	22.24
Subtotal (I-squared = .%, p = .)	2.80 (2.45, 3.20)	22.24
Overall (I-squared = 61.2%, p = 0.012)	2.90 (2.35, 3.57)	100.0
NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis		
0843	I I 1 11.9	

**Figure 18.** Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and disease-specific survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cut-off values are presented.

As far as locoregional disease-free survival and distant metastasis-free survival are concerned (Figures 19, 20), synthesis of 3 study arms for each outcome resulted again in a relative risk greater than 1 (pooled RR<sub>LRDFS</sub>:1.88 and pooled RR<sub>DMFS</sub>:2.11), but without statistically significant associations (95% CI: 0.83-4.25 for LRDFS and 95% CI: 0.97-4.63 for DMFS). Substantial heterogeneity was observed (Table 2) regarding LRDFS and considerable regarding DMFS (I<sup>2</sup>: 72.4%, p=0.027 and I<sup>2</sup>: 94%, p<0.001, respectively).



**Figure 19.** Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and locoregional disease-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cut-off values are presented.



Figure 20. Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and distant metastasis-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses by LNR cut-off values are presented.

**Table 2.** Results of the meta-analyses examining the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and survival outcomes; subgroup analyses by LNR cut-off values are presented. Bold cells denote statistically significant associations.

	Studies a	analyzing patients with	positive and
		negative lymph node	S
	n <sup>§</sup>	RR (95% CI)	Heterogeneity
			$I^2$ , p
Overall survival (OS)	18	2.38 (1.99-2.85)	82.6%, <0.001
Disease-free survival	7	2.04 (1.48-2.81)	93.2%, <0.001
(DFS)			
Disease-specific	8	2.90 (2.35-3.57)	61.2%, 0.012
survival (DSS)			
Recurrence-free	1	Only 1 study	NC
survival (RFS)			
Locoregional	3	1.88 (0.83-4.25)	72.4%, 0.027
disease-free survival			
(LRDFS)			
Distant metastasis-	3	2.11 (0.97-4.63)	94%, <0.001
free survival (DMFS)			
Local recurrence-free	1	Only 1 study	NC
survival (LRFS)			

§number of studies; RR: relative risk

#### 3.4. Meta-regression analysis

Meta-regression analysis was planned in case of 10 or more pooled study arms, criterion met by the analysis of overall survival alone. The results of the meta-regression analysis for the outcome of overall survival are presented in Table 3. Percentages of lip, alveolus, retromolar trigone, gingiva and hard palate tumors were reported as variables in an amount of less than 10 studies, so their role as potential modifiers in the association between LNR and overall survival could not be investigated. Increasing percentage of males, mean age of study, percentage of buccal mucosa and floor of mouth tumors, percentage of radical dissection, extracapsular spread, positive margins, administered radiotherapy, administered chemotherapy, increasing median number of total and positive nodes removed and year of publication exhibited a null effect on the worse prognostic potential of increasing LNR. Increasing number of tumors located in the tongue was the only factor identified that could modify the association between LNR and survival of patients (exponentiated coefficient: 1.08; 95% CI: 1.01-1.16). The bubble plot (Figure 21) depicts the burdening effect mediated by high LNR values in terms of overall survival more pronounced in high percentages of tongue tumors.

		OS - S	tudies analyzing	patients			
	Category or	with positive and negative					
Variables	in cre men t		lymph nodes				
			Exponentiate				
		8	d coefficient				
		<u>n<sup>8</sup></u>	<u>(95% CI)</u>	<b>p</b>			
Democratic on of moles	100/ :	18	1.01 (0.85-	0.858			
Percentage of males	10% increase	16	1.21)	0.204			
	10 year	10	0.79 (0.54-	0.204			
Mean age of study	increase	4	Less than ten				
Democrate on of lin	100/ :	+	studies				
Percentage of np	10% increase		Insufficient				
Demonstrate of the second	100/ :		data				
Percentage of upper guin	10% increase		Insufficient				
Dereentage of lower gum	100/ in groups		data				
r er centage of lower guin	10% increase		Insufficient				
Dereentage of gum	100/ in graage		data				
r er centage or guin	10% increase	13	0.98 (0.84-	0 784			
Porcentage of buccel mucces	10% increase	15	1 15)	0.704			
r creentage of buccar infucosa	10% increase	18	1.08 (1.01-	0.032			
Porcentage often mie	10% increase	10	1 16	0.032			
r ercentage of toligue	10% increase	3	Less than ten				
Percentage of alveolus	10% increase	Ũ	studies				
Percentage of retromolar	10% increase	7	Less than ten				
trigone	10% increase		studies				
trigone	10% increase	3	Less than ten				
Percentage of gingiya	10% increase	_	studies				
r er eenvage or gingr va	10,0 11010430	8	Less than ten				
Percentage of hard palate	10% increase		studies				
F F F	/	13	0.85 (0.72-	0.056			
Percentage of floor of mouth	10% increase		1.00)				
Percentage of radical		10	0.97 (0.88-	0.504			
dissection	10% increase		1.07)				
Median number of nodes	One node	13	1.00 (0.95-	0.911			
removed	increase		1.05)				
Median number of positive	One positive	11	0.93 (0.65-	0.683			
nodes removed	node increase		1.34)				
Percentage of extracapsular		10	1.11 (0.87-	0.341			
spread	10% increase		1.42)				
Percentage of positive		15	0.82 (0.67-	0.060			
margins	10% increase		1.01)				
Percentage of administered		13	0.93 (0.85-	0.126			
chemotherapy	10% increase		1.02)				
Percentage of administered		14	0.93 (0.83-	0.187			
radiotherapy	10% increase		1.04)				
		18	1.00 (0.94-	0.998			
Publication year	1 year increase		1.07)				

**Table 3.** Meta-regression analysis examining the role of potential modifiers in the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and survival outcomes.

<sup>§</sup>number of studies



Figure 21. Plot depicting the modifying effect mediated by percentage of tumors affecting the tongue upon the association between high lymph node ratio (LNR) values and overall survival. The circle sizes represent the inverse of each within-study variance.

#### 3.5. LNR as an independent prognostic factor

A hypothesis was formed as to whether LNR can be established as an independent prognostic factor. To address this question, subanalyses by degree of adjustment under each survival outcome of interest were performed (Figures 22-26). When adjusting for potential confounders, patients with high LNR values were faced with a twofold risk of worse prognosis, at a minimum, with statistical significance (pooled RR<sub>OS</sub>: 2.82; 95% CI: 2.36-3.37, pooled RR<sub>DFS</sub>: 2.58; 95% CI: 1.44-4.64, pooled RR<sub>DSS</sub>: 3.23; 95% CI: 2.25-4.64, pooled RR<sub>LRDFS</sub>: 2.92; 95% CI: 1.41-6.03). Regarding studies that didn't adjust for potential confounding factors, the results from the analysis were the following; pooled RR<sub>OS</sub>: 2.06; 95% CI: 1.59-2.67, pooled RR<sub>DFS</sub>: 1.74; 95% CI: 1.22-2.48, pooled RR<sub>DSS</sub>: 2.72; 95% CI: 2.40-3.08. Results regarding univariate analysis in LRDFS and DMFS lacked statistical significance (pooled RR<sub>LRDFS</sub>: 1.12; 95% CI: 0.97-1.29, pooled RR<sub>DMFS</sub>: 2.11; 95% CI: 0.97-4.63).



**Figure 22.** Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and overall survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented.



**Figure 23.** Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and disease-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented.



**Figure 24.** Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and disease-specific survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented.



Figure 25. Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and distant metastasis-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented.



**Figure 26.** Forest plot describing the association between lymph node ratio (LNR) and locoregional disease-free survival. Apart from the overall analysis, the subanalyses on degree of adjustment are presented.

#### 3.6. Evaluation of quality of studies and risk of bias

Within-study quality of all 32 studies included in the systematic review was evaluated with the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale [142], analytically presented in Supplementary Table 5. 24 studies were found to be of high quality, while the rest belonged in the "intermediate" range, the lowest graded one conducted by Subramaniam et al. [180]. All studies scored excellently in the selection process and follow-up was both long enough for outcomes to occur and adequate (≥90% response rate) in the majority of studies. In terms of comparability, pN-classification was considered the most significant confounding factor as it is directly associated with LNR. Only 6 studies were analyzed adjusted for pN-classification [132,171,179,183,186,190], and generally overall quality was compromised in the "comparability" section.

40

Regarding publication bias, non-significant publication bias was detected via Egger's test in the analysis on overall survival (p=0.572). The result is reflected in the respective funnel plot, as no obvious asymmetry is identified (Figure 27).



Figure 27. Funnel plot of the meta-analysis on overall survival without obvious asymmetry, i.e. no evidence of publication bias.

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1. Analysis of results

In the scope of the present systematic review, 32 studies examining the effect of LNR, as a categorical variable, on OSCC patients' survival after neck dissection, were identified and their data was extracted and presented. In 20 studies, the node-negative populations were not excluded from the group with low LNR values, and were eligible for meta-analysis. Overall, it was proven that high LNR values multiply the risk of worse prognosis at least by two, whether this occurs as all cause/tumor-related death or tumor recurrence of any kind. Similarities were observed even in the statistically non-significant, probably due to the small number of studies analyzed, results for LRDFS and DMFS.

The findings of the present study are in accordance with an earlier systematic review and meta-analysis, conducted by Huang et al. (2019) [135]. Their quantitative synthesis included 19 studies, focusing either on both node-positive and node-negative populations or on node-positive populations exclusively, classified into two groups. Group A consisted of the studies limited to node-positive patients, while group B of those analyzing both populations. Results regarding the overall, disease-free and disease-specific survival of patient pools under group B, pointed out the burdening effect of high LNR similarly to ours (pooled HR<sub>OS</sub>: 2.76; 95% CI: 2.13–3.59, pooled HR<sub>DFS</sub>: 2.01; 95% CI: 1.44–2.82, pooled HR<sub>DSS</sub>: 2.83; 95% CI: 1.8–4.44). Heterogeneity though was significantly less pronounced in their study (I<sup>2</sup><sub>OS</sub>:37.4%; p=0.12, I<sup>2</sup><sub>DFS</sub>:50.7%; p=0.132, I<sup>2</sup><sub>DSS</sub>:60.5%; p=0.038).

Considerable heterogeneity existed among the studies analyzed under each survival outcome in our research. Factors like varying study design, sample size, geographical region, study period and follow-up duration are expected to introduce heterogeneity [140]. Heterogeneity can also be attributed to differences between subgroups of studies, such as the multiple LNR cut-offs. In comparison to the previous publication, our search algorithm was broader, so as not to overlook any relative literature, and scan for eligible articles was expanded to every source possible. Furthermore, Huang et al. included only studies that reported HRs. In case all eligibility criteria were met, but HRs were unavailable or the comparison of interest was inadequately reported, we tried to synthesize data provided to build the correlation we were investigating and calculate crude effect estimates (RRs). Our extensive research and scrutiny resulted in a richer and more representative material for analysis, which explains the variety of LNR cut-off values. Methods of cut-off determination also varied significantly among studies. Many were based on ROC-curve analysis, some on previous literature and others set a cut-off equal to the median of the patients' individual data, a factor that obstructs our ability to express comparisons based on a single, fixed value. An effort to minimize the differences was made by choosing the lowest cut-off when more than one were provided. Subgroup analyses per LNR cut-off point were also performed in order to reduce heterogeneity. Heterogeneity could result from differences in the determination of survival outcomes as well. We tried to diminish the effect by paying close attention to the clinical interpretation researchers gave to their findings and designing our analyses based on that.

To further explore heterogeneity, we performed meta-regression on variables considered potential modifiers of the association between LNR and overall survival. Lymph node ratio is defined as the ratio of the positive lymph nodes to the total nodal yield. The number of positive nodes is a strong indicator of disease spread and simultaneously directly linked to the total number of nodes excised, which depends on the type of neck dissection performed according to the institution's practice, surgeon's expertise and patient's anatomical and pathological features. A radical or a modified radical neck dissection harvests a significantly greater number of nodes compared to a selective neck dissection, commonly contributing to low LNR cut-offs. Even when LNR is low, presence of extracapsular spread signals a poor prognosis. Positive margins also increase the risk for local relapse and if those are reported, adjuvant treatment with radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy should be considered for the eradication of any residual disease. Hence increase in the number of positive nodes, median nodal yield, percentage of radical dissection, extracapsular spread, positive margins and administered adjuvant treatment were examined as potential confounders without statistically significant influence on the prognostic impact of LNR. Null results were reported for percentage of males, age and publication year as well.

Since our research was not oriented to any particular OSCC subsite, the modifying effect of each subsite present was to be investigated. The oral cavity is rich in lymphatic supply and regional nodal dissemination to nodes from level I to III, but the risk of regional nodal metastasis differs among subsites involved. Patients with anterior tongue tumors are diagnosed with occult neck metastases in a percentage around 50%-60%, even in early T1/T2 stages [191]. Occult neck metastases can increase the risk of dying from cancer by 5 times [191]. Disease progression might be quicker compared to other sites, due to the complexity of tongue's lymphatic and vascular network [192]. We believe these particularities explain the relation found between increasing proportion of tongue tumors and worse overall survival mediated by high LNR.

By visual interpretation of the funnel plot and Egger's statistical test, no considerable publication bias could be traced, so this factor cannot be accounted for as contributing to the heterogeneity.

Authors' main goal in the previous meta-analysis was to highlight LNR as a strong independent prognostic factor. To achieve this, they performed additional analyses by pooling studies reporting adjusted HRs only, with statistically significant results. As mentioned above, LNR is a composite index. Number of positive nodes and total nodal yield depend on disease progression and surgical procedure. A patient's age and overall health status often determine the route of the disease. Type of treatment and follow-up are decided according to staging that takes into account clinical and pathological characteristics of the tumor (subsite, size, depth of invasion, extracapsular spread, margin status etc.). Therefore, LNR has potential of being incorporated as a meaningful prognostic factor in the AJCC Staging System, if its effect on survival is free from confounders. As an effort, we took a step forward and described the association between LNR and survival outcomes by performing additional subanalyses on degree of adjustment, with strong evidence of a worse prognosis in the presence of high LNR, when adjusting for significant confounding factors.

All cut-offs were deemed significant in the analyses. Focusing on overall survival the lowest cut-off identified was 0.012, proposed by Iftikhar et al. [165] through ROC-curve analysis, smaller than the one Huang et al. suggested (0.025). Analyzing this value, it means that at least 80 nodes need to be harvested for one node to be identified as positive with metastasis, and treat the patient accordingly to ensure a similar overall survival to a

pathologically negative one. A radical neck dissection usually requires yielding of around 40 nodes, if not less. Since the majority of our studies included node-negative populations comprising more than 50% of their sample size, selective neck dissection and modified radical were mostly the techniques of choice, in compliance with common practice. The removal of the entire cervical lymphatic system, jugular vein, sternoc leidomastoid musc le and spinal accessory nerve through radical dissection is well known for the significant morbidity it accompanies, which set the basis for the introduction of modified radical dissection and later, selective, even for clinically node-positive patients. However, for subsites commonly associated with skip nodal metastases, with the previous node level free of metastatic disease, such as the tongue and floor of mouth, more radical procedures continue to be the preferred approach [193]. A low, significant LNR cut-off underlines the importance of eliminating residual disease to achieve better outcomes. In occasions where very extensive surgery is not feasible or desired, adjuvant treatment will play a most beneficial role. We believe that methods of LNR cut-off determination will be standardized in future research, and a universal value to guide therapeutic approach according to risk stratification will be established.

#### 4.2. Limitations

It is quite clear that our study is not free of limitations. All but three studies followed a retrospective design which introduces some bias restrictions, since preliminary results or protocols of observational studies are not published before the final analysis [194], despite the generally good quality evaluation with the Newcastle-Ottawa scale. There was only one multicontinental study, excluded from the meta-analysis. In most cases, data concerned patients treated at a single institution, so potential bias is hard to eliminate. Studies lacked information regarding patients' history, so smoking, alcohol consumption etc. could not be evaluated for their association with LNR and survival. Detailed information regarding type of surgery and ethnicity was also absent in many cases. A factor that greatly contributed to heterogeneity was the varying methods of LNR cut-off determination, which may also introduce some bias in the individual study results.

#### 4.3. Conclusions and future research directions

Despite the limitations, our study has a number of strengths. Literature was meticulously searched to lead to a rich material for analysis and every effort possible was made to explore and reduce heterogeneity. Even if not all effect estimates were adjusted, our subanalyses on degree of adjustment managed to underline LNR as an independent prognostic factor. It is now clear that low LNR cut-offs are capable of predicting significantly worse survival when surpassed and LNR can be incorporated to the future editions of the AJCC TNM Classification System for Oral Cavity tumors as well. More prospective studies with clearly defined endpoints and clinical trials with large sample sizes will help further validate these findings and hopefully establish a universal cut-off for each surgical procedure. Future research should focus on stratifying patients according to affected subsites and history. The role of adjuvant radiotherapy and chemotherapy in disease relapse, even for low-risk patients, is another object of investigation that will continuously be needing more light.

## 5. References

- 1. Head and Neck Cancer Introduction Available online: https://www.cancer.net/cancertypes/head-and-neck-cancer/introduction (accessed on 19 March 2022).
- 2. Chow, L.Q.M. Head and Neck Cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2020**, *382*, 60–72, doi:10.1056/NEJMra1715715.
- Head and Neck Cancers National Cancer Institute Available online: https://www.cancer.gov/types/head-and-neck/head-neck-fact-sheet (accessed on 19 March 2022).
- 4. Gandini, S.; Botteri, E.; Iodice, S.; Boniol, M.; Lowenfels, A.B.; Maisonneuve, P.; Boyle, P. Tobacco Smoking and Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *Int. J. Cancer* **2008**, *122*, 155–164, doi:10.1002/ijc.23033.
- Hashibe, M.; Brennan, P.; Benhamou, S.; Castellsague, X.; Chen, C.; Curado, M.P.; Dal Maso, L.; Daudt, A.W.; Fabianova, E.; Fernandez, L.; et al. Alcohol Drinking in Never Users of Tobacco, Cigarette Smoking in Never Drinkers, and the Risk of Head and Neck Cancer: Pooled Analysis in the International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology Consortium. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2007, 99, 777–789, doi:10.1093/jnci/djk179.
- 6. Mariano, L.C.; Warnakulasuriya, S.; Straif, K.; Monteiro, L. Secondhand Smoke Exposure and Oral Cancer Risk: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Tob. Control* **2021**, tobaccocontrol-2020-056393, doi:10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2020-056393.
- 7. Boffetta, P.; Hecht, S.; Gray, N.; Gupta, P.; Straif, K. Smokeless Tobacco and Cancer. *Lancet Oncol.* **2008**, *9*, 667–675, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70173-6.
- 8. Goldenberg, D.; Lee, J.; Koch, W.M.; Kim, M.M.; Trink, B.; Sidransky, D.; Moon, C.-S. Habitual Risk Factors for Head and Neck Cancer. *Otolaryngol.--Head Neck Surg. Off. J. Am. Acad. Otolaryngol.-Head Neck Surg.* **2004**, *131*, 986–993, doi:10.1016/j.otohns.2004.02.035.
- Gupta, P.C.; Mehta, F.S.; Daftary, D.K.; Pindborg, J.J.; Bhonsle, R.B.; Jalnawalla, P.N.; Sinor, P.N.; Pitkar, V.K.; Murti, P.R.; Irani, R.R.; et al. Incidence Rates of Oral Cancer and Natural History of Oral Precancerous Lesions in a 10-Year Follow-up Study of Indian Villagers. *Community Dent. Oral Epidemiol.* 1980, *8*, 283–333, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0528.1980.tb01302.x.
- Lu, C.T.; Yen, Y.Y.; Ho, C.S.; Ko, Y.C.; Tsai, C.C.; Hsieh, C.C.; Lan, S.J. A Case-Control Study of Oral Cancer in Changhua County, Taiwan. J. Oral Pathol. Med. Off. Publ. Int. Assoc. Oral Pathol. Am. Acad. Oral Pathol. 1996, 25, 245–248, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0714.1996.tb01379.x.
- Merchant, A.; Husain, S.S.; Hosain, M.; Fikree, F.F.; Pitiphat, W.; Siddiqui, A.R.; Hayder, S.J.; Haider, S.M.; Ikram, M.; Chuang, S.K.; et al. Paan without Tobacco: An Independent Risk Factor for Oral Cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 2000, *86*, 128–131, doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-0215(20000401)86:1<128::aid-ijc20>3.0.co;2-m.
- 12. van Wyk, C.W.; Stander, I.; Padayachee, A.; Grobler-Rabie, A.F. The Areca Nut Chewing Habit and Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma in South African Indians. A Retrospective Study. *South Afr. Med. J. Suid-Afr. Tydskr. Vir Geneeskd.* **1993**, *83*, 425–429.
- 13. Al-Qirim, T.M.; Shahwan, M.; Zaidi, K.R.; Uddin, Q.; Banu, N. Effect of Khat, Its Constituents and Restraint Stress on Free Radical Metabolism of Rats. *J. Ethnopharmacol.* **2002**, *83*, 245–250, doi:10.1016/s0378-8741(02)00251-9.
- 14. Hill, C.M.; Gibson, A. The Oral and Dental Effects of q'at Chewing. *Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol.* **1987**, *63*, 433–436, doi:10.1016/0030-4220(87)90255-6.
- 15. Soufi, H.E.; Kameswaran, M.; Malatani, T. Khat and Oral Cancer. J. Laryngol. Otol. **1991**, 105, 643–645, doi:10.1017/s0022215100116913.
- 16. Sewram, V.; De Stefani, E.; Brennan, P.; Boffetta, P. Maté Consumption and the Risk of Squamous Cell Esophageal Cancer in Uruguay. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomark. Prev. Publ. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res. Cosponsored Am. Soc. Prev. Oncol.* **2003**, *12*, 508–513.
- 17. Gillison, M.L.; D'Souza, G.; Westra, W.; Sugar, E.; Xiao, W.; Begum, S.; Viscidi, R. Distinct Risk Factor Profiles for Human Papillomavirus Type 16-Positive and Human Papillomavirus Type 16-

Negative Head and Neck Cancers. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2008, 100, 407–420, doi:10.1093/jnci/djn025.

- Chaturvedi, A.K.; Engels, E.A.; Pfeiffer, R.M.; Hernandez, B.Y.; Xiao, W.; Kim, E.; Jiang, B.; Goodman, M.T.; Sibug-Saber, M.; Cozen, W.; et al. Human Papillomavirus and Rising Oropharyngeal Cancer Incidence in the United States. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 2011, 29, 4294–4301, doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.36.4596.
- Saraiya, M.; Unger, E.R.; Thompson, T.D.; Lynch, C.F.; Hernandez, B.Y.; Lyu, C.W.; Steinau, M.; Watson, M.; Wilkinson, E.J.; Hopenhayn, C.; et al. US Assessment of HPV Types in Cancers: Implications for Current and 9-Valent HPV Vaccines. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 2015, 107, djv086, doi:10.1093/jnci/djv086.
- Boffetta, P.; Richiardi, L.; Berrino, F.; Estève, J.; Pisani, P.; Crosignani, P.; Raymond, L.; Zubiri, L.; Del Moral, A.; Lehmann, W.; et al. Occupation and Larynx and Hypopharynx Cancer: An International Case-Control Study in France, Italy, Spain, and Switzerland. *Cancer Causes Control CCC* 2003, 14, 203–212, doi:10.1023/a:1023699717598.
- 21. Preston-Martin, S.; Thomas, D.C.; White, S.C.; Cohen, D. Prior Exposure to Medical and Dental X-Rays Related to Tumors of the Parotid Gland. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **1988**, *80*, 943–949, doi:10.1093/jnci/80.12.943.
- Chen, J.-Y.; Chen, C.-J.; Liu, M.-Y.; Cho, S.-M.; Hsu, M.-M.; Lynn, T.-C.; Shieh, T.; Tu, S.-M.; Lee, H.-H.; Kuo, S.-L.; et al. Antibodies to Epstein-Barr Virus-Specific DNase in Patients with Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma and Control Groups. J. Med. Virol. 1987, 23, 11–21, doi:10.1002/jmv.1890230103.
- 23. Du, M.; Nair, R.; Jamieson, L.; Liu, Z.; Bi, P. Incidence Trends of Lip, Oral Cavity, and Pharyngeal Cancers: Global Burden of Disease 1990–2017. J. Dent. Res. **2020**, 99, 143–151, doi:10.1177/0022034519894963.
- Ng, M.; Freeman, M.K.; Fleming, T.D.; Robinson, M.; Dwyer-Lindgren, L.; Thomson, B.; Wollum, A.; Sanman, E.; Wulf, S.; Lopez, A.D.; et al. Smoking Prevalence and Cigarette Consumption in 187 Countries, 1980-2012. *JAMA* 2014, *311*, 183–192, doi:10.1001/jama.2013.284692.
- 25. Fidler, M.M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Bray, F. A Global View on Cancer Incidence and National Levels of the Human Development Index. *Int. J. Cancer* **2016**, *139*, 2436–2446, doi:10.1002/ijc.30382.
- 26. Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program Available online: https://seer.cancer.gov/index.html (accessed on 19 March 2022).
- 27. Siegel, R.L.; Miller, K.D.; Fuchs, H.E.; Jemal, A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* **2021**, 71, 7–33, doi:10.3322/caac.21654.
- 28. Cancer (IARC), T.I.A. for R. on Global Cancer Observatory Available online: https://gco.iarc.fr/ (accessed on 19 March 2022).
- 29. Sung, H.; Ferlay, J.; Siegel, R.L.; Laversanne, M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Jemal, A.; Bray, F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* **2021**, *71*, 209–249, doi:10.3322/caac.21660.
- 30. Ferlay, J.; Colombet, M.; Soerjomataram, I.; Parkin, D.M.; Piñeros, M.; Znaor, A.; Bray, F. Cancer Statistics for the Year 2020: An Overview. *Int. J. Cancer* **2021**, doi:10.1002/ijc.33588.
- 31. Head and Neck Cancer Diagnosis Available online: https://www.cancer.net/cancertypes/head-and-neck-cancer/diagnosis (accessed on 19 March 2022).
- Paleri, V.; Urbano, T.G.; Mehanna, H.; Repanos, C.; Lancaster, J.; Roques, T.; Patel, M.; Sen, M. Management of Neck Metastases in Head and Neck Cancer: United Kingdom National Multidisciplinary Guidelines. *J. Laryngol. Otol.* 2016, 130, S161–S169, doi:10.1017/S002221511600058X.
- Kim, S.-J.; Pak, K.; Kim, K. Diagnostic Accuracy of F-18 FDG PET or PET/CT for Detection of Lymph Node Metastasis in Clinically Node Negative Head and Neck Cancer Patients; A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Am. J. Otolaryngol.* 2019, 40, 297–305, doi:10.1016/j.amjoto.2018.10.013.

- 34. Zanoni, D.K.; Patel, S.G.; Shah, J.P. Changes in the 8th Edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) Staging of Head and Neck Cancer: Rationale and Implications. *Curr. Oncol. Rep.* **2019**, *21*, 52, doi:10.1007/s11912-019-0799-x.
- 35. Huang, S.H.; O'Sullivan, B. Overview of the 8th Edition TNM Classification for Head and Neck Cancer. *Curr. Treat. Options Oncol.* **2017**, *18*, 40, doi:10.1007/s11864-017-0484-y.
- 36. Bullock, M.J. Current Challenges in the Staging of Oral Cancer. *Head Neck Pathol.* **2019**, *13*, 440–448, doi:10.1007/s12105-019-01014-4.
- Pollaers, K.; Hinton-Bayre, A.; Friedland, P.L.; Farah, C.S. AJCC 8th Edition Oral Cavity Squamous Cell Carcinoma Staging – Is It an Improvement on the AJCC 7th Edition? *Oral Oncol.* 2018, *82*, 23–28, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2018.04.018.
- 38. AJCC Cancer Staging Manual; Amin, M.B., American Joint Committee on Cancer, American Cancer Society, Eds.; Eight edition / editor-in-chief, Mahul B. Amin, MD, FCAP ; editors, Stephen B. Edge, MD, FACS [and 16 others] ; Donna M. Gress, RHIT, CTR-Technical editor ; Laura R. Meyer, CAPM-Managing editor.; American Joint Committee on Cancer, Springer: Chicago IL, 2017; ISBN 978-3-319-40617-6.
- Cohen, E.E.W.; LaMonte, S.J.; Erb, N.L.; Beckman, K.L.; Sadeghi, N.; Hutcheson, K.A.; Stubblefield, M.D.; Abbott, D.M.; Fisher, P.S.; Stein, K.D.; et al. American Cancer Society Head and Neck Cancer Survivorship Care Guideline. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* 2016, 66, 203–239, doi:10.3322/caac.21343.
- So, W.K.W.; Chan, R.J.; Chan, D.N.S.; Hughes, B.G.M.; Chair, S.Y.; Choi, K.C.; Chan, C.W.H. Quality-of-Life among Head and Neck Cancer Survivors at One Year after Treatment--a Systematic Review. *Eur. J. Cancer Oxf. Engl.* 1990 2012, 48, 2391–2408, doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2012.04.005.
- 41. Smith, B.G.; Hutcheson, K.A.; Little, L.G.; Skoracki, R.J.; Rosenthal, D.I.; Lai, S.Y.; Lewin, J.S. Lymphedema Outcomes in Patients with Head and Neck Cancer. *Otolaryngol.--Head Neck Surg. Off. J. Am. Acad. Otolaryngol.-Head Neck Surg.* **2015**, *152*, 284–291, doi:10.1177/0194599814558402.
- 42. Jabbour, J.; Milross, C.; Sundaresan, P.; Ebrahimi, A.; Shepherd, H.L.; Dhillon, H.M.; Morgan, G.; Ashford, B.; Abdul-Razak, M.; Wong, E.; et al. Education and Support Needs in Patients with Head and Neck Cancer: A Multi-Institutional Survey. *Cancer* **2017**, *123*, 1949–1957, doi:10.1002/cncr.30535.
- Colasanto, J.M.; Prasad, P.; Nash, M.A.; Decker, R.H.; Wilson, L.D. Nutritional Support of Patients Undergoing Radiation Therapy for Head and Neck Cancer. *Oncol. Williston Park N* 2005, 19, 371–379; discussion 380-382, 387.
- 44. Lin, B.M.; Starmer, H.M.; Gourin, C.G. The Relationship between Depressive Symptoms, Quality of Life, and Swallowing Function in Head and Neck Cancer Patients 1 Year after Definitive Therapy. *The Laryngoscope* **2012**, *122*, 1518–1525, doi:10.1002/lary.23312.
- 45. Krebber, A.-M.H.; Leemans, C.R.; de Bree, R.; van Straten, A.; Smit, F.; Smit, E.F.; Becker, A.; Eeckhout, G.M.; Beekman, A.T.F.; Cuijpers, P.; et al. Stepped Care Targeting Psychological Distress in Head and Neck and Lung Cancer Patients: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *BMC Cancer* **2012**, *12*, 173, doi:10.1186/1471-2407-12-173.
- Andersen, B.L.; DeRubeis, R.J.; Berman, B.S.; Gruman, J.; Champion, V.L.; Massie, M.J.; Holland, J.C.; Partridge, A.H.; Bak, K.; Somerfield, M.R.; et al. Screening, Assessment, and Care of Anxiety and Depressive Symptoms in Adults With Cancer: An American Society of Clinical Oncology Guideline Adaptation. J. Clin. Oncol. 2014, 32, 1605–1619, doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.52.4611.
- 47. Egestad, H.; Emaus, N. Changes in Health Related Quality of Life in Women and Men Undergoing Radiation Treatment for Head and Neck Cancer and the Impact of Smoking Status in the Radiation Treatment Period. *Eur. J. Oncol. Nurs. Off. J. Eur. Oncol. Nurs. Soc.* **2014**, *18*, 339–346, doi:10.1016/j.ejon.2014.04.003.

- 48. Man, C.-B.; Parmar, P.; Patel, C.; Sharma, V.; Mirza, T. A One Year Audit of Lymph Node Yield in Neck Dissections at Luton & Dunstable Hospital. *Br. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* **2017**, *55*, e103, doi:10.1016/j.bjoms.2017.08.055.
- 49. Batsakis, J. The Lymph Node Yield in Neck Dissections: A Mean of 35 Nodes Is Excellent, but Variance Is Much Too Wide. Why? *Adv. Anat. Pathol.* **2002**, *9*, 73.
- 50. Robbins, K.T.; Shaha, A.R.; Medina, J.E.; Califano, J.A.; Wolf, G.T.; Ferlito, A.; Som, P.M.; Day, T.A.; Committee for Neck Dissection Classification, American Head and Neck Society Consensus Statement on the Classification and Terminology of Neck Dissection. *Arch. Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg.* **2008**, *134*, 536–538, doi:10.1001/archotol.134.5.536.
- 51. Byers, R.M. Neck Dissection: Concepts, Controversies, and Technique. *Semin. Surg. Oncol.* **1991**, *7*, 9–13, doi:10.1002/ssu.2980070104.
- 52. Stringer, S.P. Current Concepts in Surgical Management of Neck Metastases from Head and Neck Cancer. *Oncol. Williston Park N* **1995**, *9*, 547–554; discussion 554, 557–558.
- 53. Robbins, K.T.; Clayman, G.; Levine, P.A.; Medina, J.; Sessions, R.; Shaha, A.; Som, P.; Wolf, G.T.; American Head and Neck Society; American Academy of Otolaryngology--Head and Neck Surgery Neck Dissection Classification Update: Revisions Proposed by the American Head and Neck Society and the American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery. *Arch. Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg.* **2002**, *128*, 751–758, doi:10.1001/archotol.128.7.751.
- 54. Shah, J.P.; Candela, F.C.; Poddar, A.K. The Patterns of Cervical Lymph Node Metastases from Squamous Carcinoma of the Oral Cavity. *Cancer* **1990**, *66*, 109–113, doi:10.1002/1097-0142(19900701)66:1<109::aid-cncr2820660120>3.0.co;2-a.
- 55. Schmitz, S.; Machiels, J.-P.; Weynand, B.; Gregoire, V.; Hamoir, M. Results of Selective Neck Dissection in the Primary Management of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Eur. Arch. Oto-Rhino-Laryngol. Off. J. Eur. Fed. Oto-Rhino-Laryngol. Soc. EUFOS Affil. Ger. Soc. Oto-Rhino-Laryngol. - Head Neck Surg.* **2009**, *266*, 437–443, doi:10.1007/s00405-008-0767-9.
- 56. Patel, R.S.; Clark, J.; Wyten, R.; Gao, K.; O'Brien, C.J. Squamous Cell Carcinoma from an Unknown Head and Neck Primary Site: A "Selective Treatment" Approach. *Arch. Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg.* **2007**, *133*, 1282–1287, doi:10.1001/archotol.133.12.1282.
- Sivanandan, R.; Kaplan, M.J.; Lee, K.J.; Lebl, D.; Pinto, H.; Le, Q.-T.; Goffinet, D.R.; Fee, W.E. Long-Term Results of 100 Consecutive Comprehensive Neck Dissections: Implications for Selective Neck Dissections. *Arch. Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg.* 2004, 130, 1369–1373, doi:10.1001/archotol.130.12.1369.
- Ferlito, A.; Rinaldo, A.; Silver, C.E.; Gourin, C.G.; Shah, J.P.; Clayman, G.L.; Kowalski, L.P.;
   Shaha, A.R.; Robbins, K.T.; Suárez, C.; et al. Elective and Therapeutic Selective Neck Dissection. Oral Oncol. 2006, 42, 14–25, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2005.03.009.
- Head and Neck Cancer: A Multidisciplinary Approach; Harrison, L.B., Sessions, R.B., Kies, M.S., Eds.; Fourth edition.; Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia, PA, 2014; ISBN 978-1-4511-4487-1.
- 60. Looser, K.G.; Shah, J.P.; Strong, E.W. The Significance of "Positive" Margins in Surgically Resected Epidermoid Carcinomas. *Head Neck Surg.* **1978**, *1*, 107–111, doi:10.1002/hed.2890010203.
- 61. Schoenfeld, G.O.; Amdur, R.J.; Morris, C.G.; Li, J.G.; Hinerman, R.W.; Mendenhall, W.M. Patterns of Failure and Toxicity after Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy for Head and Neck Cancer. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **2008**, *71*, 377–385, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.10.010.
- Bernier, J.; Cooper, J.S.; Pajak, T.F.; van Glabbeke, M.; Bourhis, J.; Forastiere, A.; Ozsahin, E.M.; Jacobs, J.R.; Jassem, J.; Ang, K.-K.; et al. Defining Risk Levels in Locally Advanced Head and Neck Cancers: A Comparative Analysis of Concurrent Postoperative Radiation plus Chemotherapy Trials of the EORTC (#22931) and RTOG (# 9501). *Head Neck* 2005, *27*, 843– 850, doi:10.1002/hed.20279.
- 63. Cooper, J.S.; Zhang, Q.; Pajak, T.F.; Forastiere, A.A.; Jacobs, J.; Saxman, S.B.; Kish, J.A.; Kim,
   H.E.; Cmelak, A.J.; Rotman, M.; et al. Long-Term Follow-up of the RTOG 9501/Intergroup
   Phase III Trial: Postoperative Concurrent Radiation Therapy and Chemotherapy in High-Risk

Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **2012**, *84*, 1198–1205, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.05.008.

- 64. Sher, D.J.; Adelstein, D.J.; Bajaj, G.K.; Brizel, D.M.; Cohen, E.E.W.; Halthore, A.; Harrison, L.B.; Lu, C.; Moeller, B.J.; Quon, H.; et al. Radiation Therapy for Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma: Executive Summary of an ASTRO Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline. *Pract. Radiat. Oncol.* **2017**, *7*, 246–253, doi:10.1016/j.prro.2017.02.002.
- 65. Thames, H.D.; Withers, H.R.; Peters, L.J.; Fletcher, G.H. Changes in Early and Late Radiation Responses with Altered Dose Fractionation: Implications for Dose-Survival Relationships. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **1982**, *8*, 219–226, doi:10.1016/0360-3016(82)90517-x.
- 66. Withers, H.R.; Taylor, J.M.; Maciejewski, B. The Hazard of Accelerated Tumor Clonogen Repopulation during Radiotherapy. *Acta Oncol. Stockh. Swed.* **1988**, *27*, 131–146, doi:10.3109/02841868809090333.
- 67. Schwaibold, F.; Scariato, A.; Nunno, M.; Wallner, P.E.; Lustig, R.A.; Rouby, E.; Gorshein, D.; Wenger, J. The Effect of Fraction Size on Control of Early Glottic Cancer. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **1988**, *14*, 451–454, doi:10.1016/0360-3016(88)90259-3.
- 68. Kim, R.Y.; Marks, M.E.; Salter, M.M. Early-Stage Glottic Cancer: Importance of Dose Fractionation in Radiation Therapy. *Radiology* **1992**, *182*, 273–275, doi:10.1148/radiology.182.1.1727295.
- 69. Ang, K.K.; Harris, J.; Wheeler, R.; Weber, R.; Rosenthal, D.I.; Nguyen-Tân, P.F.; Westra, W.H.; Chung, C.H.; Jordan, R.C.; Lu, C.; et al. Human Papillomavirus and Survival of Patients with Oropharyngeal Cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2010**, *363*, 24–35, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0912217.
- 70. Denis, F.; Garaud, P.; Bardet, E.; Alfonsi, M.; Sire, C.; Germain, T.; Bergerot, P.; Rhein, B.; Tortochaux, J.; Calais, G. Final Results of the 94-01 French Head and Neck Oncology and Radiotherapy Group Randomized Trial Comparing Radiotherapy Alone with Concomitant Radiochemotherapy in Advanced-Stage Oropharynx Carcinoma. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 2004, 22, 69–76, doi:10.1200/JCO.2004.08.021.
- Denis, F.; Garaud, P.; Bardet, E.; Alfonsi, M.; Sire, C.; Germain, T.; Bergerot, P.; Rhein, B.; Tortochaux, J.; Oudinot, P.; et al. Late Toxicity Results of the GORTEC 94-01 Randomized Trial Comparing Radiotherapy with Concomitant Radiochemotherapy for Advanced-Stage Oropharynx Carcinoma: Comparison of LENT/SOMA, RTOG/EORTC, and NCI-CTC Scoring Systems. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2003, *55*, 93–98, doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(02)03819-1.
- 72. Bourhis, J.; Calais, G.; Lapeyre, M.; Tortochaux, J.; Alfonsi, M.; Sire, C.; Bardet, E.; Rives, M.; Bergerot, P.; Rhein, B.; et al. Concomitant Radiochemotherapy or Accelerated Radiotherapy: Analysis of Two Randomized Trials of the French Head and Neck Cancer Group (GORTEC). *Semin. Oncol.* **2004**, *31*, 822–826, doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2004.09.002.
- Machtay, M.; Moughan, J.; Trotti, A.; Garden, A.S.; Weber, R.S.; Cooper, J.S.; Forastiere, A.; Ang, K.K. Factors Associated with Severe Late Toxicity after Concurrent Chemoradiation for Locally Advanced Head and Neck Cancer: An RTOG Analysis. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 2008, 26, 3582–3589, doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.14.8841.
- Hartford, A.C.; Palisca, M.G.; Eichler, T.J.; Beyer, D.C.; Devineni, V.R.; Ibbott, G.S.; Kavanagh, B.; Kent, J.S.; Rosenthal, S.A.; Schultz, C.J.; et al. American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology (ASTRO) and American College of Radiology (ACR) Practice Guidelines for Intensity-Modulated Radiation Therapy (IMRT). *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2009, *73*, 9–14, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2008.04.049.
- IMRT Documentation Working Group; Holmes, T.; Das, R.; Low, D.; Yin, F.-F.; Balter, J.; Palta, J.; Eifel, P.; FASTRO American Society of Radiation Oncology Recommendations for Documenting Intensity-Modulated Radiation Therapy Treatments. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2009, 74, 1311–1318, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2009.04.037.
- 76. Nutting, C.M.; Morden, J.P.; Harrington, K.J.; Urbano, T.G.; Bhide, S.A.; Clark, C.; Miles, E.A.; Miah, A.B.; Newbold, K.; Tanay, M.; et al. Parotid-Sparing Intensity Modulated versus Conventional Radiotherapy in Head and Neck Cancer (PARSPORT): A Phase 3 Multicentre

Randomised Controlled Trial. *Lancet Oncol.* **2011**, *12*, 127–136, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70290-4.

- 77. Dogan, N.; King, S.; Emami, B.; Mohideen, N.; Mirkovic, N.; Leybovich, L.B.; Sethi, A. Assessment of Different IMRT Boost Delivery Methods on Target Coverage and Normal-Tissue Sparing. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **2003**, *57*, 1480–1491, doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(03)01569-4.
- Moon, S.H.; Cho, K.H.; Lee, C.-G.; Keum, K.C.; Kim, Y.-S.; Wu, H.-G.; Kim, J.H.; Ahn, Y.C.; Oh, D.; Lee, J.H. IMRT vs. 2D-Radiotherapy or 3D-Conformal Radiotherapy of Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma : Survival Outcome in a Korean Multi-Institutional Retrospective Study (KROG 11-06). *Strahlenther. Onkol. Organ Dtsch. Rontgengesellschaft Al* 2016, *192*, 377–385, doi:10.1007/s00066-016-0959-y.
- 79. Vergeer, M.R.; Doornaert, P.A.H.; Rietveld, D.H.F.; Leemans, C.R.; Slotman, B.J.; Langendijk, J.A. Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy Reduces Radiation-Induced Morbidity and Improves Health-Related Quality of Life: Results of a Nonrandomized Prospective Study Using a Standardized Follow-up Program. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2009, 74, 1–8, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2008.07.059.
- Pow, E.H.N.; Kwong, D.L.W.; McMillan, A.S.; Wong, M.C.M.; Sham, J.S.T.; Leung, L.H.T.; Leung, W.K. Xerostomia and Quality of Life after Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy vs. Conventional Radiotherapy for Early-Stage Nasopharyngeal Carcinoma: Initial Report on a Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2006, *66*, 981–991, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2006.06.013.
- Scarantino, C.; LeVeque, F.; Swann, R.S.; White, R.; Schulsinger, A.; Hodson, D.I.; Meredith, R.; Foote, R.; Brachman, D.; Lee, N. Effect of Pilocarpine during Radiation Therapy: Results of RTOG 97-09, a Phase III Randomized Study in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. J. Support. Oncol. 2006, 4, 252–258.
- 82. Petrone, D.; Condemi, J.J.; Fife, R.; Gluck, O.; Cohen, S.; Dalgin, P. A Double-Blind, Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Study of Cevimeline in Sjögren's Syndrome Patients with Xerostomia and Keratoconjunctivitis Sicca. *Arthritis Rheum.* **2002**, *46*, 748–754, doi:10.1002/art.510.
- 83. Chi, A.; Nguyen, N.P.; Tse, W.; Sobremonte, G.; Concannon, P.; Zhu, A. Intensity Modulated Radiotherapy for Sinonasal Malignancies with a Focus on Optic Pathway Preservation. *J. Hematol. Oncol.J Hematol Oncol* **2013**, *6*, 4, doi:10.1186/1756-8722-6-4.
- 84. Eisbruch, A.; Levendag, P.C.; Feng, F.Y.; Teguh, D.; Lyden, T.; Schmitz, P.I.M.; Haxer, M.; Noever, I.; Chepeha, D.B.; Heijmen, B.J. Can IMRT or Brachytherapy Reduce Dysphagia Associated with Chemoradiotherapy of Head and Neck Cancer? The Michigan and Rotterdam Experiences. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2007, *69*, S40-42, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.04.083.
- 85. Eisbruch, A. Reducing Xerostomia by IMRT: What May, and May Not, Be Achieved. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. **2007**, 25, 4863–4864, doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.13.4874.
- Nutting, C.M.; Morden, J.P.; Beasley, M.; Bhide, S.; Cook, A.; De Winton, E.; Emson, M.; Evans, M.; Fresco, L.; Gollins, S.; et al. Results of a Multicentre Randomised Controlled Trial of Cochlear-Sparing Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy versus Conventional Radiotherapy in Patients with Parotid Cancer (COSTAR; CRUK/08/004). *Eur. J. Cancer Oxf. Engl. 1990* 2018, 103, 249–258, doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2018.08.006.
- Beadle, B.M.; Liao, K.-P.; Giordano, S.H.; Garden, A.S.; Hutcheson, K.A.; Lai, S.Y.; Guadagnolo, B.A. Reduced Feeding Tube Duration with Intensity-Modulated Radiation Therapy for Head and Neck Cancer: A Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results-Medicare Analysis. *Cancer* 2017, 123, 283–293, doi:10.1002/cncr.30350.
- Allen, A.M.; Pawlicki, T.; Dong, L.; Fourkal, E.; Buyyounouski, M.; Cengel, K.; Plastaras, J.; Bucci, M.K.; Yock, T.I.; Bonilla, L.; et al. An Evidence Based Review of Proton Beam Therapy: The Report of ASTRO's Emerging Technology Committee. *Radiother. Oncol. J. Eur. Soc. Ther. Radiol. Oncol.* 2012, 103, 8–11, doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2012.02.001.

- Fukumitsu, N.; Okumura, T.; Mizumoto, M.; Oshiro, Y.; Hashimoto, T.; Kanemoto, A.; Hashii, H.; Ohkawa, A.; Moritake, T.; Tsuboi, K.; et al. Outcome of T4 (International Union Against Cancer Staging System, 7th Edition) or Recurrent Nasal Cavity and Paranasal Sinus Carcinoma Treated with Proton Beam. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2012, *83*, 704–711, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.07.032.
- 90. Holliday, E.B.; Frank, S.J. Proton Radiation Therapy for Head and Neck Cancer: A Review of the Clinical Experience to Date. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **2014**, *89*, 292–302, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.02.029.
- 91. Fan, M.; Kang, J.J.; Lee, A.; Fan, D.; Wang, H.; Kitpanit, S.; Fox, P.; Sine, K.; Mah, D.; McBride, S.M.; et al. Outcomes and Toxicities of Definitive Radiotherapy and Reirradiation Using 3-Dimensional Conformal or Intensity-Modulated (Pencil Beam) Proton Therapy for Patients with Nasal Cavity and Paranasal Sinus Malignancies. *Cancer* 2020, 126, 1905–1916, doi:10.1002/cncr.32776.
- 92. Santoni, R.; Liebsch, N.; Finkelstein, D.M.; Hug, E.; Hanssens, P.; Goitein, M.; Smith, A.R.; O'Farrell, D.; Efird, J.T.; Fullerton, B.; et al. Temporal Lobe (TL) Damage Following Surgery and High-Dose Photon and Proton Irradiation in 96 Patients Affected by Chordomas and Chondrosarcomas of the Base of the Skull. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **1998**, *41*, 59–68, doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(98)00031-5.
- 93. Munzenrider, J.E.; Liebsch, N.J. Proton Therapy for Tumors of the Skull Base. *Strahlenther. Onkol. Organ Dtsch. Rontgengesellschaft Al* **1999**, *175 Suppl 2*, 57–63, doi:10.1007/BF03038890.
- 94. Colevas, A.D.; Read, R.; Thornhill, J.; Adak, S.; Tishler, R.; Busse, P.; Li, Y.; Posner, M. Hypothyroidism Incidence after Multimodality Treatment for Stage III and IV Squamous Cell Carcinomas of the Head and Neck. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2001, *51*, 599–604, doi:10.1016/s0360-3016(01)01688-1.
- 95. Tell, R.; Lundell, G.; Nilsson, B.; Sjödin, H.; Lewin, F.; Lewensohn, R. Long-Term Incidence of Hypothyroidism after Radiotherapy in Patients with Head-and-Neck Cancer. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **2004**, *60*, 395–400, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2004.03.020.
- 96. Posner, M.R.; Ervin, T.J.; Miller, D.; Fabian, R.L.; Norris, C.M.; Weichselbaum, R.R.; Rose, C. Incidence of Hypothyroidism Following Multimodality Treatment for Advanced Squamous Cell Cancer of the Head and Neck. *The Laryngoscope* **1984**, *94*, 451–454, doi:10.1288/00005537-198404000-00002.
- Adelstein, D.J.; Li, Y.; Adams, G.L.; Wagner, H.; Kish, J.A.; Ensley, J.F.; Schuller, D.E.; Forastiere, A.A. An Intergroup Phase III Comparison of Standard Radiation Therapy and Two Schedules of Concurrent Chemoradiotherapy in Patients with Unresectable Squamous Cell Head and Neck Cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 2003, 21, 92–98, doi:10.1200/JCO.2003.01.008.
- 98. Noronha, V.; Joshi, A.; Patil, V.M.; Agarwal, J.; Ghosh-Laskar, S.; Budrukkar, A.; Murthy, V.; Gupta, T.; D'Cruz, A.K.; Banavali, S.; et al. Once-a-Week Versus Once-Every-3-Weeks Cisplatin Chemoradiation for Locally Advanced Head and Neck Cancer: A Phase III Randomized Noninferiority Trial. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 2018, 36, 1064–1072, doi:10.1200/JCO.2017.74.9457.
- 99. Zhu, X.; Zhang, F.; Zhang, W.; He, J.; Zhao, Y.; Chen, X. Prognostic Role of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor in Head and Neck Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *J. Surg. Oncol.* **2013**, *108*, 387– 397, doi:10.1002/jso.23406.
- 100. Bonner, J.A.; Harari, P.M.; Giralt, J.; Azarnia, N.; Shin, D.M.; Cohen, R.B.; Jones, C.U.; Sur, R.; Raben, D.; Jassem, J.; et al. Radiotherapy plus Cetuximab for Squamous-Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2006**, *354*, 567–578, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa053422.
- 101. Hanna, G.J.; Haddad, R.I.; Lorch, J.H. Induction Chemotherapy for Locoregionally Advanced Head and Neck Cancer: Past, Present, Future? *The Oncologist* **2013**, *18*, 288–293, doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2012-0286.

- Machtay, M.; Moughan, J.; Farach, A.; Martin-O'Meara, E.; Galvin, J.; Garden, A.S.; Weber, R.S.; Cooper, J.S.; Forastiere, A.; Ang, K.K. Hypopharyngeal Dose Is Associated with Severe Late Toxicity in Locally Advanced Head-and-Neck Cancer: An RTOG Analysis. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 2012, *84*, 983–989, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.03.005.
- 103. Blanchard, P.; Bourhis, J.; Lacas, B.; Posner, M.R.; Vermorken, J.B.; Cruz Hernandez, J.J.; Bourredjem, A.; Calais, G.; Paccagnella, A.; Hitt, R.; et al. Taxane-Cisplatin-Fluorouracil as Induction Chemotherapy in Locally Advanced Head and Neck Cancers: An Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis of the Meta-Analysis of Chemotherapy in Head and Neck Cancer Group. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 2013, 31, 2854–2860, doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7802.
- 104. Dietz, A.; Wichmann, G.; Kuhnt, T.; Pfreundner, L.; Hagen, R.; Scheich, M.; Kölbl, O.; Hautmann, M.G.; Strutz, J.; Schreiber, F.; et al. Induction Chemotherapy (IC) Followed by Radiotherapy (RT) versus Cetuximab plus IC and RT in Advanced Laryngeal/Hypopharyngeal Cancer Resectable Only by Total Laryngectomy-Final Results of the Larynx Organ Preservation Trial DeLOS-II. Ann. Oncol. Off. J. Eur. Soc. Med. Oncol. 2018, 29, 2105–2114, doi:10.1093/annonc/mdy332.
- 105. Specenier, P.M.; Remenar, E.; Buter, J.; Schrijvers, D.L.; Bergamini, C.; Licitra, L.F.; Awada, A.; Clement, P.M.; Fortpied, C.; Menis, J.; et al. TPF plus Cetuximab Induction Chemotherapy Followed by Biochemoradiation with Weekly Cetuximab plus Weekly Cisplatin or Carboplatin: A Randomized Phase II EORTC Trial. Ann. Oncol. Off. J. Eur. Soc. Med. Oncol. 2017, 28, 2219– 2224, doi:10.1093/annonc/mdx300.
- 106. Department of Veterans Affairs Laryngeal Cancer Study Group; Wolf, G.T.; Fisher, S.G.; Hong, W.K.; Hillman, R.; Spaulding, M.; Laramore, G.E.; Endicott, J.W.; McClatchey, K.; Henderson, W.G. Induction Chemotherapy plus Radiation Compared with Surgery plus Radiation in Patients with Advanced Laryngeal Cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1991**, *324*, 1685–1690, doi:10.1056/NEJM199106133242402.
- 107. Forastiere, A.A.; Goepfert, H.; Maor, M.; Pajak, T.F.; Weber, R.; Morrison, W.; Glisson, B.; Trotti, A.; Ridge, J.A.; Chao, C.; et al. Concurrent Chemotherapy and Radiotherapy for Organ Preservation in Advanced Laryngeal Cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2003**, *349*, 2091–2098, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa031317.
- 108. Forastiere, A.A.; Zhang, Q.; Weber, R.S.; Maor, M.H.; Goepfert, H.; Pajak, T.F.; Morrison, W.; Glisson, B.; Trotti, A.; Ridge, J.A.; et al. Long-Term Results of RTOG 91-11: A Comparison of Three Nonsurgical Treatment Strategies to Preserve the Larynx in Patients with Locally Advanced Larynx Cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 2013, 31, 845–852, doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.43.6097.
- Ehrsson, Y.T.; Langius-Eklöf, A.; Laurell, G. Nutritional Surveillance and Weight Loss in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Support. Care Cancer Off. J. Multinatl. Assoc. Support. Care Cancer* 2012, 20, 757–765, doi:10.1007/s00520-011-1146-4.
- 110. Locher, J.L.; Bonner, J.A.; Carroll, W.R.; Caudell, J.J.; Keith, J.N.; Kilgore, M.L.; Ritchie, C.S.; Roth, D.L.; Tajeu, G.S.; Allison, J.J. Prophylactic Percutaneous Endoscopic Gastrostomy Tube Placement in Treatment of Head and Neck Cancer: A Comprehensive Review and Call for Evidence-Based Medicine. *JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* **2011**, *35*, 365–374, doi:10.1177/0148607110377097.
- 111. Koyfman, S.A.; Adelstein, D.J. Enteral Feeding Tubes in Patients Undergoing Definitive Chemoradiation Therapy for Head-and-Neck Cancer: A Critical Review. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* **2012**, *84*, 581–589, doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.03.053.
- Talwar, B.; Donnelly, R.; Skelly, R.; Donaldson, M. Nutritional Management in Head and Neck Cancer: United Kingdom National Multidisciplinary Guidelines. J. Laryngol. Otol. 2016, 130, S32–S40, doi:10.1017/S0022215116000402.
- Sachdev, S.; Refaat, T.; Bacchus, I.D.; Sathiaseelan, V.; Mittal, B.B. Age Most Significant Predictor of Requiring Enteral Feeding in Head-and-Neck Cancer Patients. *Radiat. Oncol. Lond. Engl.* 2015, 10, 93, doi:10.1186/s13014-015-0408-6.

- 114. Epstein, J.B.; Thariat, J.; Bensadoun, R.-J.; Barasch, A.; Murphy, B.A.; Kolnick, L.; Popplewell, L.; Maghami, E. Oral Complications of Cancer and Cancer Therapy: From Cancer Treatment to Survivorship. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* **2012**, *62*, 400–422, doi:10.3322/caac.21157.
- 115. Sio, T.T.; Le-Rademacher, J.G.; Leenstra, J.L.; Loprinzi, C.L.; Rine, G.; Curtis, A.; Singh, A.K.; Martenson, J.A.; Novotny, P.J.; Tan, A.D.; et al. Effect of Doxepin Mouthwash or Diphenhydramine-Lidocaine-Antacid Mouthwash vs Placebo on Radiotherapy-Related Oral Mucositis Pain: The Alliance A221304 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2019, 321, 1481–1490, doi:10.1001/jama.2019.3504.
- 116. Roe, J.W.G.; Carding, P.N.; Rhys-Evans, P.H.; Newbold, K.L.; Harrington, K.J.; Nutting, C.M. Assessment and Management of Dysphagia in Patients with Head and Neck Cancer Who Receive Radiotherapy in the United Kingdom a Web-Based Survey. *Oral Oncol.* **2012**, *48*, 343–348, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2011.11.003.
- 117. Russi, E.G.; Corvò, R.; Merlotti, A.; Alterio, D.; Franco, P.; Pergolizzi, S.; De Sanctis, V.; Ruo Redda, M.G.; Ricardi, U.; Paiar, F.; et al. Swallowing Dysfunction in Head and Neck Cancer Patients Treated by Radiotherapy: Review and Recommendations of the Supportive Task Group of the Italian Association of Radiation Oncology. *Cancer Treat. Rev.* 2012, 38, 1033–1049, doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2012.04.002.
- 118. Cnossen, I.C.; de Bree, R.; Rinkel, R.N.P.M.; Eerenstein, S.E.J.; Rietveld, D.H.F.; Doornaert, P.; Buter, J.; Langendijk, J.A.; Leemans, C.R.; Verdonck-de Leeuw, I.M. Computerized Monitoring of Patient-Reported Speech and Swallowing Problems in Head and Neck Cancer Patients in Clinical Practice. *Support. Care Cancer Off. J. Multinatl. Assoc. Support. Care Cancer* 2012, 20, 2925–2931, doi:10.1007/s00520-012-1422-y.
- 119. Bressan, V.; Bagnasco, A.; Aleo, G.; Catania, G.; Zanini, M.P.; Timmins, F.; Sasso, L. The Life Experience of Nutrition Impact Symptoms during Treatment for Head and Neck Cancer Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Synthesis. *Support. Care Cancer Off. J. Multinatl. Assoc. Support. Care Cancer* **2017**, *25*, 1699–1712, doi:10.1007/s00520-017-3618-7.
- 120. Walker, M.P.; Wichman, B.; Cheng, A.-L.; Coster, J.; Williams, K.B. Impact of Radiotherapy Dose on Dentition Breakdown in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Pract. Radiat. Oncol.* **2011**, *1*, 142–148, doi:10.1016/j.prro.2011.03.003.
- 121. Duarte, V.M.; Liu, Y.F.; Rafizadeh, S.; Tajima, T.; Nabili, V.; Wang, M.B. Comparison of Dental Health of Patients with Head and Neck Cancer Receiving IMRT vs Conventional Radiation. Otolaryngol.--Head Neck Surg. Off. J. Am. Acad. Otolaryngol.-Head Neck Surg. 2014, 150, 81– 86, doi:10.1177/0194599813509586.
- 122. Murdoch-Kinch, C.A.; Zwetchkenbaum, S. Dental Management of the Head and Neck Cancer Patient Treated with Radiation Therapy. *J. Mich. Dent. Assoc.* **2011**, *93*, 28–37.
- 123. Studer, G.; Glanzmann, C.; Studer, S.P.; Grätz, K.W.; Bredell, M.; Locher, M.; Lütolf, U.M.; Zwahlen, R.A. Risk-Adapted Dental Care Prior to Intensity-Modulated Radiotherapy (IMRT). Schweiz. Monatsschrift Zahnmed. Rev. Mens. Suisse Odonto-Stomatol. Riv. Mens. Svizzera Odontol. E Stomatol. 2011, 121, 216–229.
- 124. Schiødt, M.; Hermund, N.U. Management of Oral Disease Prior to Radiation Therapy. *Support. Care Cancer Off. J. Multinatl. Assoc. Support. Care Cancer* **2002**, *10*, 40–43, doi:10.1007/s005200100284.
- 125. Jensen, S.B.; Pedersen, A.M.L.; Vissink, A.; Andersen, E.; Brown, C.G.; Davies, A.N.; Dutilh, J.; Fulton, J.S.; Jankovic, L.; Lopes, N.N.F.; et al. A Systematic Review of Salivary Gland Hypofunction and Xerostomia Induced by Cancer Therapies: Management Strategies and Economic Impact. Support. Care Cancer Off. J. Multinatl. Assoc. Support. Care Cancer 2010, 18, 1061–1079, doi:10.1007/s00520-010-0837-6.
- 126. Gorsky, M.; Epstein, J.B.; Parry, J.; Epstein, M.S.; Le, N.D.; Silverman, S. The Efficacy of Pilocarpine and Bethanechol upon Saliva Production in Cancer Patients with Hyposalivation Following Radiation Therapy. Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol. Oral Radiol. Endod. 2004, 97, 190–195, doi:10.1016/j.tripleo.2003.08.031.

- 127. Thariat, J.; Ramus, L.; Darcourt, V.; Marcy, P.-Y.; Guevara, N.; Odin, G.; Poissonnet, G.; Castillo, L.; Ali, A.M.; Righini, C. Compliance with Fluoride Custom Trays in Irradiated Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Support. Care Cancer Off. J. Multinatl. Assoc. Support. Care Cancer* **2012**, *20*, 1811–1814, doi:10.1007/s00520-011-1279-5.
- 128. Sohn, H.-O.; Park, E.-Y.; Jung, Y.-S.; Lee, E.-K.; Kim, E.-K. Effects of Professional Oral Hygiene Care in Patients with Head-and-Neck Cancer during Radiotherapy: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Indian J. Dent. Res. Off. Publ. Indian Soc. Dent. Res.* **2018**, *29*, 700–704, doi:10.4103/ijdr.IJDR\_226\_17.
- 129. Teguh, D.N.; Levendag, P.C.; Voet, P.; van der Est, H.; Noever, I.; de Kruijf, W.; van Rooij, P.; Schmitz, P.I.M.; Heijmen, B.J. Trismus in Patients with Oropharyngeal Cancer: Relationship with Dose in Structures of Mastication Apparatus. *Head Neck* 2008, 30, 622–630, doi:10.1002/hed.20760.
- 130. Shulman, D.H.; Shipman, B.; Willis, F.B. Treating Trismus with Dynamic Splinting: A Case Report. *J. Oral Sci.* **2009**, *51*, 141–144, doi:10.2334/josnusd.51.141.
- Singh, M.L.; Papas, A.S. Long-Term Clinical Observation of Dental Caries in Salivary Hypofunction Patients Using a Supersaturated Calcium-Phosphate Remineralizing Rinse. J. Clin. Dent. 2009, 20, 87–92.
- 132. Patel, S.G.; Amit, M.; Yen, T.C.; Liao, C.T.; Chaturvedi, P.; Agarwal, J.P.; Kowalski, L.P.; Ebrahimi, A.; Clark, J.R.; Cernea, C.R.; et al. Lymph Node Density in Oral Cavity Cancer: Results of the International Consortium for Outcomes Research. *Br. J. Cancer* **2013**, *109*, 2087–2095, doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.570.
- 133. Kim, S.Y.; Nam, S.Y.; Choi, S.-H.; Cho, K.-J.; Roh, J.-L. Prognostic Value of Lymph Node Density in Node-Positive Patients with Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* **2011**, *18*, 2310–2317, doi:10.1245/s10434-011-1614-6.
- Friedman, M.; Lim, J.W.; Dickey, W.; Tanyeri, H.; Kirshenbaum, G.L.; Phadke, D.M.; Caldarelli, D. Quantification of Lymph Nodes in Selective Neck Dissection. *The Laryngoscope* 1999, 109, 368–370, doi:10.1097/00005537-199903000-00005.
- 135. Huang, T.H.; Li, K.Y.; Choi, W.S. Lymph Node Ratio as Prognostic Variable in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinomas: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Oral Oncol.* **2019**, *89*, 133–143, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2018.12.032.
- 136. Shrime, M.G.; Bachar, G.; Lea, J.; Volling, C.; Ma, C.; Gullane, P.J.; Gilbert, R.W.; Irish, J.C.; Brown, D.H.; Goldstein, D.P. Nodal Ratio as an Independent Predictor of Survival in Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Oral Cavity. *Head Neck* **2009**, *31*, 1482–1488, doi:10.1002/hed.21114.
- 137. Zhang, M.-R.; Xie, T.-H.; Chi, J.-L.; Li, Y.; Yang, L.; Yu, Y.-Y.; Sun, X.-F.; Zhou, Z.-G. Prognostic Role of the Lymph Node Ratio in Node Positive Colorectal Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. *Oncotarget* 2016, 7, 72898–72907, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.12131.
- 138. Ceelen, W.; Van Nieuwenhove, Y.; Pattyn, P. Prognostic Value of the Lymph Node Ratio in Stage III Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* **2010**, *17*, 2847–2855, doi:10.1245/s10434-010-1158-1.
- 139. Liu, D.; Chen, Y.; Deng, M.; Xie, G.; Wang, J.; Zhang, L.; Liu, Q.; Yuan, P.; Feng, X. Lymph Node Ratio and Breast Cancer Prognosis: A Meta-Analysis. *Breast Cancer* **2014**, *21*, 1–9, doi:10.1007/s12282-013-0497-8.
- 140. Liberati, A.; Altman, D.G.; Tetzlaff, J.; Mulrow, C.; Gøtzsche, P.C.; Ioannidis, J.P.A.; Clarke, M.; Devereaux, P.J.; Kleijnen, J.; Moher, D. The PRISMA Statement for Reporting Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses of Studies That Evaluate Health Care Interventions: Explanation and Elaboration. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 2009, 62, e1–e34, doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006.
- 141. Kim, K.-Y.; Zhang, X.; Kim, S.-M.; Lee, B.-D.; Cha, I.-H. A Combined Prognostic Factor for Improved Risk Stratification of Patients with Oral Cancer. *Oral Dis.* **2017**, *23*, 91–96, doi:10.1111/odi.12579.
- 142. Wells, G.; Wells, G.; Shea, B.; Shea, B.; O'Connell, D.; Peterson, J.; Welch; Losos, M.; Tugwell, P.; Ga, S.W.; et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analyses. *undefined* 2014.

- 143. Adel, M.; Tsao, C.-K.; Wei, F.-C.; Chien, H.-T.; Lai, C.-H.; Liao, C.-T.; Wang, H.-M.; Fan, K.-H.; Kang, C.-J.; Chang, J.T.-C.; et al. Preoperative SCC Antigen, CRP Serum Levels, and Lymph Node Density in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Medicine (Baltimore)* **2016**, *95*, e3149, doi:10.1097/MD.00000000003149.
- 144. Amar, A.; Rapoport, A.; Curioni, O.A.; Dedivitis, R.A.; Cernea, C.R.; Brandão, L.G. A Densidade Do Linfonodo Metastático Como Fator Prognóstico No Carcinoma Espinocelular Da Língua e Soalho Bucal. *Braz. J. Otorhinolaryngol.* **2012**, *78*, 86–90, doi:10.1590/S1808-86942012000300015.
- 145. Chen, C.-C.; Lin, J.-C.; Chen, K.-W. Lymph Node Ratio as a Prognostic Factor in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. *Radiat. Oncol.* **2015**, *10*, 181, doi:10.1186/s13014-015-0490-9.
- 146. Faisal, M.; Dhanani, R.; Ullah, S.; Bakar, M.A.; Irfan, N.; Malik, K.I.; Loya, A.; Boban, E.M.; Hussain, R.; Jamshed, A. Prognostic Outcomes of Treatment Naïve Oral Tongue Squamous Cell Carcinoma (OTSCC): A Comprehensive Analysis of 14 Years. *Eur. Arch. Otorhinolaryngol.* 2021, 278, 3045–3053, doi:10.1007/s00405-020-06482-x.
- 147. Feng, Z.; Xu, Q.S.; Wang, C.; Li, J.Z.; Mao, M.H.; Li, H.; Qin, L.Z.; Han, Z. Lymph Node Ratio Is Associated with Adverse Clinicopathological Features and Is a Crucial Nodal Parameter for Oral and Oropharyngeal Cancer. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 6708, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-07134-7.
- 148. Hingsammer, L.; Seier, T.; Ikenberg, J.; Schumann, P.; Zweifel, D.; Rücker, M.; Bredell, M.; Lanzer, M. The Influence of Lymph Node Ratio on Survival and Disease Recurrence in Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Tongue. *Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* **2019**, *48*, 851–856, doi:10.1016/j.ijom.2019.01.008.
- 149. Iocca, O.; Di Maio, P.; De Virgilio, A.; Pellini, R.; Golusiński, P.; Petruzzi, G.; Zocchi, J.; Pirola, F.; Janczak, R.; Golusiński, W.; et al. Lymph Node Yield and Lymph Node Ratio in Oral Cavity and Oropharyngeal Carcinoma: Preliminary Results from a Prospective, Multicenter, International Cohort. *Oral Oncol.* **2020**, *107*, 104740, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2020.104740.
- 150. Kim, K.-Y.; Cha, I.-H. Risk Stratification of Oral Cancer Patients Using a Combined Prognostic Factor Including Lymph Node Density and Biomarker. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 2012, 138, 483–490, doi:10.1007/s00432-011-1129-3.
- 151. Liao, C.-T.; Hsueh, C.; Lee, L.-Y.; Lin, C.-Y.; Fan, K.-H.; Wang, H.-M.; Huang, S.-F.; Chen, I.-H.; Kang, C.-J.; Ng, S.-H.; et al. Neck Dissection Field and Lymph Node Density Predict Prognosis in Patients with Oral Cavity Cancer and Pathological Node Metastases Treated with Adjuvant Therapy. Oral Oncol. 2012, 48, 329–336, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2011.10.017.
- 152. Mascitti, M.; Rubini, C.; De Michele, F.; Balercia, P.; Girotto, R.; Troiano, G.; Lo Muzio, L.; Santarelli, A. American Joint Committee on Cancer Staging System 7th Edition versus 8th Edition: Any Improvement for Patients with Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Tongue? Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol. Oral Radiol. 2018, 126, 415–423, doi:10.1016/j.oooo.2018.07.052.
- 153. Noble, A.R.; Greskovich, J.F.; Han, J.; Reddy, C.A.; Nwizu, T.I.; Khan, M.F.; Scharpf, J.; Adelstein, D.J.; Burkey, B.B.; Koyfman, S.A. Risk Factors Associated with Disease Recurrence in Patients with Stage III/IV Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Oral Cavity Treated with Surgery and Postoperative Radiotherapy. *Anticancer Res.* 2016, *36*, 785–792.
- 154. Roberts, T.J.; Colevas, A.D.; Hara, W.; Holsinger, F.C.; Oakley-Girvan, I.; Divi, V. Number of Positive Nodes Is Superior to the Lymph Node Ratio and American Joint Committee on Cancer N Staging for the Prognosis of Surgically Treated Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinomas: Lymph Node Prognostics for HNSCC. *Cancer* **2016**, *122*, 1388–1397, doi:10.1002/cncr.29932.
- 155. Safi, A.-F.; Grandoch, A.; Nickenig, H.-J.; Zöller, J.E.; Kreppel, M. Importance of Lymph Node Ratio for Locoregional Recurrence of Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Buccal Mucosa. *Head Neck* **2017**, *39*, 2488–2493, doi:10.1002/hed.24922.
- 156. Safi, A.-F.; Grandoch, A.; Nickenig, H.-J.; Zöller, J.E.; Kreppel, M. The Importance of Lymph Node Ratio for Locoregional Recurrence of Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Tongue. *J. Cranio-Maxillofac. Surg.* **2017**, *45*, 1058–1061, doi:10.1016/j.jcms.2017.04.008.

- Safi, A.-F.; Kauke, M.; Grandoch, A.; Nickenig, H.-J.; Zöller, J.; Kreppel, M. The Importance of Lymph Node Ratio for Patients with Mandibular Infiltration of Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J. Cranio-Maxillo-fac. Surg. Off. Publ. Eur. Assoc. Cranio-Maxillo-fac. Surg. 2018, 46, 1007– 1012, doi:10.1016/j.jcms.2018.03.021.
- Sayed, S.I.; Sharma, S.; Rane, P.; Vaishampayan, S.; Talole, S.; Chaturvedi, P.; Chaukar, D.; Deshmukh, A.; Agarwal, J.P.; D'cruz, A.K. Can Metastatic Lymph Node Ratio (LNR) Predict Survival in Oral Cavity Cancer Patients?: Can Metastatic LNR Predict Survival. *J. Surg. Oncol.* 2013, 108, 256–263, doi:10.1002/jso.23387.
- 159. Shrime, M.G.; Ma, C.; Gullane, P.J.; Gilbert, R.W.; Irish, J.C.; Brown, D.H.; Goldstein, D.P. Impact of Nodal Ratio on Survival in Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Oral Cavity. *Head Neck* 2009, *31*, 1129–1136, doi:10.1002/hed.21073.
- 160. Troeltzsch, M.; Haidari, S.; Boser, S.; Troeltzsch, M.; Probst, F.A.; Ehrenfeld, M.; Otto, S. What Factors Are Associated With Regional Recurrence After Operative Treatment of Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma? *J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* 2018, *76*, 2650–2659, doi:10.1016/j.joms.2018.07.005.
- 161. Zirk, M.; Safi, A.-F.; Buller, J.; Nickenig, H.-J.; Dreiseidler, T.; Zinser, M.; Drebber, U.; Zöller, J.E.; Kreppel, M. Lymph Node Ratio as Prognosticator in Floor of Mouth Squamous Cell Carcinoma Patients. J. Cranio-Maxillo-fac. Surg. Off. Publ. Eur. Assoc. Cranio-Maxillo-fac. Surg. 2018, 46, 195–200, doi:10.1016/j.jcms.2017.11.021.
- 162. Bharath, V.M.; Balagopal, P.G.; Nebu, A.G.; Jayasudha, A.V.; Iqbal Ahmed, M.; Sebastian, P. Can Metastatic Lymph Node Ratio Be Used as an Independent Prognostic Factor in Carcinoma Tongue? *Gulf J. Oncolog.* 2018, 1, 6–10.
- Son, H.-J.; Roh, J.-L.; Cho, K.-J.; Choi, S.-H.; Nam, S.Y.; Kim, S.Y. Nodal Factors Predictive of Recurrence and Survival in Patients with Oral Cavity Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Clin. Otolaryngol. Off. J. ENT-UK Off. J. Neth. Soc. Oto-Rhino-Laryngol. Cervico-Facial Surg.* 2018, 43, 470–476, doi:10.1111/coa.12995.
- 164. Suzuki, H.; Beppu, S.; Hanai, N.; Hirakawa, H.; Hasegawa, Y. Lymph Node Density Predicts Lung Metastases in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Br. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* **2016**, *54*, 213–218, doi:10.1016/j.bjoms.2015.11.002.
- Iftikhar, H.; Rozi, S.; Zahid, N.; Awan, M.S.; Nathani, K.R. Lymph Node Ratio as a Prognostic Marker of Oral Tongue Squamous Cell Carcinoma: A Cohort Study. *Ann. R. Coll. Surg. Engl.* 2020, 102, 726–732, doi:10.1308/rcsann.2020.0173.
- 166. Lieng, H.; Gebski, V.J.; Morgan, G.J.; Veness, M.J. Important Prognostic Significance of Lymph Node Density in Patients with Node Positive Oral Tongue Cancer. ANZ J. Surg. 2016, 86, 681– 686, doi:10.1111/ans.13512.
- 167. Ong, W.; Zhao, R.; Lui, B.; Tan, W.; Ebrahimi, A.; Clark, J.R.; Soo, K.-C.; Tan, N.-C.; Tan, H.-K.; Iyer, N.G. Prognostic Significance of Lymph Node Density in Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Tongue. *Head Neck* **2016**, *38 Suppl 1*, E859-866, doi:10.1002/hed.24113.
- 168. Chow, T.-L.; Kwan, W.W.Y.; Fung, S.-C.; Ho, L.-I. Prognostic Value of Lymph Node Density in Buccal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Am. J. Otolaryngol.* 2017, *38*, 529–532, doi:10.1016/j.amjoto.2017.05.001.
- 169. Agarwal, J.P.; Kane, S.; Ghosh-Laskar, S.; Pilar, A.; Manik, V.; Oza, N.; Wagle, P.; Gupta, T.; Budrukkar, A.; Murthy, V.; et al. Extranodal Extension in Resected Oral Cavity Squamous Cell Carcinoma: More to It than Meets the Eye. *The Laryngoscope* **2019**, *129*, 1130–1136, doi:10.1002/lary.27508.
- Arun, I.; Maity, N.; Hameed, S.; Jain, P.V.; Manikantan, K.; Sharan, R.; Arun, P. Lymph Node Characteristics and Their Prognostic Significance in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Head Neck* 2021, 43, 520–533, doi:10.1002/hed.26499.
- 171. Künzel, J.; Mantsopoulos, K.; Psychogios, G.; Grundtner, P.; Koch, M.; Iro, H. Lymph Node Ratio as a Valuable Additional Predictor of Outcome in Selected Patients with Oral Cavity Cancer. *Oral Surg. Oral Med. Oral Pathol. Oral Radiol.* **2014**, *117*, 677–684, doi:10.1016/j.oooo.2014.02.032.

- 172. Spoerl, S.; Gerken, M.; Mamilos, A.; Fischer, R.; Wolf, S.; Nieberle, F.; Klingelhöffer, C.; Meier, J.K.; Spoerl, S.; Ettl, T.; et al. Lymph Node Ratio as a Predictor for Outcome in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma: A Multicenter Population-Based Cohort Study. *Clin. Oral Investig.* 2021, 25, 1705–1713, doi:10.1007/s00784-020-03471-6.
- 173. Urban, D.; Gluck, I.; Pfeffer, M.R.; Symon, Z.; Lawrence, Y.R. Lymph Node Ratio Predicts the Benefit of Post-Operative Radiotherapy in Oral Cavity Cancer. *Radiother. Oncol. J. Eur. Soc. Ther. Radiol. Oncol.* **2013**, *106*, 74–79, doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2012.09.022.
- 174. Chang, W.-C.; Lin, C.-S.; Yang, C.-Y.; Lin, C.-K.; Chen, Y.-W. Lymph Node Density as a Prognostic Predictor in Patients with Betel Nut-Related Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Clin. Oral Investig.* 2018, *22*, 1513–1521, doi:10.1007/s00784-017-2247-3.
- 175. Ding, D.; Stokes, W.; Eguchi, M.; Hararah, M.; Sumner, W.; Amini, A.; Goddard, J.; Somerset, H.; Bradley, C.; McDermott, J.; et al. Association Between Lymph Node Ratio and Recurrence and Survival Outcomes in Patients With Oral Cavity Cancer. *JAMA Otolaryngol.-- Head Neck Surg.* 2019, 145, 53–61, doi:10.1001/jamaoto.2018.2974.
- 176. Hosni, A.; McMullen, C.; Huang, S.H.; Xu, W.; Su, J.; Bayley, A.; Bratman, S.V.; Cho, J.; Giuliani, M.; Kim, J.; et al. Lymph Node Ratio Relationship to Regional Failure and Distant Metastases in Oral Cavity Cancer. *Radiother. Oncol. J. Eur. Soc. Ther. Radiol. Oncol.* 2017, 124, 225–231, doi:10.1016/j.radonc.2017.06.018.
- Jin, W.; Zhu, Z.; Wu, Y.; Ding, X.; Wu, H.; Song, X.; Wu, Y. Prognostic Value of Log Odds of Positive Lymph Nodes in Patients with Resectable Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Oral Oncol.* 2020, 108, 104709, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2020.104709.
- 178. Lee, C.-C.; Su, Y.-C.; Hung, S.-K.; Chen, P.-C.; Huang, C.-I.; Huang, W.-L.; Lin, Y.-W.; Yang, C.-C. Recommendation for Incorporation of a Different Lymph Node Scoring System in Future AJCC N Category for Oral Cancer. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 14117, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-06452-0.
- 179. Lee, H.; Roh, J.-L.; Cho, K.-J.; Choi, S.-H.; Nam, S.Y.; Kim, S.Y. Number of Positive Lymph Nodes Better Predicts Survival for Oral Cavity Cancer. *J. Surg. Oncol.* **2019**, *119*, 675–682, doi:10.1002/jso.25386.
- 180. Subramaniam, N.; Balasubramanian, D.; Kumar, N.; Murthy, S.; Vijayan, S.N.; Nambiar, A.; Vidhyadharan, S.; Thankappan, K.; Iyer, S. Lymph Node Staging Systems in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma: A Comparative Analysis. Oral Oncol. 2019, 97, 92–98, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2019.08.002.
- 181. Weckx, A.; Riekert, M.; Grandoch, A.; Schick, V.; Zöller, J.E.; Kreppel, M. Time to Recurrence and Patient Survival in Recurrent Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Oral Oncol.* **2019**, *94*, 8–13, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2019.05.002.
- 182. Ebrahimi, A.; Clark, J.R.; Zhang, W.J.; Elliott, M.S.; Gao, K.; Milross, C.G.; Shannon, K.F. Lymph Node Ratio as an Independent Prognostic Factor in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Head Neck* 2011, 33, 1245–1251, doi:10.1002/hed.21600.
- 183. Gil, Z.; Carlson, D.L.; Boyle, J.O.; Kraus, D.H.; Shah, J.P.; Shaha, A.R.; Singh, B.; Wong, R.J.; Patel, S.G. Lymph Node Density Is a Significant Predictor of Outcome in Patients with Oral Cancer. Cancer 2009, 115, 5700–5710, doi:10.1002/cncr.24631.
- Lee, C.-C.; Ho, H.-C.; Su, Y.-C.; Lee, M.-S.; Hung, S.-K.; Chen, Y.-L. The Prognostic Ability of Log Odds of Positive Lymph Nodes in Oral Cavity Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2015, *94*, e1069, doi:10.1097/MD.00000000001069.
- 185. Moratin, J.; Metzger, K.; Kansy, K.; Ristow, O.; Engel, M.; Hoffmann, J.; Flechtenmacher, C.; Freier, K.; Freudlsperger, C.; Horn, D. The Prognostic Significance of the Lymph Node Ratio in Oral Cancer Differs for Anatomical Subsites. *Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* 2020, 49, 558–563, doi:10.1016/j.ijom.2019.10.015.
- 186. Rempel, V.; Safi, A.F.; Drebber, U.; Nickenig, H.J.; Neugebauer, J.; Zöller, J.E.; Kreppel, M. The Prognostic Relevance of Lymph Node Ratio in Patients with Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma Treated with Neoadjuvant Therapy Regimen and Radical Surgery. J. Cranio-Maxillo-fac. Surg. Off. Publ. Eur. Assoc. Cranio-Maxillo-fac. Surg. 2018, 46, 1659–1663, doi:10.1016/j.jcms.2018.05.053.

- 187. Safi, A.-F.; Kauke, M.; Grandoch, A.; Nickenig, H.-J.; Drebber, U.; Zöller, J.; Kreppel, M. The Importance of Log Odds of Positive Lymph Nodes for Locoregional Recurrence in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Oral Oncol.* **2017**, *72*, 48–55, doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2017.07.005.
- 188. Xu, Q.S.; Wang, C.; Li, B.; Li, J.Z.; Mao, M.H.; Qin, L.Z.; Li, H.; Huang, X.; Han, Z.; Feng, Z. Prognostic Value of Pathologic Grade for Patients with Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Oral Dis.* 2018, 24, 335–346, doi:10.1111/odi.12727.
- 189. Yamagata, K.; Fukuzawa, S.; Kanno, N.; Uchida, F.; Yanagawa, T.; Bukawa, H. Is Lymph Node Ratio a Prognostic Factor for Patients With Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma? *J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* **2019**, *77*, 1510–1519, doi:10.1016/j.joms.2019.01.037.
- 190. Zhao, T.-C.; Liang, S.-Y.; Ju, W.-T.; Fu, Y.; Zhou, Z.-H.; Wang, L.-Z.; Li, J.; Zhang, C.-P.; Zhang, Z.-Y.; Zhong, L.-P. High-Risk Lymph Node Ratio Predicts Worse Prognosis in Patients with Locally Advanced Oral Cancer. *J. Oral Pathol. Med. Off. Publ. Int. Assoc. Oral Pathol. Am. Acad. Oral Pathol.* 2020, 49, 787–795, doi:10.1111/jop.13043.
- Ganly, I.; Patel, S.; Shah, J. Early Stage Squamous Cell Cancer of the Oral Tongue-Clinicopathologic Features Affecting Outcome: Outcome of Early Stage Tongue Cancer. *Cancer* 2012, 118, 101–111, doi:10.1002/cncr.26229.
- 192. Loganathan, P.; Sayan, A.; Hsu, D.W.K.; Paraneetharan, S.; Ilankovan, V. Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Anterior Tongue: Is Tumour Thickness an Indicator for Cervical Metastasis? *Int. J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* 2017, 46, 407–412, doi:10.1016/j.ijom.2016.11.003.
- 193. Omura, K. Current Status of Oral Cancer Treatment Strategies: Surgical Treatments for Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Int. J. Clin. Oncol.* **2014**, *19*, 423–430, doi:10.1007/s10147-014-0689-z.
- 194. Metelli, S.; Chaimani, A. Challenges in Meta-Analyses with Observational Studies. *Evid. Based Ment. Health* **2020**, *23*, 83–87, doi:10.1136/ebmental-2019-300129.

# Appendix

**A.** The present study is part of a systematic review and meta-analysis entitled: "Lymph node ratio as a prognostic factor in neck dissection in oral cancer patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis", the manuscript of which has been submitted for peer-review to *Cancers*, an open access journal of Oncology, published semimonthly online by MDPI, awaiting publication.

## B. Supplementary Material

Supplementary Tables	Pages
Table S1. The Preferred Reporting Items for	60-62
Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses	
(PRISMA) Checklist.	
Table S2. Methodological characteristics of	63-69
the included studies.	
Table S3. Tumor-related characteristics of the	69-76
included studies and methods of analysis.	
Table S4. Node-related characteristics of the	77-78
included studies.	
Table S5. Evaluation of within-study risk of	79-80
bias with the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale.	

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #
TITLE			
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic review, meta-analysis, or both.	p.1
ABSTRACT			
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary including, as applicable: background; objectives; data sources; study eligibility criteria, participants, and interventions; study appraisal and synthesis methods; results; limitations; conclusions and implications of key findings; systematic review registration number.	p. 1
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known.	р. 2-23
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed with reference to participants, interventions, comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS).	p. 22-23
METHODS			
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate if a review protocol exists, if and where it can be accessed (e.g., Web address), and, if available, provide registration information including registration number.	p.23
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify study characteristics (e.g., PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (e.g., years considered, language, publication status) used as criteria for eligibility, giving rationale.	p. 23
Information sources	7	Describe all information sources (e.g., databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to identify additional studies) in the search and date last searched.	p. 24
Search	8	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	p. 24
Study selection	9	State the process for selecting studies (i.e., screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and, if applicable, included in the meta-analysis).	p. 23.24
Data collection process	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (e.g., piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	p. 24-25
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (e.g., PICOS, funding sources) and any assumptions and simplifications made.	p. 24
Risk of bias in individual studies	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether this was done at the study or outcome level), and how this information is to be used in any data synthesis.	p. 26

 Table S1. The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Checklist (continued) [140].

Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (e.g., risk ratio, difference in means).	p. 24-25
Synthesis of results	14	Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies, if done, including measures of consistency (e.g., $\beta$ for each meta-analysis.	p. 25

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #
Risk of bias across studies	15	Specify any assessment of risk of bias that may affect the cumulative evidence (e.g., publication bias, selective reporting within studies).	p. 26
Additional analyses	16	Describe methods of additional analyses (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression), if done, indicating which were pre-specified.	p. 25
RESULTS			
Study selection	17	Give numbers of studies screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally with a flow diagram.	p. 26-29, Figure 15, Table 1
Study characteristics	18	For each study, present characteristics for which data were extracted (e.g., study size, PICOS, follow-up period) and provide the citations.	p. 29, Tables S2-S4
Risk of bias within studies	19	Present data on risk of bias of each study and, if available, any outcome level assessment (see item 12).	p. 40, Table S5
Results of individual studies	20	For all outcomes considered (benefits or harms), present, for each study: (a) simple summary data for each intervention group (b) effect estimates and confidence intervals, ideally with a forest plot.	p. 30-35, Figures 16-20
Synthesis of results	21	Present results of each meta-analysis done, including confidence intervals and measures of consistency.	p. 30-35, Table 2, Figures 16-20
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies (see Item 15).	p. 41, Figure 27
Additional analysis	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression [see Item 16]).	p. 35-40, Table 3, Figures

			21-26
DISCUSSION			
Summary of evidence	24	Summarize the main findings including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their relevance to key groups (e.g., healthcare providers, users, and policy makers).	p. 42-44
Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (e.g., risk of bias), and at review-level (e.g., incomplete retrieval of identified research, reporting bias).	p. 44
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future research.	p. 44
FUNDING			
Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (e.g., supply of data); role of funders for the systematic review.	-

Study	Year	PMID	Study period	Study design	End of study (0/1)	Number of patients	Number and percentag e of males	Age, mean (ran ge)	Country	Ethnicity	Median follow- up	Endpoints	Definition of endpoints
Agarwal et al. (2019) [169]	2019	30421434	2011	Retrospective cohort	1	94	70 (74%)	median 47 (24-80)	India/Pakistan	NR	66.5 mo (7-80)	OS, DFS	OS: date of treatment completion to date of death/last follow-up DFS: NR
Arun et al. (2020) [170]	2020	33021340	2011- 2016	Retrospective cohort	1	212	153 (72.2%)	median 52 (21-85)	India/Pakistan	NR	23.2 mo	DFS, OS	DFS: time between the date of primary surgery and the date of clinicoradiological confirmation of disease recurrenc e (locoregion al or distant metastasis)/last follow-up OS: time between the date of primary surgery for OSCC and the date of death of any cause/last follow- up
Bharath et al. (2018) [162]	2018	30344127	2012- 2013	Prospective cohort	1	51	39 (78.6%)	NR	India/Pakistan	NR	mean 24 mo (24-36)	DFS, OS	NR
Chang et al. (2018) [174]	2018	29038963	2002- 2015	Retrospective cohort	1	389	355 (91.3%)	51.8 (23- 84)	East Asia	Eastern Asian	42 mo (0-152)	OS, DFS	OS: day of therapeutic surg ery to date of death/last follow- up DFS: day of surgery to date of tumor recurrenc e (local/distant metastasis)
Chow et al. (2017) [168]	2017	28554580	2000- 2016	Retrospective cohort	1	39	20 (51.3%)	median 70.0 (46-95)	East Asia	Eastern Asian	79 mo (5-167)	OS, DSS	NR
Ding et al.	2019	30452499	2000-	Retrospective	1	149	105	≤ 50:	USA/Canada	White: 117	20 mo (0	OS, DFS,	OS: date of

# Table S2. Methodological characteristics of the included studies (continued).

( <b>2019</b> ) [175]			2015	cohort			(70.5%)	37(24.8%), 51-60: 44 (29.5%), >60: 68 (45.6%) Median 59 (28-88)		(78.5%), Non-white: 32 (21.5%)	-137), 34.5 for surviving patients	LRDFS,DMFS	diagnosis to date of death/last follow-up DFS: date of diagnosis to date of local recu rren ce/regional lymph node metastasis/distant metastasis LRDFS: date of diagnosis to date of local recu rren ce/regional lymph node metastasis DMFS: date of diagnosis to date of diagnosis to date of diagnosis to date
<b>Ebrahimi et</b> <b>al. (2011</b> ) [182]	2011	20967874	1987- 2009	Retrospective cohort	1	313	204 (65.2%)	median 63.4 (28.5 - 91.5)	Australia	NR	32.3 mo	OS, DSS	OS: date of surgery to date of death/last follow- up DSS: date of surgery to date of OSCC death
Gil et al. (2009) [183]	2009	19691095	1986- 1996	Retrospective cohort	1	386	227 (59%)	mean 58 (14-88)	USA/Canada	NR	67 mo (4-184)	OS, DSS, LRDFS	OS: date of surgery to date of death/last follow- up DSS: date of surgery to date of death from OSCC LRDFS: NR
Hosni et al. ( <b>2017</b> ) [176]	2017	28838425	1994- 2012	Retrospective cohort	1	914	577 (63%)	median 61 (18-92)	USA/Canada	NR	51 mo (1-189)	RF, DF, OS	OS: date of surgery to death/last follow- up RF: date of surgery to regional failure with no evidence of local failure/distant metastases DF: date of surgery to distant metastases with no

													evidence of local/regional failure
<b>Iftikhar et al.</b> ( <b>2020</b> ) [165]	2020	32808800	2000- 2018	Retrospective cohort	1	130	87 (66%)	High ratio: mean 48.3 Low ratio: mean 50.2	India/Pakistan	NR	NR	OS, DFS	OS: deceased or alive after 5 years from primary treatment (surgery) DFS: recurrence or no recurrence after 5 years from the start of treatment
<b>Jin et al.</b> ( <b>2020</b> ) [177]	2020	32535340	2009- 2013	Retrospective cohort	1	233	127 (55%)	59.24	East Asia	NR	68 mo (1-122)	OS	OS: time from initial diagnosis to all-caus e death
Kim et al. (2011) [133]	2011	21336511	1994- 2006	Retros pective cohort	1	211	134 (64%)	55 (21-88)	East Asia	NR	58 mo (4-180)	DSS, OS	First day of treatment to date of event or last follow-up
Künzel et al. (2014) [171]	2014	24842444	2010	Retros pective cohort	1	374	297 (79.4%)	median 55 (26-85)	Europe	NR	3.99 y (0.01- 24.04) 2.93 y (0.01- 23.17) LNR group	DSS, OS, LRC, LC, RC	OS: date of initial diagnosis to death/last follow- up DSS: date of initial diagnosis to tumor- or treatment related death/time of patient's last admission LRC: time of initial diagnosis/patient's last admission to the first locoregional recurren ce LC: time of initial diagnosis/patient's last admission to the first local recurren ce RC: time of initial diagnosis/patient's last admission to the first local recurren ce RC: time of initial diagnosis/patient's last admission to the first regional recurren ce ND
Lee C.C. et al.	2015	26166079	2004-	Retrospective	1	347	322	56	East Asia	NR	mean 33	OS	NR
(2015) [184]			2013	conort			(92.8%)				mo		
Lee C.C. et al. (2017) [178]	2017	29074847	2007- 2013	Retrospective cohort	1	3958	2528 (63.9%)	mean 59	USA/Canada	White: 3316 (83.8%), Black/Other: 642 (16.2%)	NR	DSS, OS	OS: time of initial diagnosis to death from all causes DSS: time of initial diagnosis to death from cancer
--	------	----------	---------------	-------------------------	---	------	-----------------	---------------------------------	---	--	--	--	--
Lee H. et al. ( <b>2019</b> ) [179]	2019	30672597	2006- 2015	Retrospective cohort	1	345	214 (62%)	median 55 IQR (45-66)	East Asia	NR	58 mo IQR (38- 88)	DFS, OS, DSS	DFS: time from initial surgery to recurrence/last follow-up OS: time from initial surgery to all-cause death/last follow-up DSS: time from initial surgery to disease-specific death/last follow- up
Lieng et al.(2016) [166]	2016	27261269	1980- 2011	Retrospective cohort	1	72	48 (67%)	mean 59 (24-89) median 60	Australia	NR	55 mo (2.1-177)	DFS, OS	DFS: time from diagnosis to time of recur ren ce, death or development of a second malignancy OS: NR
Moratin et al. (2020) [185]	2020	31740138	2010- 2017	Retrospective cohort	1	430	273 (63.5%)	63.9 (18-92)	Europe	NR	NR	OS, PFS	NR
Ong et al. (2016) [167]	2016	25917601	2002- 2010	Retrospective cohort	1	99	56 (56.6%)	median 62 (23-94)	East Asia	NR	48.5 mo (2-156)	OS, DSS	OS: date of surgery to date of death/last follow- up DSS: date of surgery to death of tongue cancer
Patel et al. (2013) [132]	2013	24064974	NR	Retrospective cohort	1	4254	2815 (60.1%)	52.63 (14-99)	Multicontinental (11 centers worldwide)	NR	41 mo (2-322), N+: 46 mo (4-322)	OS, DSS, DFS, LRFS, LRDFS, DMFS	OS: date of surgery to date of death/last follow- up DSS: time of diagnosis to death resulting from OSCC DFS: NR LRFS: NR LRFS: NR DMFS: NR
Rempel et al.	2018	30196863	1994-	Retrospective	1	171	129 (75%)	56.6	Europe	NR	80.5 mo	OS	OS: time from the

( <b>2018</b> ) [186]			2013	cohort				(24-81)					beginning of primary therapy to death from any cause
Safi et al. (2017) [187]	2017	28797461	2004- 2014	Retrospective cohort	1	499	290 (58.1%)	62.51 (28-98)	Europe	NR	35 mo (3-117)	LRR	LRR: tumor of similar histology appearing after 6 weeks of treatment and within the first 3 years after therapy of the primary tumor locally/within the lymph neck nodes
Shrime et al. (2009) [136]	2009	19441094	1994- 2004	Retros pective cohort	1	143	94 (65.7%)	58.7 (14.8-89.4)	USA/Canada	NR	mean 32.4 mo (1.2- 140.4)	OS	Date of diagnosis to date of death/last follow- up
Son et al. (2017) [163]	2017	28981214	2010- 2015	Prospective cohort	1	157	101 (64.3%)	median 54 (24-87)	East Asia	NR	46 mo (14-74)	RFS, DSS, OS	RFS: date of surgery to date of first recurrence DSS: date of surgery to date of index-can cer death OS: date of surgery to date of all-cause death/last follow-up
Spoerl et al. (2020) [172]	2020	32754787	2004- 2017	Retrospective cohort	1	717	515 (71.8%)	60.8 (28-91)	Europe	NR	89 mo	OS, RFS	OS: date of resection to date of death/last follow- up RFS: date of resection to date of first recurrence/last follow-up
Subramaniam et al. (2019) [180]	2019	31465931	2004- 2014	Retrospective cohort	1	643	498 (77%)	55.1 (18-82)	India/Pakistan	NR	2.9 years (0.5-11)	DFS, OS	OS: time from initial surgery to date of death/last follow-up DFS: time from initial surgery to date of recurrence (local, regional or distant)
Suzuki et al. (2016) [164]	2016	26655796	2008- 2013	Prospective cohort	1	35	22 (62.9%)	NR	East Asia	Eastern Asian	mean 20.9 mo	OS, DMFS, Lung MFS	OS: period from resection to death/last contact

													DMFS: period from resection to date of distant metastases/last contact Lung MFS: period from resection to date of lung metastases/last contact
Urban et al. (2013) [173]	2013	23157979	1988- 2007	Retros pective cohort	1	3091	2021 (65%)	median 60 (14-99)	USA/Canada	White: 2515 (81%), Black: 320 (10%), Other: 256 (8%)	21 mo	OS, CSS	OS: time of initial diagnosis to date of death/last follow-up CSS: NR
Weckx et al. (2019) [181]	2019	31178216	2002- 2015	Retrospective cohort	1	159	87 (55%)	mean 63.11 median 62	Europe	NR	mean 60.7 mo (3-408) median 43 mo	OS	OS: period of time from the beginning of the primary therapy to all- cause de ath, in months
Xu et al. (2017) [188]	2017	28787551	1999- 2011	Retrospective cohort	1	2036	1151 (56.5%)	59	East Asia	NR	65 mo (1-178)	DFS, DSS	DFS: time from diagnosis until first documented recurren ce/de ath DSS: time from the first operation to death/last follow-up
Yamagata et al. (2019) [189]	2019	30822404	2008- 2015	Retrospective cohort	1	95	52 (54.7%)	median 65.5 (35-88)	East Asia	NR	NR	OS	OS: date of first diagnosis to death from any cause
<b>Zhao et al.</b> ( <b>2020</b> ) [190]	2020	32449223	2008-2010	Retrospective analysis from phase III RCT	1	248	172 (69.4%)	55.4 (26-75)	East Asia	NR	80 mo (3.2-93)	OS, DFS, DSS, LRFS, DMFS	OS: date of random assignment to occur rence o f all- cause de ath DFS: date of random assignment to tumor recu rren ce/all- cause de ath DSS: date of random assignment to occur rence o f

OSCC death
LRFS: date of
random
assignment to local
tumor/neck
recurren ce/all-
cause de ath
DMFS: date of
random
assignment to
tumor distant
metastasis/all-
cause de ath

Table S3. Tumor-related characteristics of the included studies and methods of analysis (continued).

Study	TNM stage (AJCC)	T stage	N stage	Metastasis (yes/no)	Oralcancer subsite	Number of patients per subsite	Type of neck dissection, patients per type	Treatment groups	LNR cut-off determination	Univariate/multivariate analysis	Adjustment factors
Agarwal et al. (2019) [169]	NR	T1: 6 (6%), T2: 7 (8%), T3: 13 (14%), T4: 68 (72%)	N1: 1 (1%), N2a 28 (30%), N2b: 3 (3%), N2c: 1 (1%), N3b: 61 (65%)	No	lip, buccal mucosa, tongue, alveolus, retromolar trigone	3 (3%), 16 (17%), 39 (42%), 34 (36%), 2 (2%)	Unilateral Selective: 12 (13%), Bilateral Selective: 7 (7%), Unilateral Modified radical: 49 (52%), Unilateral Modified radical + Contralateral Selective: 15 (16%), Bilateral Modified radical: 11	Surgery + RT: 19 (202%), Surgery + CRT: 75 (798%)	Log-rank test	Multivariate	PNI, ENE >2, ENE grade 3-4

							(12%)				
Arun et al. (2020) [170]	NR	T1: 30 (142%), T2: 79 (373%), T3: 23 (108%), T4a: 63 (29.7%), T4b: 17 (8%)	N1: 83 (392%), N2a 3 (1.4%), N2b: 102 (48.1%), N2c: 20 (9.4%), N3: 4 (1.9%)	No	NR	NR	Unilateral: 153 Bilateral: 59	Surgery alone: 19/205 (9.3%), Surgery + RT: 81/205 (39.5%), Surgery + CRT: 105 (51.2%)	Median	Univariate	N/A
Bharath et al. (2018) [162]	NR	T1: 14 (333%), T2: 29 (509%), T3: 6 (11.7%), T4: 2 (3.9%)	N1: 24 (47%), N2: 27 (53%)	No	tongue	51 (100%)	NR	Surgery alone: 2 (39%), Surgery + RT: 49 (96.1%), Surgery + CRT: 15 (29.4%)	Previous literature	Univariate	N/A
Chang et al. (2018) [174]	I: 99 (25.4%), II: 85 (21.9%), III: 64 (16.5%), IV: 141 (362%)	T1: 119 (30.6%), T2: 125 (32.1%), T3: 43 (11.1%), T4: 102 (26.2%)	N0: 256 (658%), N1: 55 (14.1%), N2a 2 (0.5%), N2b: 64 (165%), N2c: 11 (2.8%), N3: 1 (0.3%)	No	lip, retromolar trigone, gingiva, tongue, hard palate, buccal mucosa, floor of mouth	2 (0.5%), 18 (4.6%), 52 (13.4%), 170 (43.7%), 9 (2.3%), 127 (32.6%), 11 (2.8%)	NR	Surgery alone: 106, Surgery + RT: 69, Surgery + CT: 56, Surgery + CCRT: 158	ROC arve	Univariate	N/A
Chow et al. (2017) [168]	I: 5(12.8%), II: 11 (28.2%), III: 10 (25.6%), IV: 13 (33.3%)	T1:9 (23.1%), T2:15 (38.5%), T3:7 (17.9%), T4:8 (20.5%)	N0: 20 (513%), N1: 10 (256%), N2: 9 (23.1%), N3: 0	No	buccal mucosa	39 (100%)	Selective 24 (615%), Modified radical 12 (308%), Radical 3 (7.7%)	Surgery alone: 21 (538%), surgery+ RT: 11 (282%), Surgery+ CT: 1 (26%), Surgery+ CRT: 6 (15.4%)	Previous literature	Univariate	N/A
Ding et al. (2019) [175]	NR	T1: 46 (309%), T2: 40 (268%), T3-T4: 63 (423%)	N0: 41 (275%), N1:24 (16.1%), N2-N3: 62 (41.6%)	No	tongue, floor of mouth, other	61 (40,9%), 43 (28,9%), 45 (30,2%)	NR	Surgery alone: 26 (17.4%), Surgery+ RT: 33 (22.1%), Surgery+ CRT: 90 (60.4%)	Median	Univariate	N/A
Ebrahimi et al.	NR	T1-T2:	N0: 148	No	tongue, floor	109	Level I-V: 61	NR	Log scale	Multivariate	age,

( <b>2011</b> ) [182]		198 (633%) T3-T4: 115 (36.7%)	(473%), N1: 50 (16%), N2a 6 (19%), N2b: 85 (272%), N2c: 24 (7.7%)		of mouth, alveolus, retromolar trigone, buccal, other	(348%), 116 (37.1%), 41 (13.1%), 28 (8.9%), 15 (4.8%), 4 (13%)	(152%), Level I-IV: 110 (27.4%), Level I-III: 220 (54.7%), Other. 11 (2.7%)				T- classification, ECS, involved margin
Gil etal. (2009) [183]	I: 44 (11%), II: 103 (27%), III: 90 (23%), IV: 149 (39%)	T1: 56 (15%), T2: 168 (44%), T3: 70 (18%), T4: 92 (24%)	N0: 219 (57%), N1: 72 (19%), N2a 2 (1%), N2b: 83 (22%), N2c: 8 (2%), N3: 2 (1%)	No	tongue, floor of mouth, uppergum, lowergum, hard palate, retromolar trigone, buccal mucosa	175 (45%), 79 (20%), 4 (1%), 66 (17%), 2 (1%), 36 (9%), 24 (6%)	Selective 229 (59%), Modified radical 65 (17%), Radical 50 (13%), Bilateral 46 (12%)	Surgery alone: 162 (42%), Surgery + RT: 224 (58%)	Median	Multi vari at e	pT-, pN- classification, overall TNM stage, ECS, total no. of nodes, no. of positive nodes
Hosni et al. (2017) [176]	NR	T1-T2: 631 (69%), T3-T4: 283 (31%)	N0: 482 (52.7%), N1: 128 (14%), N2a: 6 (0.7%), N2b: 225 (24.6%), N2c: 73 (8%)	No	tongue, others	419 (46%), 495 (54%)	Ipsilateral (all) Selective 625 (68,4%), Modified Radical 239 (26,1%), Radical 21 (2.3%), Limited Upper 29 (3.2%) Contral ateral (368) Selective 277 (75,3%), Modified Radical 38 (10,3%), Limited Upper 53	Surgery alone, Surgery + RT, Surgery + CRT	Maximally selected rank statistic	Univariate/ Multivariate	NR
Iftikhar et al. (2020) [165]	I: 34 (26.2%), II: 37 (28.5%), III: 21 (16.2%), IVA: 38 (29.2%)	T1: 44 (338%), T2: 69 (53.1%), T3: 11 (8.5%), T4: 6 (4.6%)	N0: 75 (57.7%), N1: 20 (15.4%), N2: 35 (26.9%)	No	tongue	130 (100%)	Ipsilateral Modified radical: 82 (683%), Selective: 20 (16.7%), Radical: 18 (15%) Contralateral Selective: 41 (75.9%), Modified radical: 12	Surgery alone: 53 (40.8%), Surgery + RT: 43 (33.1%), Surgery + CRT: 34 (26.2%)	ROC arve	Multivariate	Margin status

							(222%), Radical: 1 (1.85%)				
Jin etal. (2020) [177]	NR	T1-T2: 166 (71%), T3-T4: 67 (29%)	N0: 156 (67%), N1: 33 (14%), N2-N3: 44 (19%)	No	tongue, non-tongue	84 (37%), 149 (63%)	NR	NR	X-tile Software calculation	Univariate	N/A
Kimet al. (2011) [133]	I: 85 (40%), II: 33 (16%), III: 31 (15%), IV: 62 (29%)	T1: 101 (48%), T2: 71 (34%), T3: 11 (5%), T4: 28 (13%)	N0: 133 (63%), N1: 34 (16%), N2b: 37 (18%), N2c: 7 (3%)	No	tongue, floor of mouth, buccal mucosa, gingiva, hard palate, retromolar trigone	166 (79%), 17 (8%), 16 (8%), 5 (2%), 4 (2%), 3 (1%)	Elective 151 (62%), Therapeutic: 60 (28%), Selective: 125 (59%), Modified Radical/Radi cal: 54 (26%), Bilateral: 32 (15%)	Surgery alone: 135 (64%), Surgery + RT: 69 (33%), Surgery + CRT: 7 (3%)	Previous literature	Multi variate/ Uni variate	tumor thicknes classific No.ofp nodes, s metastat deposits
Künzel et al. (2014) [171]	I: 105 (28.1%), II: 78 (20.9%), III: 73 (19.5%), IV: 118 (31.6%)	T1: 154 (412%), T2: 154 (412%), T3: 39 (10.4%), T4: 26 (7.2%), Tx: 1 (0.2%)	N0: 209 (559%), N1: 58 (155%), N2a 6 (1.6%), N2b: 66 (176%), N2c: 18 (4.8%), N3: 17 (4.5%)	No	tongue, floor of mouth, cheek, gingiva	218 (583%), 137 (396%), 14 (3.7%), 5 (13%)	Bilateral: 182, Ipsilateral: 192	Surgery alone: 95 (25.4%), Surgery + RT: 235 (62.8%), Surgery + CRT: 43 (115%), Surgery + CT: 1 (03%)		Multi variate/ Uni variate	pN (gwu UICC
Lee C.C. et al. (2015) [184]	NR	T1: 95 (27.4%), T2: 112 (32.3%), T3: 30 (8.6%), T4: 110 (31.7%)	N0: 235 (67.7%), N1: 30 (8.6%), N2: 80 (23.1%), N3: 2 (0.6%)	No	buccal mucosa, tongue, other	158 (455%), 116 (334%), 73 (21%)	Elective: 195 Therapeutic: 152	NR	Previous literature	Multivariate	age, gen comorbi pT, prin tumorsi margin s different
Lee C.C. et al. (2017) [178]	I: 938 (23.7%), II: 694 (17.5%), III: 849 (21.5%), IVA: 1393 (35.2%), IVB: 84 (2.1%)	T1 : 1398 (353%), T2: 1353 (342%), T3: 474 (12%), T4: 733 (185%)	N0: 2132 (539%), N1: 826 (209%), N2: 967 (244%), N3: 33 (0.8%)	No	tongue, lip, floor of mouth, gum and retromolar trigone, buccal mucosa, hard palate, other	2041 (51.6%), 160 (4%), 671 (17%), 680 (17.2%), 268 (6.8%), 55 (1.4%), 83 (2.1%)	NR	NR	Previous literature	Univariate	N/A

Lee H. et al. (2019) [179]	I: 134 (388%), II: 42 (12.2%), III: 48 (13.9%), IVA: 121 (35.1%)	T1: 170 (493%), T2: 89 (258%), T3: 6 (1.7%), T4a: 80 (232%)	N0: 196 (568%), N1: 61 (17.1%), N2b: 72 (209%), N2c: 16 (4.6%)	No	tongue, floor of mouth, buccal mucosa, gingiva, hard palate, retromolar trigone, lip	277 (803%), 31 (9%), 15 (4.3%), 13 (3.8%), 3 (0.9%), 4 (1.2%), 2 (0.6%)	Elective/ Therapeutic	Surgery alone: 190 (55.1%), Surgery + RT: 123 (35.7%), Surgery + CRT: 32 (9.3%)	ROC arve	Multivariate	KPS≤80, postoperative therapy, tumor site, tumor size, DOI,PNI, differentiation, involved margins, T-,N- classification, no. of positive nodes, >40 examined nodes, laterality of node involved,low neck node involvement, ENE
Lieng et al. (2016) [166]	NR	T1: 23 (32%), T2: 31 (43%), T3: 9 (125%), T4:9 (125%)	N1: 43 (60%), N2: 28 (39%), N3: 1 (1%)	No	tongue	72 (100%)	NR	Surgery alone: 19 (26%), Surgery + RT (+/- CT): 53 (74%)	Log-rank test	Multi variate	NR
Moratin et al. (2020) [185]	I: 138 (32.1%), II: 73 (17%), III: 47 (10.9%), IV: 172 (40%)	T1: 165 (38.4%), T2: 122 (28.4%), T3: 28 (6.5%), T4: 115 (26.7%)	N0: 280 (65.1%), N1: 50 (11.6%), N2a: 3 (0.7%), N2b: 52 (12.1%), N2c: 31 (7.2%), N3a: 1 (0.2%), N3b: 10 (2.3%), Missing: 3 (0.7%)	Yes 0.2% (1 patient)	tongue, buccal mucosa, floor of mouth, alveolar process, maxilla, soft palate	97 (22.6%), 33 (7.7%), 120 (27.9%), 119 (27.7%), 29 (6.7%), 32 (7.4%)	NR	NR	ROC arve	Multi variate	T-stage, grading, age
Ong et al. (2016) [167]	I: 25 (25.3%), II: 26 (26.3%), III: 18 (18.2%), IV: 26 (26.3%), Unknown: 4 (4%)	T1: 39 (39.3%), T2: 44 (44.4%), T3: 8 (8.1%), T4: 6 (6.1%), Unknown : 2 (2%)	N0: 57 (576%), N1: 17 (172%), N2/N3: 25 (252%)	No	tongue	99 (100%)	Radical: 34 (343%), Comprehensi ve: 20 (202%), Selective (supraomohy oid): 39 (394%), Unknown: 6 (6.1%)	Surgery alone: 65 (65.7%), Surgery + RT: 25 (25.2%), Surgery + CRT : 9 (9.1%)	Previous literature	Univariate	N/A

Patel et al. (2013) [132]	I: 464 (9%), II: 799 (13%), III: 668 (16%), IV: 2323 (62%)	T1: 613 (13%), T2: 1374 (30%), T3: 623 (15%), T4: 1644 (42%)	N0: 2268 (433%), N1: 652 (153%), N2a 88 (2%), N2b: 988 (232%), N2c: 246 (6%), N3: 12 (0.2%)	No	NR	NR	Elective: 2434 (52%), Therapautic: 1820 (48%), I-III/IV: 2746 (60.7%), I-V: 525 (13.2%), Radical: 327 (9.9%), Bilateral: 656 (16%)	Surgery alone: 1297 (22%), Surgery + RT: 2245 (58%), Surgery + CRT: 553 (15%), Surgery + RT+ Erbitux: 159 (5%)	ROC airve	Multivariate	gender, age, DOI, ECS, margins, T., N- classification, TNM stage,LND- based TNM stage, total no. of ly mph nodes, treatment group
Rempel et al. (2018) [186]	II: 22 (13%), III: 24 (14%), IVA: 96 (56%), IVB: 29 (17%)	T2: 58 (34%), T3: 27 (16%), T4a: 57 (33%), T4b: 29 (17%)	N0: 34 (20%), N1: 29 (17%), N2: 106 (62%), N3: 2 (1%)	No	floor of mouth, tongue, mandibula'al veolar process, maxilla/hard palate, soft palate, buccal mucosa	71 (42%), 32 (19%), 32 (19%), 25 (15%),∖ 5 (3%), 6 (4%)	Modified radical: 171 (100%)	Surgery + CRT: 171 (100%)	Previous literature	Multivariate	age, margin status, ypT-, ypN- classification
Safi etal. (2017) [187]	I: 166 (3326%) II: 116 (2324%) III: 64 (12.82%) IV: 153 (30.68%)	T1: 206 (4128%) T2: 166 (3326%) T3: 39 (7.8%) T4: 88 (17.66%)	N0: 342 (685%) N+: 157 (315%)	No	floor of mouth, tongue, lower jaw,palate, cheek	158 (31.66%), 119 (23.84%), 94 (18.83%), 54 (10.82%), 74 (14.85 %)	Selective, Modified radical, Bilateral	Surgery alone: 258 (51.7%), Surgery + RT: 95 (19%), Surgery + CRT: 146 (29.3%)	ROC arve	Multivariate	grading, ECS, T-classification, treatment
Shrime et al. (2009) [136]	NR	T1-T2: 65 (458%), T3-T4: 77 (542%)	N1: 48 (336%), N2: 95 (664%)	No	tongue, upper and lower gingiva, floor of mouth, hard palate, buccal mucosa, retromolar trigone	NR	NR	Surgery alone: 50 (35%), Surgery + RT: 91 (63.6%), Surgery + CT: 2 (1.4%)	Maximally selected rank statistic	Multivariate	NR
Son et al. (2017) [163]	I: 59 (37.6%), II: 14 (8.9%), III: 19 (12.1%), IV: 65 (41.4%)	T1: 75 (478%), T2: 21 (134%), T3: 4 (2.5%), T4: 57 (363%)	N0: 92 (58.6%), N1: 22 (14%), N2: 43 (27.4%)	No	tongue, floor of mouth, buccal mucosa, gingiva, lip, hard palate, retromolar trigone	$ \begin{array}{r} 140\\(892\%),\\4\\(2.5\%),\\4\\(2.5\%),\\3\\(1.9\%),\\3\\(1.9\%),\\2\\(1.3\%),\\1\ (0.6\%)\end{array} $	Elective: 102, Therapeutic: 55	Surgery alone: 78 (49.7%), Surgery + RT: 56 (35.7%), Surgery + CRT: 23 (14.6%)	ROC arve	Mu li vari at e	tumorsize >2 cm, close/involved margins

Spoerl et al. (2020) [172]	I: 219 (305%), II: 117 (163%), III: 115 (16%), IV: 266 (37.1%)	T1: 290 (40,4%), T2: 236 (32,9%), T3: 56 (7,8%), T4: 135 (18,8%)	N0: 427 (595%), N1: 110 (153%), N2a 8 (1.1%), N2b: 113 (158%), N2c 50 (7%), N3: 9 (1.3%)	No	buccal mucosa, upper alveolus and gingiva, lower alveolus and gingiva, hard palate, tongue, floor of mouth	$51 \\ (7.1\%), 22 \\ (3.1\%), 106 \\ (14.8\%), 48 \\ (6.7\%), 210 \\ (29.3\%), 280 \\ (39.1\%)$	Unilateral: 72, Bilateral: 218	Surgery alone: 382 (53.3%), Surgery + RT: 232 (32.4%), Surgery + CRT: 103 (14.4%)	Median	Multivariate	NR
Subramaniam et al. (2019) [180]	NR	T1: 261 (41%), T2: 228 (35%), T3: 59 (9%), T4a: 95 (15%)	N0: 372 (58%), N1: 101 (15%), N2a: 10 (2%), N2b: 3 (1%), N2c: 22 (3%), N3b: 135 (21%)	No	tongue, floor of mouth, buccal cavity, alveolus/retro molar trigone	429 (67%), 37 (6%), 173 (26%), 4 (1%)	Ipsilateral selective, contralateral	Surgery alone: 301 (46%), Surgery + RT: 171 (27%), Surgery + CRT: 171 (27%)	Previous literature	Univariate	N/A
Suzuki et al. (2016) [164]	III: 4 (114%), IV: 31 (88.6%)	T1: 4 (114%), T2: 15 (429%), T3: 7 (20%), T4: 9 (25.7%)	N1: 5 (143%), N2: 29 (829%), N3: 1 (2.9%)	No	tongue, upper gum, lower gum, floor of mouth, cheek mucosa, hard palate	$\begin{array}{c} 20\\ (57.1\%),\\ 4\\ (11.4\%),\\ 4\\ (11.4\%),\\ 3\\ (8.6\%),\\ 3\\ (8.6\%),\\ 1\ (2.9\%) \end{array}$	Unilateral: 26 (743%), Bilateral: 9 (25.7%)	Surgery alone: 14 (40%), Surgery + RT: 10 (28.6%), Surgery + CRT: 7 (20%), Surgery + CT: 4 (11.4%)	Previous literature	Multivariate	p stage (IV/III), positive surgical margin/ECS or both
Urban et al. (2013) [173]	NR	T1: 766 (27%), T2: 1217 (43%), T3: 857 (30%)	N1: 942 (32%), N2: 1798 (61%), N3: 227 (8%)	No	tongue, floor of mouth, gum and other	1338 (43%), 857 (28%), 896 (29%)	NR	Surgery alone: 747 (24%), Surgery + RT: 2344 (76%)	Previous literature	Univariate	N/A
Weckx et al. (2019) [181]	I: 36 (23%), II: 32 (20%), III: 18 (11%), IVA: 49 (31%), IVB: 24 (15%)	T1: 39 (25%), T2: 48 (30%), T3: 20 (13%), T4a: 44 (28%), T4b: 10 (6%)	N0: 96 (60%), N1: 21 (13%), N2a: 12 (8%), N2b: 9 (6%), N2c: 5 (3%), N3a: 0 (0%), N3b: 16	No	floor of mouth, tongue, lower jaw, upper jaw and hard palate, soft palate, cheek	55 (35%), 29 (18%), 38 (24%), 13 (8%), 8 (5%), 16 (10%)	Ipsilateral SND: 67 (42%), Ipsilateral MRND: 30 (19%), Ipsilateral RND: 6 (4%), Bilateral SND: 19 (12%), Ipsilateral	Surgery alone: 70 (44%), Surgery + RT: 31 (20%), Surgery + CRT: 58 (37%)	NR	Univariate	N/A

			(10%)				MRND + Contral ateral SND: 24 (15%), Bilateral MRND: 11 (7%), Ipsilateral RND + Contral ateral SND: 2 (1%)				
Xu et al. (2017) [188]	NR	T1: 497 (24.4%), T2: 793 (38.9%), T3: 211 (10.4%), T4a: 503 (24.7%), T4b: 32 (1.6%)	N0: 928 (45.6%), N1: 293 (14.4%), N2: 401 (19.7%), N3: 5 (0.2%), Unknown: 409 (20.1%)	No	tongue, lower gingiva, buccal mucosa, floor of mouth, upper gingiva, hard palate	842 (413%), 366 (18%), 331 (163%), 217 (10.7%), 213 (10.4%), 67 (3.3%)	Bilateral: 305, Ipsilateral selective: 889/1568	Surgery alone: 1076 (528%), Surgery + RT: 542 (26.6%), Surgery + CCRT: 149 (7.4%), Missing: 269 (13.2%)	Previous literature	Multivariate	PNI, ECS, pathologic grade, gender, clinical features, T- stage
Yamagata et al. (2019) [189]	I: 17 (17.9%), II: 23 (24.2%), III: 13 (13.7%), IVA: 40 (42.1%), IVB: 2 (2.1%)	T1: 23 (242%), T2: 40 (42.1%), T3: 7 (7.4%), T4a: 23 (24.3%), T4b: 2 (2.2%)	N0: 43 (453%), N1: 22 (232%), N2b: 24 (253%), N2c: 6 (6.3%)	No	tongue, lower gingiva, floor of mouth, buccal mucosa, hard palate, upper gingiva	44 (463%), 28 (295%), 8 (8.4%), 8 (8.5%), 2 (2.2%), 5 (53%)	RND: 47 (495%), SOHND: 37 (389%), RND + SOHND: 9 (95%), B/L SOHND: 2 (2.1%)	Surgery alone: 66 (69.5%), Surgery + RT: 4 (4.3%), Surgery + CRT: 25 (26.3%)	ROC arve	Multivariate	nodal disease area
<b>Zhao et al.</b> ( <b>2020</b> ) [190]	0:11 (4.4%), I:12 (4.8%), II:21 (85%), III:75 (30.2%), IV:129 (52%)	T0: 15 (6.1%), T1: 35 (14.1%), T2: 71 (28.6%), T3: 90 (36.3%), T4: 37 (14.9%)	N0: 103 (415%), N1: 41 (165%), N2a: 6 (2.5%), N2b: 77 (31%), N2c: 21 (8.5%)	No	tongue, gingiva, buccal mucosa, palate, floor of mouth, retromolar trigone	$\begin{array}{c} 110\\ (444\%),\\ 39\\ (15.7\%),\\ 43\\ (173\%),\\ 16\\ (6.5\%),\\ 30\\ (12.1\%),\\ 10\ (4\%)\end{array}$	NR	Surgery + RT: 127 (51.2%), Surgery + CRT: 121 (48.8%)	ROC arve	Univariate⁄ Multivariate for pN+=145	N/A/ T-, N-, TNM- classification, ENE for pN+=145

Study	Percentage of MRND, RND, B/L ND	Median/mean nodes removed (range)	Median/mean positive nodes removed (range)	Presence of extracapsular spread, n(%)	Close <i>l</i> in volved margins, n(%)	
Agar wal et al. (2019) [169]	U/L MND:49 (52%), U/L MND + C/L SND:15 (16%), B/L MND: 11 (12%)	NR	median 2 (1-25)	91 (97%)	Involved: 1 (1%)	
Arun et al. (2020) [170]	NR	median 42.5 (14-168)	median 2 (1-42)	122 (57.5%)	Close/involved: 53 (25%)	
Bharath et al. (2018) [162]	NR	mean 23.16	mean 1.98	22 (43.1%)	NR	
Chang et al. (2018) [174]	NR	NR	NR	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	
Chow et al. (2017) [168]	MRND: 12 (30.8%), RND: 3 (7.7%)	median 23 (8-93)	median 1 (1-17)	6 (15.4%)	Involved: 6 (15.4%)	
Ding et al. (2019) [175]	NR	median 29 (1-110)	median 2	35 (23.5%)	Involved: 48 (32.2%)	
Ebrahimi et al. (2011) [182]	Level I-V: 61 (15.2%)	mean 27.4	mean 3.4	62 (19.8%)	Involved: 18.2%	
Gil et al. (2009) [183]	MRND: 65 (17%), RND: 50 (13%), B/L ND: 46 (12%)	mean 35 (6-114)	mean 2.7 (1-22)	24.6%	NR	
Hosni et al. (2017) [176]	IPSILATERAL (all) MRND: 239 (26.1%), RND: 21 (2.3%) CONTRALATERAL (368) MRND: 38 (10.3%)	median 36 (6-125)	median 2 (1-49)	187 (20%)	Involved: 77 (8%)	
Iftikhar et al. (2020) [165]	Ipsilateral MRND: 82 (68.3%), RND: 18 (15%) Contralateral MRND: 12 (22.2%), RND: 1 (1.85%)	NR	NR	NR	Involved: 12 (9.2%)	
Jin et al. (2020) [177]	NR	mean 21.97	mean 0.74	NR	NR	
Kim SY et al. (2011) [133]	MR/R: 54 (26%), Bilateral: 32 (15%)	median 25 (5-102)	median 2 (1-17)	19 (9%)	Involved: 12 (6%)	
Künzel et al. (2014) [171]	B/L ND: 182	median 26 (10-71)	median 2 (1-15)	32 (9%)	Involved: 11 (3%)	
Lee C.C. et al.(2015) [184]	NR	mean 23.2	mean 1.04	NR	Involved: 29 (8.4%)	
Lee C.C. et al. (2017) [178]	NR	mean 33	mean 1.31	NR	NR	
Lee H. et al. (2019) [179]	NR	median 35 IQR (25-52)	median 0 IQR (0-2)	149 (43.2%)	Involved: 20 (5.8%)	
Lieng et al. (2016) [166]	NR	mean 22.8 (1-72) median 19	NR	33 (46%)	Involved: 7 (10%)	
Moratin et al. (2020) [185]	NR	NR	NR	NR	Involved: 23 (5.3%)	
Ong et al. (2016) [167]	RND: 34.3%	median 33 (2-88)	median 2 (0-13)	NR	Involved: 7 (7.1%)	
Patel et al. (2013) [132]	RND: 327 (9.9%) B/L ND: 656 (16%)	mean 39 (2-104)	mean 3.1 (1-34)	1280 (30%)	NR	
Rempel et al. (2018) [186]	MRND: 100%	mean 25.5 (6-87) median 22	mean 1.18 (0-18) median 0	NR	18 (10%)	
Safi et al. (2017) [187]	NR	median 20 (1-112)	median 1 (1-11)	41 (8.2%)	0 (0%)	

Table S4. Node-related characteristics of the included studies (continued).

Shrime et al. (2009) [136]	NR	mean 41.6 (4-119) median 36	mean 3.3 (1-24)	56 (41.8%)	NR
Son et al. (2017) [163]	Therapeutic: 55 (41.4%)	NR	mean 1.4	NR	Involved: 6 (3.8%)
Spoerl et al. (2020) [172]	B/L ND: 218	mean 39.6 (1-104) median 38	mean 3.1 (1-41) median 2	78 (10.9%)	NR
Subramaniam et al. (2019) [180]	0%	median 23 (12-73)	NR	167 (26%)	Involved: 5 (1%)
Suzuki et al. (2016) [164]	B/L ND: 9 (25.7%)	NR	154	16 (45.7%)	7 (20%)
Urban et al. (2013) [173]	NR	median 27 (1-90)	median 2 (1-68)	287 (9.3%)	NR
Weckx et al. (2019) [181]	Ipsilateral MRND: 30 (19%), Ipsilateral RND: 6 (4%), Ipsilateral MRND + Contralateral SND: 24 (15%), Bilateral MRND: 11 (7%), Ipsilateral RND + Contralateral SND: 2 (1%)	NR	NR	21 (13%)	0 (0%)
Xu et al. (2017) [188]	B/L ND: 305	mean 23.5	mean 1.22 (0-55)	110 (26.3%)	0%
Yamagata et al. (2019) [189]	RND: 47 (49.5%), RND + SOHND: 9 (9.5%)	median 33 (10-118)	median 1 (0-33)	16 (16.8%)	Involved: 2 (2.2%) Close: 20 (20.1%)
Zhao et al. (2020) [190]	NR	mean 32.02 (1-100)	mean 1.9 (0-35)	37 (14.9%)	Involved: 0 (0%)

Study	Selection			Comparability		Outcome			Total	
	Representativeness	Selection of non-exposed	Ascert ainment of exposure	Outcome not present at start	Comparability on pN-classi fication	Comparability on other factors	Assessment of outcome	Long enough follow-up (median ≥2 years)	Adequacy (completeness) of follow-up (≥90% respons e rate)	
Agarwal et al. (2019)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8
Arun et al. (2020)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	6
Bharath et al. (2018)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	6
Chang et al. (2018)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Chow et al. (2017)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Ding et al. (2019)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	6
Ebrahimi et al. (2011)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8
Gil et al. (2009)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9
Hosni et al. (2017)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Iftikhar et al. (2020)	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	6
Jin et al. (2020)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Kim SY et al. (2011)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8
Künzel et al. (2014)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9
Lee C.C. et al. (2015)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8

Table S5. Evaluation of within-study risk of bias with the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (continued) [142].

Lee C.C. et al. (2017)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	6
Lee H. et al. (2019)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9
Lieng et al. (2016)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Moratin et al. (2020)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	7
Ong et al. (2016)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Patel et al. (2013)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9
Rempel et al. (2018)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9
Safi et al. (2017)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8
Shrime et al. (2009)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Son et al. (2017)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	8
Spoerl et al. (2020)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Subramaniam et al.(2019)	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	4
Suzuki et al. (2016)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	7
Urban et al. (2013)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	6
Weckx et al. (2019)	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	7
Xu et al. (2017)	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	7
Yamagat a et al. (2019)	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	5
Zhao et al. (2020)	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	9